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Financial Highlights
B2

For the year ended 31 December 2019
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Financial Highlights

For the year ended 31 December 2019

B 751 &

RE-F-NF+-A=t-ALFE

Note 2019 2018 % Change
M5 —E-hE —ZT—-N\F FEHEH DL

Results ES
HK$'000 FHET
Revenue g 92,228 94,582 (2.49%)
Loss before income tax B FT1S AT ES 18 (30,816) (20,584) 49.71%
Loss for the year attributable AN E AR A A

to equity shareholders AR R

of the Company FE(E B 1R (30,444) (21,820) 39.52%
Assets and Liabilities EEHEE
HK$'000 AT
Total assets BEE 218,406 205,677 6.19%
Total liabilities waE 157,286 141,558 11.11%
Shareholders’ equity AR R 61,120 64,119 (4.68%)
Per share data BREE
HK cents B
Basic and diluted HAR K #5E

(loss)/earnings (E518) /&F| (4.28) (4.11) 4.14%
HK$ BT
Net asset value BEFE 0.08 0.10 (10%)
Financial Ratio Br# b=
Current ratio POEE RS 1 0.36 1.23 (70.73%)
Quick ratio IRE LK 0.35 1.20 (70.83%)

Notes: BfRE -

1) Current ratio represents current assets divided by current liabilities.

2) Quick ratio represents current assets excluding inventories divided by

current liabilities.
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Chairman’s

Statement
FEREE

The Group has been exploring
investment opportunities in hotel
operation, property investment
in Hong Kong, the PRC and
other overseas countries, with an
aim to deliver satisfactory returns
to the shareholders.
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Chairman’s Statement
FTEWES

YEAR UNDER REVIEW

The year 2019 was a significant year for Forebase International
Holdings Limited (the “Company”, together with its subsidiaries,
the “Group”).

Nuofute Property Management Co., Ltd.* EE# B MEE
2 A R A & (“Nuofute Property Management”) becomes the
key source of income to the Group. Its success strengthen the
confidence of the Group to become an integrated property
related service provider and investor. Management will continue
to explore new property management projects and expand this
segment through acquisitions.

Through the efforts of the management, the Brentwood Bay
Resort in Victoria, British Columbia, Canada continues to be
another source of profit of the Group. Management will continue
to explore other investment opportunities in hotel operation,
property investment and development in Hong Kong, the PRC
and other overseas countries.

The board of directors (the “Board”) and the management will
continue to adjust the Group’s business strategies with an aim to
deliver satisfactory returns to every shareholders.

BUSINESS PERFORMANCE

Revenue represents hotel operation income and properties
management income, which accounted for approximately 48.1%
(2018: 47.3%) and 51.9% (2018: 52.7%) respectively, of the
total revenue. Revenue decreased by 2.5% to approximately
HK$92,228,000 from approximately HK$94,582,000 in 2018,
which was mainly attributable to the depreciation of RMB and
CAD during the year ended 31 December 2019. The Group’s
net loss increased from approximately HK$21,820,000 in 2018
to approximately HK$30,444,000 in 2019 due to the increase in
loss allowance of trade receivables of HK$13,621,000.
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PROSPECTS

The property management segment is one of the key sources of
income for the Group. Management believes that the property
management industry in China will continue to grow steadily
and this segment will bring stable income to the Group. While
exploring new property management projects, the Group will
actively consider expanding this segment through acquisitions.

The hotel operation business in Victoria, British Columbia,
Canada continues to generate revenue for the Group, of
which, however, has contributed less due to foreign currency
exchange fluctuations. The Group has been exploring business
opportunities in hotel operation and property investment in
Hong Kong, the PRC and other overseas countries, with an aim
to deliver substantial returns for shareholders of the Company
through a series of acquisitions and proposed cooperation.

APPRECIATION

On behalf of the Board, | would like to express sincere thanks
and appreciation to our shareholders, business partners and
dedicated management as well as staff for their continued
support and valuable contributions to the Group.

CHOI Yun Chor
Co-chairman

Hong Kong, 14 May 2020
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Management

Discussion and Analysis
BHEEBN WA

The success of property
management segment
strengthens the confidence

of the Group to explore new
property management projects
and expand this segment
through acquisitions.

MEEREBORY - IR T NEBEEDEFY)
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Management Discussion and Analysis

IR R AT

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue and Segment Information

Revenue represents hotel operation income and property
management income. Revenue decreased by 2.5%
to approximately HK$92,228,000 from approximately
HK$94,582,000 in 2018 was mainly attributable to the
depreciation of RMB and CAD during the year ended
31 December 2019.

Direct Costs

Direct costs decreased by approximately HK$3,543,000 or 6.0%
to approximately HK$55,347,000 which was attributable to better
cost control over food and beverage services in the business
of hotel operation and energy consumption in the business of
properties management.

Gross Profit

Gross profit increased by approximately HK$1,189,000 or 3.3%
which was in line with the decrease in revenue and direct costs.

FOREBASE INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
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Management Discussion and Analysis

IR R AT

The Group has been exploring investment opportunities in hotel
operation and property investment in Hong Kong, the PRC and

other overseas countries.

AEBEEBBRERNES - PELEMEBINETK AERLE R YE

RENREHRE -

Other Income and Gain, net

Other income and gain, net increased by approximately
HK$451,000 from approximately HK$1,409,000 in 2018 to
approximately HK$1,860,000 in 2019. The increase was mainly
due to the recognition of income attributable to unused gift
certificates in hotel operation.

Administrative Expenses

Administrative expenses increased by approximately
HK$13,947,000 from approximately HK$50,716,000 in 2018 to
approximately HK$64,663,000 in 2019 was mainly attributable
to the increase in loss allowance of trade receivables.

Finance Costs

The Group’s finance costs during the year amounted to
HK$5,971,000 (2018: HK$7,522,000) mainly due to the
decrease in imputed interest on amount due to a shareholder/
director as significant part of the amount was capitalised on 31
December 2018.

ANNUAL REPORT 2019
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BIRE R A

il
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Income tax expense decreased from approximately
HK$1,236,000 in 2018 to approximately income tax credit
amounted to HK$372,000 in 2019 was mainly attributable
to the recognition of deferred tax assets of approximately

HK$1,749,000.

Loss for the Year

As a result of the foregoing combined effects of the above, the

Group recorded a net loss of approximately HK$30,444,000.

Liquidity and Financial Resources

As at 31 December 2019, the Group’s net current liabilities
and current ratio were approximately HK$64,030,000 and
0.36 respectively (net current assets and current ratio in 2018:
HK$8,550,000 and 1.23 respectively).

Charge on Assets

As at 31 December 2019, the Group’s land and buildings
held for own use of approximately HK$84,759,000 (2018:
HK$82,956,000) were pledged to secure banking facilities

granted to the Group.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Capital Structure

For the year ended 31 December 2019, the Group financed its
liquidity requirements through a combination of cash flow as
generated from operations, secured loans, bonds and advances
from a shareholder and loans from shareholders.

Capital Commitment and Contingent Liabilities

As at 31 December 2019, the Group did not have any significant
capital commitment and contingent liabilities.

BUSINESS REVIEW

Hotel Operation Business

Revenue from hotel operation accounted for approximately
48.1% of the total revenue. For the year 2019, the hotel achieved
occupancy rate of 84.6% (2018: 80.7%) and growth in room
revenue by 2.8% in its functional currency. However, the growth
was offset by the deterioration of Canadian Dollars (“CAD”). The
revenue was therefore decreased by approximately HK$385,000
from approximately HK$44,757,000 in 2018 to approximately
HK$44,372,000 in 2019.

Property Management Business

Revenue from property management business amounted to
approximately HK$47,856,000, representing a decrease of
4.0% comparing to approximately HK$49,825,000 in 2018. The
decrease was due to the depreciation of RMB. The segmental
revenue accounted for approximately 51.9% of the total revenue
of the Group.

Net Gearing Ratio

The net gearing ratio was 1.62 as at 31 December 2019
(31 December 2018: 1.38). The net gearing ratio was measured
by net debt (including secured loans, loan from shareholders,
and bonds, and deducting bank balances and cash) over total
equity.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

IR R AT

Staff and Remuneration Policy

As at 31 December 2019, the Group had approximately 329
employees, including 201 based in the PRC, 13 based in Hong
Kong and 115 based in Canada. Staff costs for the year ended
31 December 2019 were approximately HK$48,155,000,
representing a decrease of approximately HK$5,716,000 as
compared to approximately HK$53,871,000 of last year due to
the decrease in equity-settled share-based payment expenses.

Employee remuneration is determined in accordance with
prevailing industry practice and employees’ performance and
experience. Discretionary bonuses are awarded to employees
with outstanding performance with reference to the performance
of the Group. Employees are also entitled to other staff benefits
including medical insurance and mandatory provident fund.

Foreign Exchange Fluctuation and Hedge

The Group is not subject to material foreign currency exposure
since its operations in the PRC and Canada are mainly
denominated in Renminbi (“RMB”) and CAD respectively and
the Group’s revenue and operating costs in the PRC and Canada
are denominated in the functional currency of the Group’s entity
generating the sales or incurring the costs. Accordingly, the
directors consider that the currency risk is not significant. As
such, no hedging instrument is considered necessary by the
Board during the year. The directors will monitor the Group’s
exposure on an ongoing basis and will consider hedging the
currency risk should the need arise.

During the years ended 31 December 2019 and 2018, the
Group did not enter into any forward foreign currency contracts.

Prospects

The property management segment is one of the key sources of
income for the Group. Management believes that the property
management industry in China will continue to grow steadily
and this segment will bring stable income to the Group. While
exploring new property management projects, the Group will
actively consider expanding this segment through acquisitions.

FOREBASE INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
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Management Discussion and Analysis
B R T

The hotel operation business in Victoria, British Columbia, URMERLBT M A #ZFEmAVRE
Canada continues to generate revenue for the Group, of which, ICE R E R AN R BRI o (BERIME
however, has contributed less due to foreign currency exchange BB E - UNEEFRONERURD - A&E
fluctuations. The Group has been exploring other business EEBRERNES  PEKEMEINERK B
opportunities in hotel operation and property investment in JERERYMERENEMEERKE  FLEB

Hong Kong, the PRC and other overseas countries, with an aim —ZRIMKETER R A ERE  AARFREK
to deliver substantial returns for shareholders of the Company HRAT A E R o

through a series of acquisitions and proposed cooperation.
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Corporate Governance Report
A (et 0/
PEERRESE

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CODE AND
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company is committed to achieving a high standard of
practices of corporate governance so as to ensure the protection
of shareholders’ interests with better transparency. The Company
has complied with the code provisions of the Corporate
Governance Code set out in Appendix 14 to the Rules (the
“Listing Rules”) Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock
Exchange during the year ended 31 December 2019, except for
the following:

Code Provision A.6.7

Pursuant to the code provision A.6.7, independent non-executive
directors and other non-executive directors, as equal Board
members, should attend the general meetings of the Company.

The Company held its annual general meeting on 29 May 2019
(the “AGM”) and extraordinary general meeting on 19 December
2019 (“the EGM"). During the year ended 31 December 2019,
certain independent non-executive directors were unable to
attend the Company’s general meetings due to their unavoidable
business engagements.

The Company has arranged and will continue to arrange to
furnish all directors with appropriate information on all general
meetings and take all reasonable measures to arrange to
schedule in such a way that all directors can attend general
meetings, as well as to support non-executive directors to
respond to shareholders’ questions in the general meetings.

Code Provision E.1.2 stipulates that the Chairman of the Board
should attend the AGM. Due to other business engagements, the
Chairman of the Board was unable to attend the AGM. However,
Mr. Gan Lin, a former executive director of the Company, took
chair of the AGM pursuant to the articles of association of
the Company to ensure an effective communication with the
shareholders of the Company thereat.

FOREBASE INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
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Corporate Governance Report

Model code for securities transactions by
directors

The Company has adopted Appendix 10, Model Code for
Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers of the
Listing Rules (the “Model Code”) as the code of practice for
carrying out securities transactions by the directors of the
Company. The Company, having made specific enquiries to
all directors of the Company, confirmed that all directors have
complied with the required standard of dealings as set out in the
Model Code throughout the year ended 31 December 2019.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Company’s overall management is vested in its Board,
which currently comprises seven members, coming from diverse
businesses and professional backgrounds. The biographical
details of directors are set out under the section “Directors
and Senior Management” on pages 58 to 63 of this annual
report. The Board currently comprises executive directors
Ms. Yeung So Mui (Co-Chairman), Mr, Choi Yun Chor (Co-
Chairman), Mr. Ng Kwai Wah Sunny, Mr. Chen Jian, Mr. Tai Kwok
Keung Kenny and Mr. Lin Junwei; and the independent non-
executive directors are Ms. Lai Cheuk Yu Cherrie, Mr. Ting Wong
Kacee and Dr. Loke Yu (alias LOKE Hoi Lam).

The Board meets at least four times annually to review business
development and overall strategic policies.

To facilitate the operation of the Board, the Board has
established a schedule of matters reserved for its approval.
The specific responsibilities reserved for the Board include (a)
setting the Group’s strategy and dividend policy; (b) approving
budgets, reviewing operational and financial performance; (c)
approving major investments and divestments; (d) reviewing the
internal control system of the Group; (e) ensuring appropriate
management development and succession plans in place; (f)
approving appointments of and remuneration policy for directors
and other senior executives; (g) approving corporate social
responsibility policies; and (h) ensuring effective communication
with shareholders.
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Corporate Governance Report
A (et 0/
PEERRESE

For the financial reporting accountability, the Board has an
ultimate responsibility for preparing the consolidated financial
statements. In preparing the consolidated financial statements,
the Board has ensured that (a) the generally accepted
accounting standards in Hong Kong have been adopted; (b)
appropriate accounting policies have been used and applied
consistently; and (c) reasonable and prudent judgments and
estimates have been made. Moreover, the Board is not aware of
any material uncertainties relating to events or conditions which
may cast significant doubt over the Group’s ability to continue as
a going concern. Accordingly, the Board has continued to adopt
the going concern basis in preparing the consolidated financial
statements.

Being part of good corporate governance practices, a number
of board committees have been established. These committees
include five corporate governance related committees namely
the Remuneration Committee, the Audit Committee and the
Nomination Committee as well as one ad hoc committee namely
the Independent Board Committee which is responsible for
advising the matters in relation to the continuing connected
transactions. These committees operate within specific terms of
reference as prepared by the Company and report their work and
findings to the Board regularly.

APPOINTMENT, RE-ELECTION AND REMOVAL
OF DIRECTORS

The Nomination Committee as a whole is responsible for
reviewing the Board composition, developing and formulating
the relevant procedures for nomination and appointment of
Directors, monitoring the appointment and succession planning
of Directors and assessing the independence of independent
non-executive Directors. Each of the executive Directors is
appointed with no fixed term of service. The appointment may
be terminated by not less than one months’ written notice or
payment in lieu of such notice. Each of the independent non-
executive Directors has entered into a service contract with the
Company for a specific term of three years and is subject to
retirement by rotation once every three years. And they should
be re-appointed at any annual general meeting of the Company
during their term of office. The appointment may be terminated
by not less than one month’s written notice or payment in lieu of
such notice.
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In accordance with the Company’s articles of association, one
third of the Directors of the Company are subject to retirement
by rotation every year and any new director appointed to fill
a causal vacancy or as an addition to the Board shall submit
himself/herself for re-election by shareholders at the first general
meeting or the first annual general meeting respectively after
appointment. The Nomination Committee reviews the structure,
size and composition (including the skills, knowledge and
experience) of the Board regularly to ensure that the Board has
a balance of expertise, skills and experience appropriate for the
requirements of the business of the Company. Where vacancies
on the Board exist, the Nomination Committee will carry out the
selection process by making reference to the skills, experience,
professional knowledge, personal integrity and time commitments
of the proposed candidates, the Company’s needs and other
relevant statutory requirements and regulations. An external
recruitment agency may be engaged to carry out the recruitment
and selection process where necessary. The recommendations
of the Nomination Committee are then put to the full Board for
decision.

The Nomination Committee recommended the re-appointment
of the Directors Ms. Yeung So Mui, Mr. Choi Yun Chor and
Dr. Loke Yu standing for re-election at the next forthcoming
annual general meeting of the Company. The Company’s circular
contains detailed information of the directors standing for
re-election will be despatched to shareholders for consideration.
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TEERHRES

DIRECTORS’ ATTENDANCE RECORDS

The attendance records of the directors at Board Meetings,
Audit Committee Meetings, Remuneration Committee Meetings,
Nomination Committee Meetings, Independent Board Committee
Meeting and General Meetings during the year ended 31

December 2019 are set out below:

EEHFELER
HE-FT-NFT-A=T-BLFER &

NEEREFTSSH BERZETSHE  FM
ZEgeR RRZEBEER BUEFZE

CERMERAG 2 HFERERMT

Independent
Board
Audit  Remuneration Nomination Committee General
Board Committee Committee Committee BUEZ meeting
EEe EnZEER  §MZEER REZE® ZEg BRAE
Executive directors HiTE=E
Ms. Yeung So Mui” BRERLY 33 n/a n/a n/a na il
NaR TEA MNaR TNEA
Mr. Choi Yun Chor® ERLEY 33 nla nla nla n/a 7
Naf TEH Naf T
Mr. Ng Kwai Wah Sunny® REBLED 33 n/a nla nla n/a 7
TNEA TEHR TR TNER
Mr. Chen Jian® BRRLEw 33 nla nla nla nla 71
NaR TEA MNaR TNEA
Mr. Tai Kwok Keung Kenny®  EiEIB %4 33 n/a nla nla nla 1
Naf TEHA Naf it
Mr. Lin Junwei®? WEERED 33 nla nla nla nla 1
TNEA TEHR TR TNER
Mr. Shen Yong® HELAED 2/5 n/a nla nla nla 02
NaR TEA MNaR TNEA
Mr. Gan Lin® HAFLED 22 nia nia nia nla 17
Naf TEH Naf T
Mr. Pang Huan Kun®® fegudi el 1/4 n/a nla nla nla nla
TNEA TER TR TNER TER
Ms. Wang Yi Ya®@ T—Hktwe 25 n/a nfa n/a n/a o1
NaR TEA MNaR TNEA
Non-executive director FHTES
Mr. Huang Xiang Yang® BAGLED 3/4 n/a nfa nla 1 7
NaR TEA NaR
Independent non-executive BUFHTES
directors
Dr Loke Yu BEMEL
(alias Loke Hoi Lam) ) 212 212 22 in 212
Ms. Lai Cheuk Yu Cherrie® Remgth 33 n/a n na n/a 1
Naf Naf TNEA
Mr. Ting Wong Kacee® TEEEY 33 n/a n /a nla n
il TR TER
Mr. Yu Lei® RELEO 3/4 212 212 212 1 0n
Mr. Ernst Rudolf Zimmermann® BB &4 © 3/4 202 202 202 1 171

(1) appointed on 10 October 2019.
(2)  removed on 19 December 2019.
(3) resigned on 11 June 2019.

(4)  appointed on 11 June 2019.

(5)  resigned on 20 November 2019.
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BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established four board committees, namely,
the Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee, the
Nomination Committee and the Independent Board Committee,
for overseeing particular aspects of the Company’s affairs. All
board committees should report to the Board on their decisions
or recommendations made.

A. Audit Committee

The Audit Committee currently comprises three
independent non-executive directors Dr. Loke Yu
(Committee Chairman), Ms. Lai Cheuk Yu Cherrie and
Mr. Ting Wong Kacee.

The main responsibilities of the Audit Committee are:

1.

to monitor the integrity of financial reporting of the
Company;

to review the internal control and risk management
systems of the Group; and

to review the corporate governance practices of the
Company.

There were two Audit Committee meetings held for the
year ended 31 December 2019 to discuss and review the
following matters:

1.

2.

the 2018 annual report and accounts;
the 2019 interim report and accounts;

the Group’s financial controls, internal control and
risk management systems;

the financial reporting and relevant compliance with
external auditor; and

the auditor’'s remuneration and recommended the
Board to re-appoint Grant Thornton Hong Kong
Limited as the auditor of the Company in the year
2020, which is subject to the approval of shareholders
at the forthcoming AGM.

The Audit Committee is provided with sufficient resources
to perform its duties. Latest terms of reference of the Audit
Committee can be viewed on the websites of the Company
and the Stock Exchange.
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Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee currently comprises three
independent non-executive directors Mr. Ting Wong Kacee
(Committee Chairman), Ms. Lai Cheuk Yu Cherrie and
Dr. Loke Yu.

The major responsibilities of the Remuneration Committee
are:

1.  to review the remuneration packages of directors and
senior management;

2. to make recommendations to the Board on the
remuneration structure; and

3. to review and guide the formulation of the Group’s
remuneration policy for directors and senior
management attributable to performance-driven
compensation commitment as well as market trend
and industry norms.

There were two Remuneration Committee meetings
held for the year ended 31 December 2019 to review
the remuneration packages of directors and senior
management according to the Group’s employment policy,
nomination policy, remuneration policy, and training and
development policy.

The Remuneration Committee is provided with sufficient
resources to perform its duties. Latest terms of reference
of the Remuneration Committee can be viewed on the
websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.

Details of the remuneration to the directors on named
basis and members of senior management by band are
disclosed in notes 10 and 11 to the consolidated financial
statements,respectively.
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C. Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee currently comprises three
independent non-executive directors Ms. Lai Cheuk Yu
Cherrie (Committee Chairman), Mr. Ting Wong Kacee and
Dr. Loke Yu.

The major responsibilities of the Nomination Committee

are:

1.

to make recommendations to the Board on the
appointment or re-appointment of directors;

to review the structure, size and composition of the
Board and to ensure fair and transparent procedures
for the appointment or re-appointment of directors;

to propose the appointment of such candidates to the
Board for consideration; and

to review the qualifications of the relevant candidates
for determining the suitability to the Group on the
basis of his/her qualifications, experience and
background.

There were two Nomination Committee meetings held for
the year ended 31 December 2019 to discuss and consider
the following matters:

1.

the composition of the Board with reference to certain
criteria. These criteria included qualifications required
under the Listing Rules or any other relevant laws
regarding characteristics and skills of the directors,
professional ethics and integrity, appropriate
professional knowledge and industry experience, as
well as ability to devote sufficient time to the work of
the Board and its committees and to participate in all
Board meetings and shareholders’ meetings;

the re-appointment of the retiring directors for
reelection at the previous general meeting;

procedures for election of directors and by
shareholders; and

independence of the independent non-executive
directors.

The Nomination Committee is provided with sufficient
resources to perform its duties. Latest terms of reference of
the Nomination Committee can be viewed on the websites
of the Company and the Stock Exchange.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

The Board is responsible for performing the following corporate
governance duties as required under the CG Code:

1. todevelop and review the Company’s policies and practices
on corporate governance;

2. to review and monitor the training and continuous
professional development of the directors and senior
officers of the Group;

3.  toreview and monitor the Company’s policies and practices
on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

4. to develop, review and monitor the codes of conduct
applicable to employees and the directors; and

5. to review the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and
disclosure in this Corporate Governance Report.

During the year ended 31 December 2019, the Board considered
the following corporate governance matters:

1. review of the compliance with the Code Provisions of the
CG Code; and

2. review of the effectiveness of the internal controls and
risk management systems of the Group through the Audit
Committee.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Company Secretary of the Company is a full time employee of
the Group and has day-to-day knowledge of the Company’s
affairs. During the year ended 31 December 2019, the Company
Secretary, Mr. Leung Tak Chee Frankie, has duly complied
with the relevant professional training requirement under Rule
3.29 of the Listing Rules. According to Rule 3.29 of the Listing
Rules, the Company Secretary has taken no less than 15 hours
of relevant professional training. The biographical details of the
Company Secretary is set out on in the section entitled “Directors
and Senior Management” in this annual report.
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TRAINING, INDUCTION AND CONTINUING
DEVELOPMENT FOR DIRECTORS

Each newly appointed director receives a comprehensive and
formal induction to ensure that he/she has an appropriate
understanding of the business and operations of the Group, his/
her responsibilities and obligations under the Listing Rules and
relevant regulatory requirements, the CG Code of the Company
and the Model Code.

Directors are continually updated on developments in the
statutory and regulatory regime and the business environment
to facilitate the discharge of their responsibilities. Continuing
briefing and professional development for directors will be
arranged at the expenses of the Company whenever necessary.
The directors are committed to complying with Code Provision
A.6.5 of the CG Code on directors’ training effective from 1 April
2012. All directors have participated in continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills
and provided their training records to the Company.

DIRECTORS’ AND OFFICERS' LIABILITY
INSURANCE AND INDEMNITY

The Company has arranged appropriate liability insurance to
indemnify its directors and officers in respect of legal actions
against the directors. During the year ended 31 December 2019,
no claim had been made against the directors and the officers of
the Company.

The Separate Roles of the Chairman and Chief
Executive Officer

The division of responsibilities between the Chairman of the
Board and the Chief Executive Officer, is clearly defined and has
been approved by the Board. The Chairman provides leadership
of the Board, ensures the effectiveness of the Board and
oversees the corporate development; while the Chief Executive
Officer, as head of the executive directorate, is responsible for
managing the business development and strategic planning of
the Group.

Their separate roles reinforce the continuous enhancement of

the Group’s corporate governance in terms of corporate fairness,
transparency and accountability.
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Directors’ Independence

There are no financial, business, family or other material/relevant
relationship(s) among members of the Board.

The directors are given access to independent professional
advice at the Group’s expense, when the directors deem it
necessary in order to carry out their responsibilities.

The Board also advocates the participation of independent
non-executive directors and non-executive directors in various
board committees to safeguard objectivity and independence.

The Company has received the confirmation letters from each
of the independent non-executive directors, confirming their
independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The
Company considers all independent non-executive directors are
independent.

Risk Management and Internal Control

The Board is overall responsible for evaluating and determining
the nature and extent of the risks it is willing to take in achieving
the Group’s strategic objectives, and ensuring that the Group
established and maintained appropriate and effective risk
management and internal control systems.

The Audit Committee reviews the risk management and internal
controls that are significant to the Group on an on-going basis.
The Audit Committee would consider the adequacy of resource,
qualifications and experience and training of staff and external
advisor of the Group’s accounting, internal audit and financial
reporting function.

The management of the Group is responsible for designing,
maintaining, implementing and monitoring of the risk
management and internal control system to ensure adequate
control in place to safeguard the Group’s assets and
stakeholder’s interest.

The Group has established risk management procedures to
address and handle the all significant risks associate with the
business of the Group. The Board would perform annual review
on any significant change of the business environment and
establish procedures to response the risks result from significant
change of business environment. The risk management and
internal control systems are designed to mitigate the potential
losses of the business.
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Management would identify the risks associate with the business
of the Group by considering both internal and external factors
and events which include political, economic, technology,
environmental, social and staff. Each of risks has been assessed
and prioritised based on their relevant impact and occurrence
opportunity. The relevant risk management strategy would be
applied to each type of risks according to the assessment results,
type of risk management strategy has been listed as follow:

— Risk retention and reduction: accept the impact of risk or
undertake actions by the Group to reduce the impact of the
risks;

— Risk avoidance: change business process or objective so
as to avoid the risk;

— Risk sharing and diversification: diversify the effect of the
risk or allocate to different location or product or market.

— Risk transfer: transfer ownership and liability to a third

party

The internal control systems are designed and implemented to
reduce the risks associated with the business accepted by the
Group and minimise the adverse impact results from the risks.
The risk management and internal control system are design
to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve
business objectives, and can only provide reasonable and not
absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss.

For the year ended 31 December 2019, the Group has engaged
an external advisory firm to undertake the internal audit
function to ensure the effectiveness and efficiency of the risk
management and internal control system of the Group. There is
no significant deficiency and weakness on the internal control
system which has been identified by the external advisory firm
for the year ended 31 December 2019.

The Board considered that, for the year ended 31 December
2019, the risk management and internal control system
and procedures of the Group, covering all material controls
including financial, operational and compliance controls and risk
management functions were reasonably effective and adequate.
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HANDLING AND DISSEMINATION OF INSIDE
INFORMATION

The Group has put in place the procedures and internal controls
for the handling and dissemination of inside information. The
Group complies with requirements of the SFO and the Listing
Rules. The Group discloses inside information to the public
as soon as reasonably practicable unless the information falls
within any of the safe harbours as stated in the SFO. Before
the information is fully disclosed to the public, the Group
ensures the information is kept strictly confidential. If the Group
believes that the necessary degree of confidentiality cannot be
maintained or that confidentiality may have been breached, the
Group would immediately disclose the information to the public.
The Group is committed to ensure that information contained
in announcements or circulars are not false or misleading as to
a material fact, or false or misleading through the omission of
a material fact in view of presenting information in a clear and
balanced way, which requires equal disclosure of both positive
and negative facts.

DIRECTORS’ AND AUDITOR’S
RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the
Company’s financial statements for the year ended 31 December
2019 which reflect true and fair view of the financial position of
the Company and the Group and in compliance with relevant
law and disclosure provisions of the Listing Rules. The Board is
responsible for presenting a balanced, clear and comprehensible
assessment extends to annual and interim reports, other inside
information announcements and other financial disclosures
required under the Listing Rules.

The Group appointed Grant Thornton Hong Kong Limited as
the Group’s external auditor. The statement by Grant Thornton
Hong Kong Limited regarding their reporting responsibilities to
the shareholders on the consolidated financial statements of the
Group is set out in the Independent Auditor’s Report on pages
77 to 89 of this annual report.
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AUDITOR’'S REMUNERATION

During the year ended 31 December 2019 the fees paid/payable
to the auditor in respect of audit and non-audit services provided
by the auditor to the Group were as follows:

Al A~ N

PEERMEE

1% B0 6 i B

BE_Z-NF+_-_A=+T—HILFE &%
BUEM A A R B IR R B SO BIRG 2 B
SN TREBE BRI

HK$'000

Nature of services RIEMHE FHET

Audit services =R 1,049
Non-audit services IERZERTS

Other services H b AR 18

Total FEEE] 1,067

INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Board recognises the importance of maintaining effective
communications with shareholders. Annual reports and interim
reports provide shareholders with comprehensive information
of the Group’s operational and financial performances; while
general meetings offer a platform for shareholders to state and
exchange views with the Board directly.

The management continually communicates with analysts and
institutional investors and provides them with up-to-date and
comprehensive information regarding the Group’s development.
The Company practices timely dissemination of information
and makes sure its website www.forebase.com.hk contains
the most latest information, including but not limited to annual
reports, interim reports, announcements, monthly returns and
press releases, and is updated in a timely manner to ensure
transparency.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

During the year ended 31 December 2019, there had been no
significant changes in the Company’s constitutional documents.
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PEERRESE

e
SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS R Z HEF)

A. cConvening an Extraordinary General A BHERZBHEBRRIFIXE

30

Meeting by Shareholders

In accordance with section 566 of the Companies
Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the laws of Hong Kong) (the
“Companies Ordinance”), shareholder(s) holding at the
date of the deposit of the requisition at least 5% of the
voting rights at general meetings of the Company, may
request the directors of the Company to convene an
EGM. The written requisition must state the objects of
the meeting and must be signed by the shareholder(s)
concerned and deposited at the registered office of the
Company for the attention of chairman of the Board or the
Company Secretary. The requisition may consist of several
documents in like form, each signed by one or more of the
shareholders concerned.

If the directors of the Company do not within 21 days from
the date of the deposit of the requisition proceed duly to
convene an EGM for a date not more than 28 days after
the date on which the notice convening the EGM is given,
the shareholder(s) concerned, or any of them representing
more than one-half of the total voting rights of all of them,
may themselves convene an EGM, provided that the EGM
so convened shall not be held after the expiration of 3
months from the said date.

The EGM convened by shareholders shall be convened in
the same manner, as nearly as possible, as that in which
general meetings are to be convened by the directors of the
Company.

Enquiries to the Board

Shareholders may put forward enquiries to the Board in
writing to the principal office of the Company in Hong
Kong.

The Company Secretary will forward the shareholders’
enquiries and concerns to the Board and/or relevant board
committees of the Company, where appropriate, to answer
the shareholders’ questions in writing.
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Procedures for Putting Forward Proposals
at General Meetings by Shareholders

Shareholders are requested to follow sections 551 to 554
(written resolutions), section 579 (notice of resolutions),
sections 580 to 583 (statements), section 615, section 616
(resolutions for AGMs) of the Companies Ordinance for
including a resolution at AGM of the Company AGM. The
requirements and procedures are set out as follows:

1. A member of a Company may request the Company
to circulate a resolution that —

(a) may properly be moved; and
(b) is proposed as a written resolution under section
549(b) of the Companies Ordinance.

If a member requests a Company to circulate a resolution,
the member may request the Company to circulate with the
resolution a statement of not more than 1,000 words on the
subject matter of the resolution.

However, each member may only request the Company to
circulate one such statement with respect to the resolution.

2. A company must circulate a resolution proposed
as a written resolution under section 549(b) of the
Companies Ordinance and any statement mentioned
in section 551(2) of the Companies Ordinance if it
has received requests that it do so from the members
of the Company representing not less than 5% of the
total voting rights of all the members entitled to vote
on the resolution (or a lower percentage specified for
this purpose in the Company’s articles).
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SN

A request —

(a) may be sent to the Company in hard copy form
or in electronic form;

(b) must identify the resolution and any statement
mentioned in section 551(2) of the Companies
Ordinance; and

(c) must be authenticated by the person or persons
making it.

If by any provision of the Companies Ordinance
special notice is required to be given of a resolution,
the resolution is not effective unless notice of the
intention to move it has been given to the Company at
least 28 days before the meeting at which it is moved.

The Company must, if practicable, give its members
notice of the resolution at the same time and in the
same manner as it gives notice of the meeting.

If that is not practicable, the Company must give its
members notice of the resolution at least 14 days
before the meeting —

(@) by advertisement in a newspaper circulating
generally in Hong Kong; or

(b) in any other manner allowed by the Company’s
articles.

If, after notice of the intention to move the resolution
has been given to the Company, a meeting is called
for a date 28 days or less after the notice has been
given, the notice is to be regarded as having been
properly given, though not given within the time
required.
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Pursuant to Article 105 of the Company’s Articles of
Association, no person other than a director retiring
at the meeting shall, unless recommended by the
directors for election, be eligible for election as
director at any general meeting unless a notice signed
by a member (other than the person to be processed)
duly qualified to attend and vote at the meeting for
which such notice is given of his intention to propose
such person for election and also a notice signed
by the person to be proposed of his willingness to
be elected shall have been lodged at the registered
office of the Company provided that the minimum
length of the period, during which such notice(s) are
given, shall be at least seven days and that the period
for lodgement of such notice(s) shall commence no
earlier than the day after the despatch of the notice of
the general meeting appointed for such election and
end no later than seven days prior to the date of such
general meeting.

ANNUAL REPORT 2019

Al A~ N

PEERMEE

REAQRZEESEEEMAANEL05
G- FRIFEEZESIRESE  HKH
BOFASINE EREVBRR (T
BREERE) RF 2 EHMBALH
HEBHEIASE  MERHERZ
AL TEERBRER 2 EMBAD
B BRXRRZXANRREMPER - BRI
MARE DREZERIN  MEALRN
BEBREMBRAS LEEEER
- BHBANKEHAREI /L
B IR B e HA R i ks AR
HERAERERZARGKE B
EZBRRARSRTEBMZATEALL -

—E-NFH

-
4.

33



34

Environmental, Social and Governance Report

RIR - HERERHS

ABOUT THE REPORT

This is the fourth environmental, social and governance (“ESG”)
report (the “Report”) prepared by Forebase International
Holdings Limited (together with its subsidiaries referred to as
the “Group” or “We” and “us”). It provides an annual update of
the Group’s ESG management approaches, environmental and
social performance and efforts during the period from 1 January
2019 to 31 December 2019 (the “Reporting Period” or “2019"),
unless otherwise stated.

The Report is prepared in accordance with the ESG Reporting
Guide as set out in Appendix 27 of the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (“HKEX"). The Report covers our business segments
including 1) the hotel operation in Canada offering resort and
spa services, namely Brentwood Bay Resort (“BBR”) in Victoria,
British Columbia, Canada, 2) the property management in
Chongging, the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”) namely
Nuofute Property Management Co., Ltd. (“Nuofute Property
Management”) and 3) the Hong Kong office where provides
administrative support to the group companies.

ESG MANAGEMENT APPROACH

The Group understands the importance of ESG management
and is committed to making continuous improvements in
corporate social responsibility into our business operation. We
set a top-down management approach for ESG strategy and
implementation.

The Board of Directors (the “Board”) is responsible for
the oversight of the ESG-related issues including risks and
opportunities. An internal ESG working task force has also
been set up to collect relevant ESG data and compile the ESG
report. The Report has been reviewed and approved by the
Board to ensure all material issues and impacts on sustainability
development are fairly presented.
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STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT

Maintaining open and constant communication with our
stakeholders can better understand our stakeholders’ needs,
concerns and expectations in ESG management. During the
Reporting Period, we have been engaging with our internal and
external stakeholders to strengthen initiatives and strategies
which are essential for the Group’s sustainable growth via a
spectrum of communication channels illustrated in the below
table. We have identified our key stakeholders as government
and regulatory authorities, shareholders, customers, business
partners, employees, the environment, the community and the

BRI e MERTRE

FripESH

BN ERFHABRMNBFENER - I AR
THRENEERE HEMREAREETNS
KoBERBE - RBEHA - HA—EERA
HBRIMNBIF DB EITRON - BB PR
BBERE  RIEBAERLRE  ERER
AEENAFKEERER RARBFMEE
i RR - BFP ZBKHE BT RE-
i MRE R MNEERD

media.

Stakeholders
FhE

Government and regulatory
authorities

BSREEHE

Shareholders

IRER

Customers

®F

Business Partners

A
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Communication Channels

BERE

e Regular submission of information

A E R

e Regular communication with

regulatory authorities

ERECE AR T ISR

e Forum, seminar and conference

i -~ g MER

e Company website

NGV

e (General meetings

BERBFERE

e (Corporate reports and

announcements
NARERAE

e Inspection on site

B ER

e Customer satisfaction surveys

EEmBERE

e Customer feedback and complaints

B P R KAk

e Online Commenting Platform

mEBRY¥A

e |awful actions and communications

BETENER

e On-going direct engagement

FEEERSH

e Procurement and tendering

REE IR

e [nspection on site

B EER

Stakeholders’ Concerns and

Expectations

FOENEERNE

Operation in compliance
BRBE

Fulfilment of tax obligations
AT

Creation of job opportunities

Bl

Sustainable investment returns and
business development
AFEIRE R R ERER
Transparent financial information

BRI ER

Privacy protection

FLEBRIE
Upholding high quality of services
HRBE RS

Business integrity
E EE
Mutual cooperating relationship

HE A ERIE
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RE g ke amE

Stakeholders’ Concerns and

Stakeholders Communication Channels

BE

Expectations

FOENEERHE

Employees Emails and suggestion box e (Career development
BT EWMRERMAE BRER
Employee representatives meeting e Remuneration and benefits
BIREAE HrMtE A
Annual performance review e QOccupational health and safety
FRARR BERELRZE
Employee training e Corporate support
e B 553 DRIZIE
Team building activities
B ERIEE

The Environment
RiE

The Community

Communication with local
environmental protection department
AR HIRAR BPPI AR

Communication meeting with the

Fulfilment of emission standards
ERHE

Energy conservation and emission
reduction

BRRERBE

Participation in local community

HE community Rt At [ 2R B
HEERES e Support for community welfare and
Sponsorship and donation investment
= UbSE Sl ZEHEARRIEE
The Media Company website e [nformation transparency
e NGIFER AR
Media enquiry
HEEH
Press conference on important events
REEZEHRMLES
MATERIALITY ASSESSMENT EEM4RME

The Company has commissioned an independent consultant
to carry out the materiality assessment. We have identified the
key ESG issues and invited our stakeholders to rate the ESG
issues as well as sharing their views on our 2019 ESG report,
through an online survey. Based on the inputs and results from
our stakeholders, the materiality of the ESG issues towards the
stakeholders themselves as well as the business operation of the
Group is prioritised and outlined in the below table.
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o |57 \ a Fara VAN~
RIR - g NERWE

Aspects ESG Issues Priority
BT RIE - HEREREHE BREER

Materials consumption

wh

o Greenhouse gas emissions Medium
=R
o Waste management Low

BEEYER K
Employment and labour o Employee engagement High
ractices BERAE =

=
e _-
o Diversity and equal opportunities High

=)

E R TPERE

o Employee training and career development High

BEFEIIRBRER

° Child and forced labour Low

BT REHIST (i3

I Eu}

° Customer health and safety

EFRERLE

Products and services quality

B MR mE

Anti-corruption Medium
R&AF

Community investment
HERE
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BE g REARE

OUR EMPLOYEES

Employment
Employment Practices

The Group strives to attract and retain the talented employees,
and creates a motivated, inclusive and diverse workforce in
achieving the business success. The Group has established
a set of human resources management policies to ensure
the compliance with all relevant labour laws and regulations,
namely China’s Labour Law of the PRC {1 #E A R HFNE 45
Fh3%), Labour Contract Law of the PRC {FhZE A R H B L
A RL), Cap 57. Employment Ordinance of Hong Kong
Special Administrative Region (“HKSAR") {{E{E&{I), Cap
608 Minimum Wage Ordinance{ &€ L& &) of HKSAR and
the Employment Standards Acts of British Columbia, Canada,
in the regions where we operate. During the Reporting Period,
the Group was no aware of any incident of non-compliance in
relation to relevant employment and labour laws and regulations.

Remuneration, Compensation and Benefits

The Group offers attractive and equitable remuneration package
for our employees. We maintain the regular review on the staff
remuneration package and benchmark the recent market level
to ensure our employees rewarded in a fair employee condition.

For employees working in Hong Kong office and property
management business sector, the Group offers medical and
social insurance, life insurance plan and retirement plan to our
employees. Our employees are entitled to paid annual leave, sick
leave, marriage leave, maternity/paternity leave, bereavement
leave, jury duty leave, apart from statutory leave. We ensure
a fair arrangement of working hours and rest days for our
employees and we encourage our employees to work according
to the standard working hours per day and week as stated in the
labour contract. In case of any overtime work due to operational
needs, compensational leave or overtime pays pursuant to the
applicable laws is granted to the eligible staff.

In our hotel operation, our employees are entitled to paid
vacation leave, sick leave, and maternity/paternity leave. The
Group also offers insurance premiums, retirement plan and
overtime pay pursuant to the applicable laws to our employees.
Staff benefits such as discounted hotel stays, spa services, free
paddle sport rentals, meal allowances and industry discounts are
granted to the eligible staff awarded their contribution.
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Equal opportunity, Diversity and anti-discrimination

The Group is committed to providing an equal employment
opportunity environment which is free from discrimination and
any kind of harassment, and ensuring that people are treated
fairly in all areas associated with our business operation. The
Group has formulated equal and fair policies to guarantee equal
employment opportunity in recruitment, transfer and promotion,
performance appraisal, and wage practices for our employees,
without any differentiation with their gender, age, race, religion,
national origin, ancestry, disability and any other classification
protected under the relevant laws. Discrimination, bullying and/
or any kind of harassment is strictly prohibited in the Group and
all employees have the responsibility to abide by the Group’s
policies in equal employment opportunity, diversity and anti-
discrimination.

Labour Standards

The Group adheres to a strict set of employment practices and
protects the human rights. The Group is forbidden any use of
child labour and force labour in our business operations. For
example, when recruiting employees in Canada, the Group
strictly prohibits the employment of any person under the age
of 15 unless the person has obtained the written consent of the
child’s parent or guardian. The Group also strictly abides by
the Labour Contract Law of the PRC and does not employ any
persons who are aged under 16. In the event of any child labour
and the use of forced labour found, the person concerned will
be dismissed immediately and the Board will discuss, review
the issue and take corrective actions to prevent the recurrence
of the same problem. On the other hands, our employees sign
the labour contract with the Group in voluntary basis. They have
their freedom of choice for job and they can resign the existing
position with requested notice period or pay in lieu of notice.
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BIE LB REARE

Listening to our employees

The Group treasures the voice and feedback of our employees
as their suggestion can enable us to optimise the existing labour
management approaches and working conditions in order to
create a more cooperative and friendly working environment. We
maintain regular communication with our employees in different
business sectors through meeting, interview, email, e-newsletter
and employee engagement survey to understand their concerns
and expectations at work and address their needs in a timely
manner in order to enhance the level of employee satisfaction.
Besides, we have staff complaint and grievance system in place
for our employees to report any complaint and/or grievance in
workplace and the Group will take prompt action to resolve the
reported issues once received the complaint and grievance from
our employees.

Employee Profile

The total number employees within the reporting scope is 329
(as at 31 December 2019). The breakdown of the total workforce
divided by gender, age group and geographical region is
indicated as below.
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Breakdown of total workforce by gender
RERESHETEES

® 6 6 6 o ¢« HOte'%’%ﬁég 42% 58%
Male 5B/
55.6% p : ¢ W Male 5%
roperty managemen 62% 38% AlEcal
YEER B Female %1%
@ @ @ 0o ¢
Female ﬁ'@ Hong Kong Office 779 239
44.4% ERBRRE _ .

FOREBASE INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED

0% 20% 40% 60% 80% 100%

REBEBREZERERD A



Hotel operation
B E &8

Property management
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Hong Kong Office
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Breakdown of total workforce by age group
RERAMNB I ETRAHED M

53.0% 34.8% 12.2%
 Pes
7.5% 59.2% 33.3% Age 30 - 50
W 505085
| Jrtted
7.7% 53.8% 38.5%
0% 20% 40% 60% 80% 100%
Breakdown of total workforce by geographical region
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M China Mainland # B Ayt
M Canada fngX
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Health and Safety

The Group acknowledges its top concern in the safety of each
employee. The Group has set up a clear safety and health
policy and management procedures in our business sectors in
achieving “zero accident” in the workplace as our ultimate goal.

In our property management business sector, we have
implemented an occupational health and safety management
system certified with the internationally recognised standard
of OHSAS18001(GB/T28001-2011) to systematically identify,
assess and manage the safety risks and hazards in workplace.
We conduct safety risk assessment, determine and implement
the respective mitigation measures in workplace, and provide
personal protective equipment as the last resort, to lower the
risk level posed to the employees. Regular safety inspections
are carried out to ensure the safety measures are effectively
maintained. We have set up an emergency preparedness
and response procedure and incident, accident handling and
investigation procedure for our employees to follow in case
of emergency (e.g. fire, earthquake, flooding etc.) occurs.
Regular internal training covered with the topics of workplace
hazards, safe operating procedures and emergency drills are
also arranged to our employees in order to increase their safety
awareness in workplace and equip their knowledge and skills
in emergency preparedness and response. For the employees
who performs the high-risk activities such as electricity work
and elevator maintenance work, they require to attend specific
training courses and become as qualified person before
commencing the work.

In our hotel operation business, we have established a series of
safety policies, health and safety management procedures and
working guidelines to eliminate or minimise safety risks to our
employees. The Health & Safety Committee in resort organises
regular meeting to review any incidents or accidents that have
recently occurred and address any concerns that impacted the
wellness of the staff and guests. Regular onsite safety inspections
and safety training (including the emergency drills) are arranged
to enhance their awareness of workplace safety and join hand
with efforts in fostering a safe working environment.

During the Reporting Period, the Group has complied with all
the relevant health and safety laws and regulations (e.g. Cap 509
Occupational Safety and Health Ordinance of HKSAR, Law of the
PRC on Prevention and Control of Occupational Diseases { R
AR A ZEREAE7%) and Occupational Health and Safety
Regulation in British Columbia, Canada. There were no work-
related fatal accidents in 2019.
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Development and Training

The Group believes developing our talent pool and nurturing our
people’ professional skills and competence are the key to uphold
our quality of services in our business sectors and long-term
business continuity. The Group has provided a variety of internal
universal and topic-specific training programme for employees
in different career level, as well as external training courses to
enhance their professional expertise and develop their career
plans.

In our property management business sector, the Group
develops an annual training plan and offers in-house and
external training courses to the employees in enhancing their
technical skills, managerial leadership and team cohesion.
Orientation training is provided to our new hirers with the
introduction of corporate culture, service etiquette, basic
knowledge of property management and laws and regulations on
property management to enable our new hirers to swiftly adapt
in new working environment. In-house on-job training sessions,
covering the topics including elevator safety management,
maintenance of high voltage electricity, fire control and
monitoring, corporate management, customer services, building
and facilities maintenance and property cleaning, are provided to
strengthen the skills and techniques of our employees in serving
our customers in property management. We also encourage our
employees to supplement their training in their leisure time via
attending the external training and seminars offered by industry
institutions. During the Reporting Period, the total number of
trained employees per month was 2.1 times more than the total
number of employees.

In our hotel operation business, we provide various programmes
such as “The Human Element” and “The Implicit Career
Search” to assist our employee to discover their career purpose
and career aspirations, apart from introducing an array of
internal training programs and external training opportunities.
Additionally, a 13-month career development program named
“The Emergent Leaders Program”, which is designed to develop
individual’s technical skills and leadership abilities through
coaching and goal setting, is mandatory to the managerial staff,
but also is open for all employees to participate in order to
create space for career growth and fulfilment, as well as greater
personal satisfaction. In Canada, average number of training
hours received by our employees per year is 32.5 hours.
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Besides, the Group continuously identifies the training needs and
review the training performance through employee performance
appraisal and soliciting staff feedback after training, in order
to make improvement on training organisation and further
determine tailor-made training sessions for our employees to
perform their job duties more efficiently.

OUR BUSINESS OPERATION

Supply Chain Management

The Group recognises the heavy purchasing of materials and
services, including but not limited to office supplies, uniforms,
internet and software, food and beverage, hygiene amenities,
elevator and fire maintenance, air conditioner cleaning service
and pest control, from our suppliers in order to support our daily
business operation. Therefore, maintaining a close collaboration
with our suppliers is the crucial to maintaining sustainable supply
chain as well as enhancing our competitive advantages in the
industry.

The Group has a stringent supplier selection process and
management mechanism in place to evaluate the qualification,
competency and performance of the new and existing
suppliers. The procurement department will take multiple
criteria into account when accessing suppliers’ profile such as
legal compliance, product quality, financial stability, corporate
reputation, sustainability performance. Only the suppliers who
can fulfil the legal requirements, industry standards and our pre-
determined requirements can qualify as our approved suppliers.
The Group also gives priority to local suppliers with good track
records in environmental and safety management when possible,
to reduce the carbon emission of material transportation and
minimise the adverse impact on the environment and society.
We carry out regular supplier performance assessment to ensure
the suppliers maintain the product and/or service quality that
can meet our standards and comply with the relevant laws and
regulations.
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The Group adheres to open and fair procurement practices. The
Group requires the departments in different business sectors
to obtain adequate quotations (at least three quotations) from
our approved suppliers for cost and performance comparison,
excepted those products and services can only be provided
by sole supplier due to technical constraint. We also expect
our suppliers have strong commitments in ESG management,
pay attention to the concerning issues such as environmental
sustainability, health and safety and ethical conduct, and
implement ESG practices in their business activities.

Product Responsibility

The Group pays every effort to enhance the customer satisfaction
and trust in terms of quality products and customer-focused
services we deliver.

Adhering to the core value of “exceeding the customer’s
growing needs and expectations” and the service philosophy
of “Five-star service to accompany you in your lifetime” in our
property management business sector, the Group is committed
to providing customer-first, sincere and attentive property
management services to the tenants and guests. We have
implemented quality management system certified with the
international standard of ISO 9001 and formulated a set of
internal customer service operational procedures, including
but not limited to greeting, grooming, telephone etiquettes and
attitude, customer requests handling and value-added service,
in guiding our employee to uphold excellent standard of service,
as well as enhancing the customer experience in our property
management services. Regular in-house trainings are organised
to our employees to equip them with necessary knowledge
and communication skills in pursing exceptional service and
maintain our committed service standards. We also set up
an engineering team with experienced personnel to conduct
regular inspections and handle the daily and emergency facility
maintenance to ensure the customer safety in our managed
properties. Striving for continuous improvement of our property
management services and customer satisfaction, we carry out
regular tenant visits and customer satisfaction survey with an aim
to further understand the needs and concerns of our tenants and
guests in our services, as well as evaluating our service quality
and performance through the customer feedback. A customer
complaint handling procedure is established to ensure that the
received customer complaints are dealt with in a timely manner
and properly resolve the complaint issue(s).
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During the Reporting Period, we have received several awards
related to property management service provision rewarding our
dedication and efforts in superior service.

J
%iii
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2019 Chongqging Underground ring road garage management -
Project of Forebase Financial Centre
2010 EEFEMIEH TIREEEEIEE N — HESFESIER

In our hotel operation business, the Group spares no efforts to
go beyond the high expectations of our guests and offers them
a unigue and memorable experience with gracious hospitality in
full of personal touches, with the mission of enriching the lives of
our guests and promoting wellness and relaxation. We offer a full
array of luxurious spa treatments packages and all treatments
provided by our talented and nurturing spa team to ensure the
supreme services are maintained. We have also implemented
a set of service manual in hotel operation to comply with the
applicable laws and regulations (e.g. the Hotel Keepers Act) and
optimise the consistency of our excellent service standards for
attracting our guests for more returning visits.

Besides, we provide food and beverage, meeting and banquet
services in our hotel operation and thus food safety is the top
prioritised issue we concern. Our food and beverage team
has set out a kitchen manual to standardise the food service
provision and adopted the best practices on food handling
according to the applicable local laws and regulations. All the
employees who handle food and beverage are 100% trained to
ensure they acquired adequate knowledge on food preparation
and food hygiene. Regular inspections are conducted to make
sure the stringent control of food preparation and handling is
maintained.
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Yuzhong District Four-Star Commercial Building —
Project of Forebase Financial Centre
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In order to protect the customer privacy, the Group has complied
with the Business Practices and Consumer Protection Act and
only collect the essential customer personal information in a
lawful mean for service delivery and all the employees require to
abide by the confidentiality obligations as stipulated in employee
handbook to preserve any unauthorised use and leakage of
customer data. To better secure the customer rights and interest
in our services, we ensure the information published in the
marketing materials and promotion brochures are factual and
unbiased, as well as complying with the applicable provincial
and federal laws in marketing disclosure.

We attained several recognitions for our continuous efforts in
supreme service quality. Our Brentwood Bay Resort was ranked
as the #2 resort on Condé Nast Traveller “Top 10 Resorts in
Canada: Readers’ Choice Awards 2019” list and has attained the
2019 Certificate of Excellence by TripAdvisor and The Love by
Guest: Most Wanted Award by Hotel.com.

Below is a list of company awards we have received in recent
years:

2019 #2 Top 10 Resorts in Canada on Condé Nast Traveller

° 2019-2020 Hotel.com The Love by Guest: Most Wanted
Award

o 2019 TripAdvisor Certificate of Excellence
° 2018 AAA Inspector’s Best of Housekeeping

° 2018 Peninsula Reader’s Choice for Accommodation

° 2018 #7 Best Resort in Canada by Condé Nast Traveller

° 2017 OpenTable Diners’ Choice
o 2017 TripAdvisor Certificate of Excellence
o 2016 Canadian Tourism Business of the Year

° 2016 Victoria Chamber Employer of the Year
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Business Integrity and Anti-corruption

The Group is committed to upholding the highest standard of
business integrity. We exact a zero-tolerance policy on corruption,
fraud, money laundering, bribery and extortion and all our
employees are required to observe the confidentiality obligations
as stipulated in the employee handbook and employment
contract. Employees are strictly prohibited to disclose and leak
the confidential and sensitive information, including but not
limited to the business strategy and plans, financial information,
pricing, client information and contact, to the unauthorised third
parties during and after their employment without prior approval
by the Group.

The Group is prohibited our employees to solicit and/or accept
any advantages (e.g. gifts, entertainment and commission etc.)
directly or indirectly. The Group has complied with the relevant
laws and regulations in the operating regions such as Cap 201.
Prevention of Bribery Ordinance of HKSAR, the Criminal Law of
the PRC, the Anti-money Laundering Law of the PRC and the
provisions of the Combating Crimes (Money Laundering) and
Terrorist Financing Act.

The Group has taken specific measures to detect and prevent
money laundering and terrorist financing activities, such as:

(i)  establish and maintain financial service provider records
and customer identification requirements;

(i) request for reporting suspicious financial transactions and
currency cross-border movements; and

(iii)  establish an agency dedicated to ensuring compliance with
all the acts.

There was no concluded legal case regarding corruption
practices in the Group during the Reporting Period.
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OUR ENVIRONMENT

The Group believes that the long-term business success and
growth is built upon the environmental sustainability. Hence, the
Group pays great attention to the balance between sustainable
development and its business development and has formulated
a series of environmental management policies and procedures
in managing the emission, the use of the natural resources in
the responsible manner and promoting clean and environment-
friendly operations in our business sectors to reduce the adverse
impacts on the environment. For instance, Nuofute Property
Management has implemented the environmental management
system accredited with ISO 14001 certification to manage
the environmental issues in a well-planned manner and the
environmental performance to make continuous improvement.

The Group has complied with the applicable environmental
laws and regulations (e.g. The Environmental Protection Law
of the PRC, The Environmental Protection Tax Law of the PRC
and The Environmental Management Act in British Columbia,
Canada etc.) where we locate. During the Reporting Period,
the Group was not aware of material breaches of relevant laws
and regulations relating to the air and greenhouse gas (“GHG")
emission, discharges into water and land, and generation of
hazardous waste and non-hazardous waste.

Emission

The major sources of air emission in our business sectors are
mainly the exhausted gas from fuel-powered stationary plants
and mobile vehicles, as well as the cooking fumes from the
kitchen in BBR. To mitigate the air emission, the Group strives to
opt for the cleaner and superior fuels for all fuel-driven stationary
plants and company vehicles. We also install the pollution control
equipment such as grease filter and hydrovent in the kitchens
of our resorts to reduce the cooking fumes emission to the
surrounding environment.

The main sources of the Group’s GHG emissions are derived
from fuel combustion (natural gas) from boiler, fuel combustion
from vehicles owned by the Group and the fugitive emissions
from the use of refrigerants (“Scope 1 emission”), the
consumption of purchased electricity (“Scope 2 emission”) and
the air business travel by employees (“Scope 3 emission”) in our
business operations.
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During the Reporting Period, the total amount of GHG emission
is illustrated in the table below:

RBERA - BERBHINEEWNTRAT |

GHG Unit 2019
BEme By —m_n

Direct GHG emission (Scope 1)
BEERERBYR (BE1)
Energy Indirect GHG emission (Scope 2)
BEREEREREBEEN (HE2)
Other Indirect GHG emission (Scope 3) #
HibFE R = REHEM (HE3)*

Total
- H
o The above greenhouse gas emissions are defined and calculated
according to the GHG Protocol and HKEX Guidance of ESG report
Annex Il
o The above calculation emission factor is sourced from National

Development and Reform Commission (NDRC), HKEX Guidance
of ESG report Annex Il and 2017 B.C. Best Practices Methodology
for Quantifying Greenhouse Gas Emissions published by Ministry of
Environment & Climate Change Strategy

# Other indirect emission (Scope 3) covered the emission from the
business travel of employees only

WASTE MANAGEMENT

Certain amount of hazardous waste such as light tubes/
bulbs, dry batteries, waste fire extinguisher and container with
waste paint are indispensably generated in our operation of
property management services and hospitality services during
the Reporting Period. All the waste is properly sorted, stored
at designated area and consigned to the qualified cleansing
company for further handling and treatment.

Various types of non-hazardous waste such as general waste,
paper, plastic, construction waste is produced in our property
management services while grease, general waste and used
amenities are produced in our resort. To minimise the waste
generation at source, we regularly review the materials stock
records and analyse the amount of materials used in service
provision in order to prevent the unnecessary waste of materials.
We also reuse the materials as many as possible in our
operations and set up recycling facilities nearby the working area
for waste recycling. All the harmless waste is properly collected
and disposed by qualified recycling company for handling and
disposal.
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During the Reporting Period, the Group produced in total of
12.36 tonnes of hazardous waste and 304.99 tonnes of non-
hazardous waste.

2019
—E-hEF

Unit Hazardous waste Non-hazardous waste
E=X1v2 BEEEYD EERERY)
Hong Kong office Tonne No available data! No available data!
BEERANE 7] o] R | R
Property management Tonne 12.20 240.75
MEEIRE 17
Hotel operation Tonne 0.16 64.24
B E U
Total Tonne 12.36 304.99
et g

! The hazardous waste is collected by service provider while the non-
hazardous waste is collected by the property management company
for handling, hence there is no available data for information
disclosure.

USE OF RESOURCES

Energy Use

Gasoline, electricity, kerosene and natural gas are the main
types of energy consumed in business operations of the Group.
Gasoline is mainly supplied to vehicles owned by the Group.
Electricity and kerosene are mainly supplied to building services
and lighting in our managed properties and our resort, while
natural gas is used by the boilers for heat generation. To enhance
the energy efficiency and in turn reduce our carbon footprints,
we look for energy saving opportunities and take certain
measures to reduce the use of energy. For instance, we replaced
conventional lighting by energy-efficient light bulbs, installed
energy-efficient hot tubs and replace the old models of machine
with high energy-efficient one. Regular maintenance and
commissioning of the building plants and equipment was taken
by the Group to ensure the machinery maintains the optimal
function and energy efficiency. In our office operation, we engage
our employee to take up the shared responsibility and adopt the
good practices of energy saving in our workplace. For example,
searching for higher energy-efficient models when purchasing
new office appliance, switching off the office appliances when
they are not in use and maintaining the room temperature at
comfort level about 24-26 degrees Celsius.
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B e REARE

The Group’s Energy Consumption during the Reporting Period
AEBRBREHARBERERE

Gasolin® 8. 350.53L 4%

Naturgl 222 423,675.10m:

Kerosene 400 LAF
Water Use

The Group attaches great importance to the water conservation
in the daily operation of different business sectors and hence
the Group has taken various water-saving measures to reduce
our water consumption. In our property management business
sector, we maintain regular checks and maintenance of the water
plumbing and flushing systems in our managed buildings to
prevent water leakage but also to ensure water quality and safety.
Our BBR provides bedding change card and encourages our
guests to reuse bed linens and towels in order to lower the water
consumption for laundry. Regular inspection on water facilities
and irrigation system is commissioned in BBR and the repair and
upgrade of irrigation system was completed in 2019. During the
Reporting Period, the Group did not aware of any water sourcing
problem in our business operations.

d

O

ZN SETS

FOREBASE INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED

e 6,962,784.6iwn

L 4
Ak

AEBFFERTAEKIFINBE BEEFH
EiKIER - F UL AN 5 B B ERER % T i K i LA
BWAORKE - EYEBTEERIE - RAER
EHmE REERFPIMEENBFEIKE &R
IKEFABTRK - FARBERKREEREZ S
BMHBBREHREBAFR R WHBEAE
AAREREMN LRI EKAKE -BBREZR
FEE R E KR REM R - mEM R
REERFARER T —NFETK - RIREH
A AR E I A HEEEEEP HREAKR
fol 8 o

FRE

SHK

The Group’s Water Consumption during the Reporting Period:
HIRNERAKE -

84,600m:

TR

REBEBREZERERD A



Environmental, Social and Governance Report

The Environment and Natural Resources

In accordance with the Group’s environmental philosophy, we are
committed to providing high quality services while also ensuring
that all business activities impact the environment positively,
maintaining the balance between operational efficiency and
resource consumption. The Group continues to increase the staff
awareness on environmental protection, energy and water saving
and emission reduction through staff training and make efforts to
reduce our carbon footprint in our operations.

OUR COMMUNITY

Community Investment

The Group is committed to its corporate social responsibility and
giving back to the society where it operates. The Group strives to
leverage its resources and manpower to create positive impacts
to the community.

During the Reporting Period, we supported the caring community
partner program in Canada called “Soap for Hope” that provides
the hygiene kits to local shelters, transitional homes, food bank
and low-income seniors in the community. Our Brentwood Bay
Resort was donated 70 sets of used hygiene amenities such as
shampoo and soap and linens for reprocessing to create hygiene
kits and redistributing to the needy in the local community to
safeguard their health as well as to divert usable products from
landfills and reduce waste generation. In 2019, we also make
donation amounting in total of CAD$2000 to different local
charities or non-profit organisations such as Children’s Health
Foundation, Big Brother’s Big Sister’s Victoria , Pet's Without
Vets, BC Children’s Hospital ,Amanda Tood Legacy and CIBC
Run for the Cure etc. to assist to the community programme
development. The Group also encourages employees to actively
participate in charitable activities and voluntary services to serve
the needy to the society.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report
IRiE - &té?li ZA#&EJ

KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS FASRAA IR

Direct GHG emissions tCOe 1,232.96 554.39 16.30

(Scope 1) W — %ﬂ:ﬁlx
HEEREREHR (BE1)

Other Indirect GHG tCOe 23.07
emissions (Scope 3) g — %ﬂ:ﬁfim =
HibEEREREEEN (8
E3)
GHG intensity
AERERE
Property management tCO,e/m? 0.010
MEER Wi — %kﬁ:;
K

Waste disposal®

BEEYRE?
Hong Kong office Tonne No available data
BEBRAE A =] A EUE
FOREBASE INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED REFRIZERERA A



Environmental, Social and Governance Report
IRiE - Kté?li ZA#&E:

Hotel and resort Tonne 0.16 — —

B IE R E R

Non-hazardous waste

BEEREY
Property management Tonne 240.75
Total hazardous waste Tonne 304.99
EEBEEYHBE A
Gasoline L 8,350.53 2,221.77 6,021
i R
Gigajoules (“GJ") 273.75 72.83 —
=5EH

Kerosene L 460.00 — —
o AT
GJ 16.28 — —

Total energy consumption GJ 41,972.50 47,907.28
R EREE HEH
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RiE -8k

faxasINVAN

B /A $|§%:

Energy intensity

G

BEREE
Hong Kong office GJ/people 8.35
BERAE 5EH A
Property management GJ/m? 0.041
MEER HEHFHK
Hotel operation GJ/guest night 1.13
JBE &8 TEE/BEAER
Water consumption*
FAKE*
Hong Kong office m?3 No available data
N AR A AEUR
Property management m3 72,739.00
MEER AV PN
Hotel operation m3 11,861.00
BEEE MK
Total water consumption m3 84,600.00
WEAKE K
Water intensity
RAKBE
Hong Kong office m3/people No available data
BERERRE SHARSAN ER]AEUR
Property management m3/m? 0.11
MEER SRR FRAK
Hotel and resort ms/guest night 0.90
JBE R Z R SNFKSBENEG
Type of resources use
EREAEE
Refrigerant® kg 400.00
LR H NI

Paper® kg 93.95
wRak e /NI

Note:

1. The coverage of GHG emissions, waste, energy and water consumption 1.

data in 2019 includes the office in Hong Kong, the four managed
property projects in Chongging, Mainland China (Forebase Financial
Plaza (FAE & EhES), Forebase Convention International Building
(REGRERBEAKE), Liangping Daisi International Community
Project (2 & HTBIFREE4LE) and Xiushan haosheng International
Community Project (FILSABIFREEER)) by Nuofute Property
Management and our BBR in Victoria, British Columbia, Canada.
Due to the business nature, no packaging materials are utilised in our

business segments.

FOREBASE INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED

No available data No available data

=] AEUR ] EUR
78,873.31 354,000

14,516.00 16,729,000
93,389.31 17,083,000
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The data of GHG emission, energy and water consumption is
restated due to data collection error and the alignment with the data
presentation of 2019.

The hazardous waste and non-hazardous waste in Hong Kong
office is collected by the service provider and property management
company respectively for handling, hence there is no available data for
information disclosure.

The water payment in Hong Kong office is included in the rental fee
and there is no available data for information disclosure.

The data only covers the consumption by property management
business segment.

The data only covers the consumption by Hong Kong office.
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Directors and Senior Management

SENEEEEAE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Ms. Yeung So Mui (Co-Chairman)

Ms. Yeung, aged 44, is experienced in corporate management.
Ms. Yeung is an executive director of Imperium Group Global
Holdings Limited (Stock code: 776), a company principally
engaged in household furnishings business which also operates
property investment and various loan products and services,
as well as the mobile game business, and the issued shares
of which are listed on the main board of the Stock Exchange.
Ms. Yeung was also an executive director of Suncity Group
Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 1383), a company listed on
the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, from 5 October 2010
to 20 July 2017. Ms. Yeung is the spouse of Mr. Cheng Ting
Kong, a controlling shareholder of the Company. Ms. Yeung is
deemed to be interested in 253,122,558 shares of the Company,
representing approximately 34.74% of the issued share capital of
the Company, held by Rich Vision Developments Limited which
is wholly and beneficially owned by Mr. Cheng Ting Kong.

Ms. Yeung was appointed as a director of Yan Qi Tong Limited on
1 April 2013.

FOREBASE INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
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Directors and Senior Management

Mr. Choi Yun Chor (Co-Chairman)

Mr. Choi, aged 37, started as the general manager, and currently
as the executive director, at Realway Investment Limited and
Key Target Investments Limited, each a company principally
engaged in the trading of lifestyle fast-moving consumer goods in
local and overseas market. At Realway Investment Limited, Mr.
Choi manages to provide professional global lifestyle fast-moving
consumer goods trading services to worldwide countries. He
established different distribution channels and target segment
in the past 15 years. He leads a team to explore new markets
in Southeast Asia and maintain a stable growth in the well-
developed market in the European Union and Middle East. Apart
from the trading business, Mr. Choi has been and is still working
in a family business in property management, with a team of
about 10 talents in Hong Kong for over a decade. He is the
director of the leasing and property management company and
is responsible for planning business strategies and managing
the local and overseas operation teams. Mr. Choi owns the entire
equity interest in Great Match International Limited which holds
253,122,558 shares of the Company, representing approximately
34.74% of the issued share capital of the Company. Mr. Choi
graduated from Seneca College, Toronto, Canada in General
Business in 2003.

Mr. Choi is also a director of the board of Yan Oi Tong, one of the
biggest charity organizations in Hong Kong.

Mr. Ng Kwai Wah Sunny

Mr. Ng, aged 40, is the founder and managing director of
Davisons Group, a business and private equity consultancy
services organization based in Hong Kong, and has over
18 years of experience in corporate restructuring, mergers
and acquisitions, project financing, loan and investment
management. Mr. Ng started his career at the transaction
advisory services department of Ernst and Young, and has
previously served as investment director and consultant to a
number of listed and unlisted companies in Hong Kong and
overseas. Mr. Ng graduated with a Bachelor of Commerce degree
in actuarial studies and accounting from the University of New
South Wales, Australia and is a member of both the Certified
Practicing Accountants of Australia and the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants.
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Directors and Senior Management

FENEETEAL

Mr. Chen Jian

Mr. Chen, aged 63, joined Realway Investment Limited in 2014
as the director of sales and marketing. From 2009 to 2014,
Mr. Chen worked as the sales and marketing manager of Great
King International Limited. Mr. Chen worked as the sales and
marketing manager of Great King International Limited from
2009 to 2014. Mr. Chen served as the marketing executive of
Nippon Tsusho Co., Ltd.* (B R & # B 2 ) from 2005 to
2008, and worked for Ideal Properties Corp. as the department
manager from 1997 to 2005. Mr. Chen is a professional in sales
and marketing. He is experienced in business development in
both developed and emerging markets including Hong Kong,
Malaysia, Singapore, Egypt, Greece and Pakistan etc. Mr. Chen
obtained a bachelor of engineering from Shanghai Nautical
College (now known as Shanghai Maritime University) in July,
1982.

Mr. Tai Kwok Keung Kenny

Mr. Tai, aged 58, Mr. Tai started his career with his expertise
in the information technology department in Hong Kong at
the Bank of China Group in the 1980s. Since 2014, he is the
general manager of Gold Companion International Limited, a
trading company of lifestyle fast-moving consumer goods, and
since 2006, the director of the Realway International (Phil.)
Co. Rp., managing over 100 employees in Hong Kong and
the Philippines. Mr. Tai obtained a bachelor of electronic and
communication engineering from the De La Salle University, the
Philippines in 1985. Mr. Tai is appointed as the deputy manager
of the executive committee of The Fukienese Association Limited

(BBRERE).

Mr. Lin Junwei

Mr. Lin, aged 24, is currently the chief financial officer of
Imperium Green Power Limited and his primary responsibilities
includes the planning, implementation, managing and running of
all the finance activities, including business planning, budgeting,
forecasting and negotiations. Mr. Lin is a nephew of Ms. Yeung
So Mui, an executive Director and Mr. Cheng Ting Kong, a
controlling shareholder of the Company. Mr. Lin obtained a
bachelor of science in accounting and finance from University of
East Anglia in 2018.
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Directors and Senior Management

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Ms. Lai Cheuk Yu Cherrie

Ms. Lai, aged 39, obtained a Master’s degree in Civil Engineering
from University College London, United Kingdom in 2004 and
was qualified as a solicitor in England and Wales in 2013. In
2016, Ms. Lai was also qualified as a solicitor in Hong Kong.
Ms. Lai has more than 14 years’ management experience in the
construction and engineering industry, both as a civil engineer
and qualified legal practitioner, including project management,
project planning and implementation, financing and resourcing,
litigation, dispute resolution, contracts and corporate governance.
Between 2016 and 2017, Ms. Lai held the position of legal
counsel of SUEZ (Asia) Limited. Between 2017 and 2018, Ms.
Lai held the position of legal counsel of SUEZ NWS Limited. Ms
Lai is promoted to the position of senior legal counsel of SUEZ
NWS Limited in 2019. Ms. Lai previously held the position of
graduate engineer for Halcrow Group Limited and the position of
senior engineer for Mouchel Limited, United Kingdom and Legal
Counsel for Ove Arup & Partners Hong Kong Limited from 2012
to 2015 and Gammon Construction Limited from 2015 to 2016.

Mr. Ting Wong Kacee

Mr. Ting, aged 44, holds a Master of Laws and Postgraduate
Certificate in Laws from City University of Hong Kong. He is
currently a member of The Hong Kong Bar Association. He
is also the independent non-executive director of Imperium
Group Global Holdings Limited (Stock code: 776), a company
principally engaged in household furnishings business which
also operates property investment and various loan products
and services, as well as the mobile game business, and the
issued shares of which are listed on the main board of the Stock
Exchange.
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Directors and Senior Management

SENEEEEAE

Dr. Loke Yu alias Loke Hoi Lam

Dr. Loke Yu (alias Loke Hoi Lam), aged 70, has over 41 years
of experience in accounting and auditing for private and public
companies, financial consultancy and corporate management.
He holds a Master of Business Administration degree from
University Teknologi Malaysia and a Doctor of Business
Administration degree from University of South Australia.
Dr. Loke is a fellow member of The Institute of Chartered
Accountants in England and Wales, Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants, and the The Hong Kong Institute
of Chartered Secretaries. He is also a member of the Hong Kong
Independent Non-Executive Director Association. Currently,
he serves as an independent non-executive director of Chiho
Environmental Group Limited (formerly known as Chiho-Tiande
Group Limited), CIMC-TianDa Holdings Company Limited, Hang
Sang (Siu Po) International Holding Company Limited, Hong
Kong Resources Holdings Company Limited, Zhong An Group
Limited, Matrix Holdings Limited, TC Orient Lighting Holdings
Limited, Tianhe Chemicals Group Limited, Tianjin Development
Holdings Limited, TradeGo FinTech Limited, V1 Group Limited
and Zhenro Properties Group Limited, all are companies listed
on the Stock Exchange.
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Directors and Senior Management

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Leung Tak Chee Frankie

Mr. Leung Tak Chee Frankie, aged 46, is Chief Financial Officer
and company secretary of the Company. He holds a Bachelor
Degree in Commence from University of Adelaide, Australia.
He is a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants and CPA Australia. He has held managerial and
financial executive positions in various listed companies and
financial institutions in Hong Kong. He has more than 20 years
of experience in financial management, taxation, and corporate
finance.
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Report of the Directors
EEEWES

The directors submit herewith their report together with the
audited financial statements for the year ended 31 December
2019.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND BUSINESS
REVIEW

The Company acts as an investment holding company.

The principal activities of its subsidiaries are hotel operation in
Canada and provision of property management services in PRC.

The principal activities and other particulars of the subsidiaries
are set out in note 18 to the consolidated financial statements.
An analysis of the Group’s performance for the year by
business and geographical segments is set out in note 6 to
the consolidated financial statements. Further discussion and
analysis of these activities as required by schedule 5 of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, including a discussion of
the principal risks and uncertainties facing the Group and an
indication of likely future developments in the Group’s business,
can be find in the “Management Discussion and Analysis” set
out on page 8 to 15 of this annual report. This discussion forms
part of this directors’ report.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The percentages of revenue and cost of sales for the year ended
31 December 2019 attributable to the Group’s major suppliers
and customers from continuing operations are as follows:

Revenue
The largest customer 4%
Five largest customers in aggregate 13%

Cost of sales
The largest supplier 8%
Five largest suppliers in aggregate 13%

At no time during the year, have the directors, their associates or
any shareholder (which, to the knowledge of the directors, owns
more than 5% of the issued share capital of the Company) has a
beneficial interest in the five largest customers or suppliers of the
Group.
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RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2019 and the state of the Group’s affairs as at that date are
set out in the “Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and
Other Comprehensive Income” and “Consolidated Statement of
Financial Position” on pages 90 to 92 of this annual report.

The Board does not recommend the payment of any final
dividend for the year ended 31 December 2019 (2018: HK$Nil).

RESERVES

Details of movements in reserves of the Group and the Company
during the year are set out in the “Consolidated Statement of
Changes in Equity” on pages 93 to 94 and page 211 respectively
of this annual report.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

Distributable reserves of the Company as at 31 December
2019, calculated under the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance,
amounted to HKSNiIl (2018: HK$NIl).

No dividend was paid or declared for the year ended 31
December 2019 (2018: HK$Nil).

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Articles
of Association of the Company or the laws of the Hong Kong
which would oblige the Company to offer new Shares on a pro-
rata basis to existing shareholders.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND
INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Details of movements in property, plant and equipment and
intangible assets of the Group during the year are set out in notes
15 and 16 respectively, to the consolidated financial statements.
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SECURED LOANS

Particulars of secured loans of the Group as at 31 December
2019 are set out in note 30 to the consolidated financial
statements.

BONDS

Particulars of bonds of the Group as at 31 December 2019 are
set out in note 32 to the consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in share capital of the Company during
the year ended 31 December 2019 are set out in note 27 to the
consolidated financial statements.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Share options granted to directors

The following table discloses movements in the Company’s share
option during the year:

LN EN

AEER =T —
HEIB LR

NE+-A=+—BzHEHNE
AR BT ERARMEES0 ©

&%

AEER-T-NE+-A=+—REEE
BB A IS EEN 32 -

P RS
AEERANRBEE-T-NF+=-A=+—H
I FEZ B FBHNGA M BRERME27 -
R ma i

BRERTES
TREBARABEENFEARN 2 ZE

Outstanding
Outstanding as at
as at 31 December
1 January 2019 Granted Exercised Cancelled 2019
Bz 3 hE during during during R=F- MF
Exercise period Exercise price —B-H the éear the year the year TZA=+-
TS 1%E HAITHR ERTE FRas W AT ﬁE
Directors
Bz
Mr. Gan Lin® 45.2019-35.2028 0.415 3,240,499 - - 3,240,499 -
BREED
Mr. Huang Xiang Yang? 20.1.2020 - 19.1.2027 047 2,105,330 - - 2,105,330 -
aRkLE?
Mr. Shen Yong® 20.1.2020 - 19.1.2027 0.47 323,398 - - 323,398 -
BELES 452019-35.2028 0415 456,408 - - 456,408 -
Continuous contract employees
FEANES
1I-EEmzpl)loyee 4.5.2019-3.5.2028 0415 28251678 - - 8251678 -
g
%mcployee 20.1.2020 - 19.1.2027 047  26,721,49% - - 26,721,4% -
2|
Other eligible participants 20.1.2020 - 19.1.2027 047 3,238970 - - 3238970 -
Bt ER2EE
Other eligible participants 45.2019-35.2028 0.415 13,692,249 - - 13,692,249 -
EthEER2RE
78,030,527 - - 78,030,527 -

@ resigned on 11 June 2019
@ resigned on 20 November 2019
® removed on 19 December 2019
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PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'S LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold
or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during the
year ended 31 December 2019.

DIRECTORS

The directors during the financial year and up to the date of this
report were:

Executive directors

Ms. Yeung So Mui (Co-Chairman) V)
Mr. Choi Yun Chor (Co-Chairman)
Mr. Ng Kwai Wah Sunny®

Mr. Chen Jian®

Mr. Tai Kwok Keung Kennyt?

Mr. Lin Junwei®

Mr. Shen Yong®

Mr. Gan Lin®

Mr. Pang Huan Kun® ®)

Ms. Wang Yi Ya®@ @

Non-executive director
Mr. Huang Xiang Yang®

Independent non-executive directors

Ms. Lai Cheuk Yu Cherriet?

Mr. Ting Wong Kacee”

Dr. Loke Yu (alias Loke Hoi Lam)
Mr. Yu Lei®

Mr. Ernst Rudolf Zimmermann®

@ appointed on 10 October 2019
@ removed on 19 December 2019
@ resigned on 11 June 2019

@ appointed on 11 June 2019

2] resigned on 20 November 2019
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The biographical details of the current directors are set out under
the section “Directors and Senior Management” of this annual
report.

In accordance with Article 101 of the Company’s Articles of
Association, Ms. Yeung So Mui, Mr. Choi Yun Chor and Dr. Loke
Yu shall retire from the Board by rotation and, being eligible,
offer themselves for re-election at the forthcoming AGM.

On 20 November 2019, Mr. Pang Huan Kun, Mr. Huang Xiang
Yang, Mr. Yu Lei and Mr. Ernst Rudolf Zimmermann resigned
as an executive director, a non-executive director, as an
independent non-executive director and as an independent non-
executive director respectively of the Company. Mr. Pang Huan
Kun, Mr. Huang Xiang Yang, Mr. Yu Lei and Mr. Ernst Rudolf
Zimmermann have confirmed that they have no disagreements
with the Board and nothing relating to the affairs of the Company
needed to be brought to the attention of the shareholders of the
Company.

The names of all persons who, during the financial year and/or
during the period from the end of the financial year to the date
of this report, serve/served as directors of all those companies
included as subsidiaries in the consolidated financial statements
of the Company for the financial year ended 31 December 2019
are set out below:

Except for those directors listed above, the persons who were
directors of the subsidiaries of the Company during the year and
up to the date of this report were (unless otherwise stated):

—  Mr. Shen Yong *

A

removed as a director on 19 December 2019
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

As at the date of this report, each of the Directors has entered
into a service contract or an appointment letter (as the case
may be) with the Company for either no fixed term of service
or an initial fixed term of three years commencing from their
appointment or re-designation, subject to retirement by rotation
and re-election at annual general meetings of the Company
pursuant to Articles of Association of the Company, and will
continue thereafter until terminated by (i) in cases of executive
Directors and independent non-executive Directors, not less than
one months’ notice in writing served by either party on the other
or payment in lieu of such notice, or (ii) in case of non-executive
Directors, not less than one month’s notice in writing by the non-
executive Director or the written notice issued by the Company
with immediate effect.

DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS

The directors’ fees are subject to shareholders’ approval at
general meetings. Other emoluments are determined by the
Board of the Company with reference to directors’ duties,
responsibilities and performance and the results of the Group.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2019, the interests and short positions of
the Directors or chief executive of the Company in the shares,
underlying shares or debentures of the Company or any of its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (“SFO”)) which were required
(i) to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including
interests and short positions which they are taken or deemed
to have under such provisions of the SFO); or (ii) pursuant to
Section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred
to therein; or (iii) pursuant to the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers set out in Appendix
10 to the Listing Rules adopted by the Company (the “Model
Code”) (collectively “disclosure interests”) to be notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange, were as follows:
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Directors’ interests in Issued Shares of the

ESERANACHITRNZER

Company
Interest of
controlled Approximately
Personal corporation Interest Percentage of
Name of directors Interests ZEHZEE of spouse Total shareholding
EEHE AR 2R [RE: A5t RESNEIH
Mr. Choi Yun Chor - 253,122,558 (L) - 253,122,558 (L) 34.74%
ERTE (note 1)
(FfzE1)
Ms. Yeung So Mui - - 253,122,558 (L) 253,122,558 (L) 34.74%
BEETL (note 2)
(FizE2)
Note: PR -
(1) These Shares are held by Great Match International Limited (“Great (1) #ZZ=MfH #EGreat Match International Limited ([ Great

Match”), a company wholly-owned by Mr. Choi Yun Chor. Match]) #5758 - A RIREBEYIEREHE -

ZZE W19 R Rich Vision Developments Limited ([ Rich
Vision]) #8 + ZARIAAQRMEEREREL
:tZ@Ef%ﬁET%ﬁEE%ﬁ%ﬁ $ETJ§*7*%&HE?’?M
BIEXVEBE 2 RE 3D EZ G - HRGELTHAR

BRZERDPHREEL -

(2)  These Shares are held by Rich Vision Developments Limited (“Rich (2)
Vision”), a company wholly-owned by Mr. Cheng Ting Kong, who is
the spouse of Ms. Yeung So Mui, the co-Chairman of the Company.
Pursuant to the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO,
Ms. Yeung So Mui is deemed to be interested in those Shares.

PN

(L)  Long position L e
Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2019, none of the BEXEEEN RZE—NEF+A=+—
directors and/or the chief executive of the Company, or their H BEARRZEEN S&HE{THRAESK
respective associates had any other discloseable interests as FESBZBAEALIHRETRNEMATERZ
required. MR ©
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' AND OTHER FTEREREMATREGD REERR
PERSONS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS hZERRRE
IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES

R-FB-NF+_A=1t—H BARAZE
EXERBTRABI TIALTRARRZK
I MEBRO T BEARBREES MRS
6P 336 1678 Tt fr 2 B i MPraCsk sk E e
ARABZEGmSFRIT

As at 31 December 2019, the following persons (other than the
directors or chief executive of the Company) had interests or long
positions in the shares and underlying shares of the Company
as recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company
under Section 336 of the SFO or as otherwise notified to the
Company were as follows:

Ordinary shares

ZER
No. of ordinary % of issued
shares held Nature of share capital
Substantial shareholders FEZ interest/Capacity BT
FERR ZEREE EntE 5% BABESE
Great Match (Note 1) (BfsF1) 253,122,558 (L) Beneficial owner 34.74%
EmEEA
Rich Vision (Note 2) (FffzE2) 253,122,558 (L) Beneficial owner 34.74%
EnHEAA
(L)  Long position L e
Notes: BisE -
(1)  Great Match is wholly-owned by Mr. Choi Yun Chor. (1)  Great Match RESBHISCE R E R EHEER -
(2)  Rich Vision is wholly-owned by Mr. Cheng Ting Kong, who is the (2)  Rich Vision BARARIEFE ERH R/ LT 2 BBE

spouse of Ms. Yeung So Mui, the co-Chairman of the Company. THEEEZERE - RBEFHFRIBEEGIEXVE

Pursuant to the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, FL2RFINWZIEX - BRIBLLEBNET A
Ms. Yeung So Mui is deemed to be interested in all the ordinary shares EERBIR AR AR B BRPAEAE
in which Mr. Cheng Ting Kong is, or is deemed to be, interested. s o

BEXFRBES R-F—NAF+=A
=+—8 AR ALEEELOEBRERK
53 T ) 336 (/R T 17F 2 BRI G
2 -

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2019, no other
interests required to be recorded in the register kept under
Section 336 of the SFO had been notified to the Company.
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SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the
Company and within the knowledge of its directors, the directors
confirmed that the Company has maintained the amount of
public float as required under the Listing Rules during the year
and up to the date of this report.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS THAT
ARE SIGNIFICANT IN RELATION TO THE
COMPANY'’S BUSINESS

Save as disclosed under the section headed “Connected
Transactions” and note 40(a) to the consolidated financial
statements, no other transactions, arrangements or contracts
of significance, to which the Company or any of its holding
Company, subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries was a party, and in
which a director of the Company had a material interest, whether
directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any
time during the year.

DIRECTORS' INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

None of the Directors and his/her respective associates had
interests in the businesses which competes or was likely to
compete, whether directly or indirectly, with the business of the
Group. Mr. Shen Yong has undertaken to the Company that for
so long as he remains as a Director or a controlling Shareholder,
all enquiries and actual or potential business opportunities
received by him (and/or his associates) in relation to hotel real
estate business (the “Business Opportunities”) shall be referred
to the Company on a timely basis and the Business Opportunities
must be first offered or made available to the Group.

There has been no material change in directors’ interests in any
competing business subsequent to 31 December 2019.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of
the whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company
were entered into or existed during the year.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Continuing connected transactions

In 2016, the Company entered into a Framework Agreement
with Mr. Shen Yong, the Chairman of the Board, an executive
Director and a beneficial owner of 51% equity interest in Ultra
Harvest, which constituted continuing connected transactions
(the “connected transactions”) as defined in the Listing Rules.

Pursuant to the Framework Agreement, the Group agreed to
provide the Property Management Services to certain premises
owned by corporations controlled by Mr. Shen Yong including
offices, residential apartments and car parking spaces for a
term of three years commencing from the Effective Date and
ending on the earlier of (i) 31 December 2018; or (ii) the date
the owners’ committee of such premises has been formed
(both days inclusive). During the year, service fee of Property
Management Services amounted to RMB9,119,000 (equivalent
to HK$10,818,000) was charged to corporations controlled by
Mr. Shen Yong.

As all of the applicable percentage ratios (as defined under
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules) in respect of the annual caps
for the Framework Agreement exceed 0.1% but are less than
5%, the connected transactions are subject to announcement
and reporting requirements but is exempt from circular and
the Independent Shareholders’ approval requirement under
the Listing Rules. The connected transactions up to the limit
specified in the annual cap amount for each of the financial
years ended/ending 31 December 2016, 2017 and 2018
are HK$13,900,000, HK$12,500,000, and HK$12,400,000
respectively.
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On 21 December 2018, the Company and Mr. Shen Yong
entered into a new Framework Agreement to extend the term of
three years commencing from 1 January 2019 and ending on the
earlier of (i) 31 December 2021 (both days inclusive); or (ii) the
date the owners’ committee of such premises has been formed
(both days inclusive). The connected transactions up to the limit
specified in the annual cap amount for each of the financial
years ended/ending 31 December 2019, 2020 and 2021 are
RMB8,042,153 (equivalent to HK$9,087,633), RMB7,760,056
(equivalent to HK$8,768,863), and RMB7,534,112 (equivalent
to HK$8,513,547) respectively. As all of the applicable
percentage ratios (as defined under Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules) in respect of the annual caps for the Framework
Agreement exceed 0.1% but are less than 5%, the connected
transactions are subject to announcement and reporting
requirements but is exempt from circular and the Independent
Shareholders’ approval requirement under the Listing Rules.

The connected transactions were entered in the ordinary and
usual course of business of the respective companies after
due negotiations on an arm’s length basis with reference to the
prevailing market conditions.

Announcements were published regarding the connected
transactions in accordance with the Listing Rules. The Company
confirms that it has complied with the disclosure requirements
in accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules in so far as
they are applicable.

All Independent non-executive directors of the Company have
reviewed the connected transactions and confirmed that the

connected transactions are entered into:

1. in the ordinary and usual course of business of the
Company;

2. on normal commercial terms or better; and
3. in accordance with the relevant agreements governing

them on terms that are fair and reasonable and in the
interests of the Shareholders of the Company as a whole.
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Pursuant to Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules, the Company’s
auditor was engaged to report on the Group’s continuing
connected transactions in accordance with Hong Kong Standard
on Assurance Engagements 3000 (Revised) “Assurance
Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews of Historical
Financial Information” and with reference to Practice Note
740 “Auditor’s Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions
under the Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants. The auditor has issued
an unqualified letter containing the findings and conclusions in
respect of the above continuing connected transactions. A copy
of the auditor’s letter has been provided by the Company to the
Stock Exchange.

Saved as disclosed above, details of the material related
party transactions during the year are set in note 40 to the
consolidated financial statements.

RETIREMENT SCHEMES

Details of the retirement schemes participated by the Group are
set out in note 36 to the consolidated financial statements.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

A permitted indemnity provision for the benefit of the Directors
is currently in force and was in force throughout the year under
review. The Company has also taken out and maintained
appropriate insurance cover to indemnify the Directors for
liabilities that may arise out of corporate activities of the Group.
The insurance coverage is reviewed on an annual basis. During
the year ended 31 December 2019, no claims were made
against the Directors.

FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the
Group for the last five financial years is set out on page 225 of
this annual report.

CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE

The Company has received, from each of the independent
non-executive directors, an annual confirmation of independence
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company
considers that all the independent non-executive directors are
independent.
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E%_e port of the Directors
EEORES

AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2019 have been audited by Grant Thornton Hong
Kong Limited.

Grant Thornton Hong Kong Limited will retire and, being
eligible, offer themselves for reappointment. A resolution for the
re-appointment of Grant Thornton Hong Kong Limited as auditor
of the Company is to be proposed at the forthcoming AGM.

By order of the Board
Choi Yun Chor
Co-Chairman

Hong Kong, 14 May 2020
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Independent Auditor’s Report

0 Grant Thornton
2 [=]

To the members of Forebase International Holdings Limited
(incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability)

REPORT ON THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

QUALIFIED OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of
Forebase International Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (together the “Group”) set out on pages 90 to 224,
which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position
as at 31 December 2019, the consolidated statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income, consolidated statement
of changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows
for the year then ended and notes to the consolidated financial
statements, including a summary of significant accounting
policies.

In our opinion, except for the effects of the matters described
in the Basis for Qualified Opinion section of our report, the
consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the
consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 December
2019, and of its consolidated financial performance and its
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”)
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(“HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared in compliance
with the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
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BASIS FOR QUALIFIED OPINION

Scope Limitation - Information about the
seizure of investment properties owned by the
joint ventures of the Group

As explained in note 20 to the consolidated financial statements,
Triple Market Limited and its subsidiaries (“Triple Market Group”)
are the joint ventures of the Group. Triple Market Group mainly
holds investment properties amounted to HK$84,920,000
as at 31 December 2019. The interests in joint ventures in
the consolidated statement of financial position amounted to
HK$44,516,000 as at 31 December 2019.

During the course of our audit, we noted that all the investment
properties of the joint ventures were seized by the Intermediate
People’s Court of Chongging (EEE —FHARET) (the
“Court”) in relation to a loan dispute with a financial institution.
The directors of the Company inquired of the management of the
joint ventures in relation to the seizure of investment properties
and the loan dispute, including the court orders, the reason and
the latest development of the seizure of the investment properties
and the loan dispute, but they are still not able to obtain all
relevant information. Because the information and reason about
the Court’s seizure of the investment properties and the loan
dispute are not available to us, we are unable to assess the likely
outcome and the financial impact associated with the seizure of
the investment properties and the loan dispute, and to assess
as to whether any adjustments related to the understatement of
liabilities of the joint ventures and impairment in the interests in
joint ventures are required to be made by the Group. Accordingly,
we are unable to satisfy ourselves as to whether the interests in
joint ventures were fairly stated and whether the relevant details
are properly disclosed in the consolidated financial statements
as at 31 December 2019. Any adjustments to the amounts
might have a significant consequential effect on the consolidated
financial position as at 31 December 2019 and the consolidated
financial performance for the year then ended.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in
the Auditor’'s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated
Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent
of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's “Code of Ethics
for Professional Accountants” (the “Code”) and we have fulfilled
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our qualified opinion.

MATERIAL UNCERTAINTY RELATED TO GOING
CONCERN

We draw attention to note 2.1 in the consolidated financial
statements, which indicates that as at 31 December 2019
the Group’s current liabilities exceeded its current assets by
HK$64,030,000. Such event or condition indicates that a
material uncertainty exists that may cast significant doubt on
the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. The validity
of the going concern basis depends on the management’s
arrangements to address the going concern issue as described
in note 2.1 to the consolidated financial statements. The
consolidated financial statements do not include any adjustments
that might result from the outcome of this uncertainty. Our
opinion is not modified in respect of this matter.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on
these matters.
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Loss Allowance of Trade Receivables

ESRWRRBRERE

The Key Audit Matter
BRERSEE

Please refer to note 22 to the consolidated financial
statements and the accounting policies as set out on note
2.11.

As at 31 December 2019, the carrying amount of the
Group’s trade receivables amounted to HK$19,344,000
and loss allowance of trade receivables amounted to
HK$21,092,000.

The Group’s loss allowance of trade receivables are based
on management’s estimate with reference to the valuation
performed by an independent external professional valuer
for the expected credit losses to be incurred, which is
estimated by taking into account the credit profile of
different customers, the ageing profiles, their knowledge
about the customers, past settlement patterns and
current market conditions.
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How the Matter was Addressed in Our Audit
RMEEZRPNAEEZERBEE

Our audit procedures in relation to the loss allowance of
trade receivables included the following:

o Assessing the competency, capability and objectivity
of the independent professional external valuer, and
the scope of the valuer’s work.

° Assessing the valuation methodologies.

o Assessing the accuracy of the ageing of trade
receivables on a sample basis by tracing to the
respective invoices.
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Loss Allowance of Trade Receivables (Continued)

ESRWRRBERE (8)

The Key Audit Matter
BRERSEE

Management also considered forward-looking information
that may impact the customers’ ability to repay the
outstanding balances in order to estimate the expected
credit losses of customers.

The loss allowance of trade receivables is sensitive to
key underlying assumptions applied by the management
such as credit-rating of the customers, default rate and
recovery rate which involves significant management
judgement.
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How the Matter was Addressed in Our Audit
RMEEZRPNAEEZERBEE

Assessing the assumptions and estimates made
by the management for the loss allowances with
reference to our understanding of the debtors’
financial condition, the industry in which the debtors
are operating, the ageing of overdue balances and
historical and forward-looking information.

Comparing, on a sample basis, cash receipts from
customers subsequent to the financial year end
relating to trade debtor balances as at 31 December
2019 with bank statements and relevant remittance
documentation.
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Impairment of Property, Plant and Equipment

I3 - HBRREZRE

The Key Audit Matter
BRERSEE

Please refer to note 15 to the consolidated financial
statements and the accounting policies as set out on
notes 2.5 and 2.12.

As at 31 December 2019, the carrying amount of
property, plant and equipment of the Group were
HK$86,724,000, of which land and buildings amounted
to HK$84,759,000.

Management carries out an impairment assessment of
land and buildings on an annual basis. The impairment
assessment requires evaluation as to whether any
impairment indicators existed in the land and buildings
by reference to the profitability of the relevant cash-
generating units (“CGUs”).
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How the Matter was Addressed in Our Audit
RMEEZRPNAEEZERBEE

Our audit procedures to assess the impairment testing of
land and buildings included the following:

° Assessing the competency, capability and objectivity
of the independent professional external valuer, and
the scope of the valuer’s work.

o Assessing the valuation methodologies.

° Assessing the reasonableness of the key

assumptions and estimates used against general
market practice.
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Impairment of Property, Plant and Equipment (Continued)

I3 - B RREZRE (&)

The Key Audit Matter How the Matter was Addressed in Our Audit
BRERSEE BMEEXPUMEEZEERSEE

Where there are indicators, management is required Please refer to P. 82.
to assess the recoverable amount of the land and  FZ2E$82H -
buildings with reference to valuation performed by

the independent professional external valuer using

the income capitalisation method for resort hotel and

sales comparison method for development land. The

valuation of land and buildings requires the application of

significant judgement and estimation in determining the

appropriate valuation methodologies to be used, use of

subjective assumptions and various unobservable inputs.

The valuation of resort hotel is sensitive to key underlying
assumptions applied by the valuer such as volatility of
income, occupancy rate and discount rate used. The
valuation of development land is sensitive to market
comparables with adjustments of other individual factors
by the valuer which may have a significant impact to the
valuation.
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Impairment of Intangible Assets

BILEEZRE

The Key Audit Matter
BRERSEE

Please refer to note 16 to the consolidated financial
statements and the accounting policies as set out on
notes 2.8 and 2.12.

The carrying amounts of intangible assets amounted to
HK$25,467,000 as at 31 December 2019. Management
reviews the carrying amounts of intangible assets annually
or more frequently when impairment indicators are
present.

Where there are indicators, management is required to
assess the recoverable amount of the intangible assets
with reference to valuation performed by the independent
professional external valuer based on a value-in-use
calculation using future cash flow projections. The
valuation of intangible assets requires the application
of significant judgement in the use of subjective
assumptions. The valuation is sensitive to underlying
assumptions applied by the valuer such as discount
rate and retention rate used are based on the assets’
past performance and management’s expectation of
market development and the future cash flow projections
were prepared based on financial budgets approved by
management which may have a significant impact to the
valuation.
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How the Matter was Addressed in Our Audit
RMEEZRPNAEEZERBEE

Our procedures in relation to management’s impairment
assessment of the Group’s intangible assets included the
following:

o Assessing the valuation methodology adopted by
management.

° Assessing the reasonableness of key assumptions,
in particular those relating to the six-year period
cash flow forecasts, the discount rates and retention
rates, based on our knowledge of the business and
industry.

° Reconciling input data to supporting evidence,
such as approved budgets and considering the
reasonableness of these budgets.

HPISEEE L
ZRFEE

BEEEENEENREMENEEE

o FHEEEBERAMMEEITE -
o RERMHURBRITENTE FREIZERKNHE
B - BRI ENFIRSRETRR MR X MR

RS E RN EE

s WEIFRENEAZE (fIMEHENTEE)
W ERZERENAIEN o

REBEBREZERERD A



Valuation of Interest in an Associate

R—EBE QT 2EE 2 GE

The Key Audit Matter
BRERSEE

Please refer to note 19 to the consolidated financial
statements and the accounting policies as set out on
notes 2.3 and 2.12.

As at 31 December 2019, the carrying amount of interest
in an associate amounted to HK$21,070,000. The
associate holds investment properties which are stated at
fair value.

The fair values of the investment properties owned by
the associate were estimated by the management of the
Group with reference to the valuation conducted by an
independent professional external valuer using direct
comparison approach. The valuation of investment
properties require the application of significant judgement
and estimation in determining the appropriate valuation
methodologies to be used, use of subjective assumptions
and various unobservable inputs. They are sensitive to
market comparables with adjustments of other individual
factors by the valuer which may have significant impacts
to the valuation.
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How the Matter was Addressed in our Audit

EMEELT AR EZSERER

Our audit procedures in relation to the valuation of
interest in an associate included the following:

o Assessing the appropriateness of the management’s
accounting for interest in an associate.

° Assessing the competency, capability and objectivity
of the independent professional external valuer, and
the scope of the valuer’s work.

o Assessing the valuation methodologies.

o Assessing the reasonableness of the key
assumptions and estimates used against general
market practice.
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors are responsible for the other information. The
other information comprises all the information included in
the 2019 annual report of the Company, but does not include
the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report
thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is
materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements
or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears
to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have
performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement
of this other information, we are required to report that fact. As
described in the Basis for Qualified Opinion section above, we
were unable to obtain all relevant information in relation to the
seizure of investment properties and the loan dispute of the joint
ventures, including the court orders, the reason and the latest
development of the seizure of the investment properties and the
loan dispute. Accordingly, we are unable to conclude whether or
not the other information is materially misstated with respect to
this matter.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS
FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as
the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation
of consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors assisted by the Audit Committee are responsible
for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.

FOREBASE INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
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Independent Auditor’s Report

AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to
issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. We report
our opinion solely to you, as a body, in accordance with section
405 of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and for no other
purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept
liability to any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs
will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken
on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

° identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of
the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud
or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive
to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The
risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting
from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as
fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

° obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to
the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s
internal control.

° evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used

and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and
related disclosures made by the directors.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
AN R RS

o conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant
doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.
If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are
required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the
related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements
or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence
obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However,
future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease
to continue as a going concern.

° evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

° obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we
have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current
period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe
these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in
extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter
should not be communicated in our report because the adverse
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

REPORT ON OTHER MATTERS UNDER
SECTIONS 407(2) AND 407(3) OF THE HONG
KONG COMPANIES ORDINANCE

In respect alone of the inability to obtain sufficient appropriate
audit evidence as described in the Basis for Qualified Opinion
section of our report above:

° we were unable to determine whether adequate accounting
records had been kept; and

° we have not obtained all the information and explanations
that, to the best of our knowledge and belief, are necessary
and material for the purpose of our audit.

Grant Thornton Hong Kong Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Level 12

28 Hennessy Road

Wanchai

Hong Kong

14 May 2020

Han Pui Yu
Practising Certificate No.: PO7101
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other
Comprehensive Income

y=Ad8c T

For the year ended 31 December 2019
HE-_ZT-NF+_A=+—HILFE

H 2 IR e

1R

2019 2018
—E-hF —N\&F
Note HK$’000 HK$' 000
BRE FERT FAT
(Note)
(BfFEE)
Revenue Yz 5 92,228 94,582
Direct costs BHEKAR (55,347) (58,890)
Gross profit EF 36,881 35,692
Other income and gain, net E AU A R e F 58 7 1,860 1,409
Share of profit of an associate S —fEEE R B 19 1,171 -
Share of (losses)/profits of joint ventures ~ DMGA &% (B8) %% 20 (94) 553
Administrative expenses THRAX (64,663) (50,716)
Finance costs AR A 8 (5,971) (7,522)
Loss before income tax BRETISFH AR 9 (30,816) (20,584)
Income tax credit/(expenses) FTs®ign, (%) 12 372 (1,236)
Loss for the year REEEIE (30,444) (21,820)
Other comprehensive income/(expense) ZANEEHEMEME
for the year Wz (BX)
Items that may be reclassified Hignjgte B3 o4
subsequently to profit or loss: EEmAEAE -
— Exchange differences on translation of — — & GINERS 2 BATE
financial statements of WERERERE
overseas operations 885 (5,293)
— Share of other comprehensive DR EEZEM
income/(expense) of joint ventures 2k (FX) 20 6 (1,230)
— Exchange reserve released upon - HENBARE
disposal of subsidiaries B2 P N R 35 393 =
Other comprehensive income/(expenses) AFEHMEME
for the year Wz (%) 1,284 (6,523)
Total comprehensive expense attributable Zs2 TRz R REG
to the equity shareholders AEEREBZAHE
of the Company for the year (29,160) (28,343)
Loss per share BREE 14 HK centsi&1l | HK cents &1l
Basic and diluted BEARNEE (4.28) (4.11)

Note: The Group has initially applied HKFRS

16 at 1 January 2019,

using the modified retrospective approach. Under this approach,
comparative information is not restated. See note 3.

The notes on pages 97 to 224 are an integral part of these

consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

wra AR

As at 31 December 2019
R=ZF—hE+=A=+—H

2019 2018
—E-hE —E-N\F
Note HK$’000 HK$'000
B 5T FExT FET
(Note)
(Ff3E)

Non-current assets FkREBEE
Property, plant and equipment LE = YN 15 86,724 84,738
Intangible assets | EE 16 25,467 30,029
Right-of-use assets FEREEE 17 2,853 -
Interest in an associate R—HEERE 2B 19 21,070 =
Interests in joint ventures REEPE I ER 20 44,516 44,604
Deferred tax assets BERIAEE 29 1,749 =
182,379 159,371

Current assets REEE
Inventories T8 21 828 837
Trade and other receivables B 5 N E A EUBETR 22 28,301 37,712
Bank balances and cash IRTTHEMRNMIRS 23(a) 6,898 7,757
36,027 46,306
Current liabilities REBEE

Trade and other payables B 5 N EMERRER 24 25,202 11,972
Contract liabilities a48aE 26 4,407 5,019
Amounts due to related companies AR NEIE e - 7,157
Current taxation BNEAFR IR 13,246 11,596
Secured loans HIFE 30 34,275 2,012
Loan from shareholders IR E K 31 11,187 -
Bonds B 32 10,000 =
Lease liabilities HEaRE 33 1,740 =
100,057 37,756
Net current (liabilities)/assets #E (BE) BERE (64,030) 8,550
Total assets less current liabilities BEABERRBARS 118,349 167,921

Non-current liabilities FRBERS
Amount due to a director BN —R2EEHE 25 - 3,315
Deferred tax liabilities EIEFIERE 29 5,849 6,305
Secured loans HIRE K 30 - 34,001
Bonds B 32 50,181 60,181
Lease liabilities HEAE 33 1,199 =
57,229 103,802
Net assets EEFE 61,120 64,119
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

“ra IR ILR

As at 31 December 2019
RZE-NF+_A=+—H

2019 2018
—E-hEF —E-NF
Note HK$’000 HK$'000
BfaE FERT FA&T
(Note)
(BfFEE)
Capital and reserves EXR#iE
Share capital &7 27 388,883 368,984
Reserves i 28 (327,763) (304,865)
Total equity attributable to equity RATERRREGEER
shareholders of the Company 61,120 64,119

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on R-ZE-_TFRATHNBEESSHEREE
14 May 2020. EIT o

Choi Yun Chor Yeung So Mui

£HE9 BEN

Director Director

EZF EFE

Note: The Group has initially applied HKFRS 16 at 1 January 2019, M AKER-_ZF—NAF— A HAXERBTENHK
using the modified retrospective approach. Under this approach, WEEAE 165 - RALIETTBIE - RIS
comparative information is not restated. See note 3. 5 LR ERWEEY o RFEI e

The notes on pages 97 to 224 are an integral part of these %%B’\%971224EE’JWEEZ%EQ%VTE\HH%#&
consolidated financial statements. FHVAERKER D
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
GAEREDR

For the year ended 31 December 2019
HE-_ZT-NF+_A=1+—HLFE

Attributable to the equity shareholders of the Company

RAAERRRENR
Share
Share Merger  Contribution Statutory options Exchange  Accumulated
capital reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve osses Total

BA AHEE  LERE  AeRE  BRERE  EXRE  ZHER &8

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

AL TAL TAL AL TAL TAL AL TAL
(note27)  (note 28(a))  (note 28(b))  (note 28(c))  (note 28(d))  (note 28(e))
(zr27)  (Wsros@)  (zE28b)  (MaE2s(c))  (RizE28(d)  (HizE28(e))

Balance as at 1 January 2018 RoB-N\E
—-B-Bi&s 292462 (124,635) 8478 2,447 2,739 (33931)  (141460) 6,100

Loss for the year TEEER - - - - = - (21.820) (21.820)

Other comprehensive expense REEENEE

for the year fix
— Exchange differences on translation - &g E£H%
of financial statements g Ee
of overseas operations MELZE - - - - - (5,293) - (5,293)
— Share of other comprehensive - HERELE
expense of joint ventures Lt 2AFY - - - o = (1,230) = (1,230)
= = - - - (6,523) = (6,523)
Total comprehensive expense TEERERY
for the year g - - - - - (6,523) (21,820) (28343)
Transactions with owners: HREANRS
Recognition of equity-settled TNERES
share-based payments AR BERE
transactions MEFRS - - - - 9,840 - = 9,840
Issuance of shares B1ikln 41,422 = - = = = = 41422
Issuance of shares in relation to skEaENE
acquisition of joint ventures Bk 35,100 - - - - - = 35,100
Appropriation to statutory reserve. BEEATEE - - = 456 = - (456)
76,522 - - 456 9,840 - (456) 86,362
Balance as at 31 December 2018 R=F-N\E
TZAZT-BM&H 368984 (124639) 8478 2903 12579 (40454)  (163,736) 64,119
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

== N\ 7
T / ~ lI\I:III\ %b i%

For the year ended 31 December 2019
HE_ZT-NF+_A=1+—HILFE

/\‘/T\

Attributable to the equity shareholders of the Company

RATERRRER
Share
Share Merger  Contribution Statutory options Exchange  Accumulated
capital reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve losses Total
BE AR LERE  LERE BRERE  EXRE  ZHFE ag
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TiEn FiEn TiEn FiEn T TiEn FiEn T
(note 27)  (note 28(a))  (note 28(h))  (note 28(c))  (note 28(d))  (note 28(e))
(E27)  (MfsE2s8(a)  (Mist28(b)  (KiEF28(c)  (H&F28(d)  (Mizk28(e))
Balance asat 31 December 2018~ RW=F—/\F
(note) T-B=1-8#
fagh (M) 368,984 (124,635) 8,478 2,903 12579 (40,454)  (163,736) 64,119
Impact on initial application of MRERAANEES
HKFRS 16 (note 3) ERF 6R5E
(Fiz3) - - - - - - (28) (28)
Balance at 1 January 2019, RZB-hE
as adjusted -B-RMEH
(f&5%) 368,984  (124,635) 8,478 2,903 12,579 (40,454)  (163,764) 64,091
Loss for the year TERER - - - - - - (30,444) (30,444)
Other comprehensive TEEEMEE
income/(expense) for the year WA/ (Fx)
- Exchange differences on translation - &850 £
of financial statements BB RE
of overseas operations MELZE - - - - - 885 - 885
— Share of other comprehensive - HERELE
expense of joint ventures Efb2EAR - - - - - 6 - 6
- Exchange reserve released upon - HEMBARIEE
disposal of subsidiaries i - - - - - 393 - 393
- - - - - 1,284 - 1,284
Total comprehensive income/(expense) AEE2H
for the year WA/ (%) &8 - - - - - 1284 (30444)  (29,160)
Transactions with owners: BREEANRS
Recognition of equity-settled EAMERES
share-based payments transactions ~ JAIR{A BERE
(note 39) RS (H39) - - - - 6,290 - - 6,290
Issuance of shares in relation to SUEE-RHBAR
acquisition of a subsidiary (note 27) ~ E/7IR{H (FitE27) 19,899 - - - - - - 19,899
Transfer upon cancellation RN E
of share options (nofe 39) (P39) - - - - (18869) - 18,869 -
19,899 - - - (12,579) - 18,869 26,189
Balance as at 31 December 2019  W=Z-h 5
TZA=T-RBM&sH| 388,883  (124,635) 8,478 2,903 - (39,170)  (175,339) 61,120
Note: The Group has initially applied HKFRS 16 at 1 January 2019, Wit AEER _ZE—NF—A—HaXERAEEYH

using the modified retrospective approach. Under this approach,
comparative information is not restated. See note 3.

The notes on pages 97 to 224 are an integral part of these

consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

A

mMER

For the year ended 31 December 2019

RE-F-NF+-A=t-ALFE

2019 2018
—E-NF —T-N\F
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
By zE FET FAT
(Note)
(Pi=E)
Operating activities REEE
Loss before income tax FT{S TRl E1E (30,816) (20,584)
Adjustments for: T
Interest income FMEMA 7 (15) (21)
Interest income from advance to a third party — #5 F2 = 77 22 F EUA 7 - (475)
Finance costs BEKA 8 5,971 7,522
Depreciation e
— Property, plant and equipment S ERE - Y 9 3,150 3,462
- Right-of-use assets -EREEE 9 1,723 -
Amortisation i 9 4,562 4,562
Loss allowance of trade and other receivables &5 & E b fEUBRTES 1B B4R 9 16,509 1,199
Loss/(gain) on disposal of property, HEMHE « #BRRREZ
plant and equipment B8/ (k) 7 34 7)
Loss on disposal of subsidiaries HEMBARERE 35 885 -
Equity-settled share-based payment expenses  SAME#E & & LARR (5
RERNNTHEX 9 6,290 9,840
Gain on amount due to a shareholder NIERE AR BEZTH
stated at fair value upon initial recognition JEAT— 2 AR R IB A 2 Y s 7 (241) -
Gain on amount due to a director stated sERE AR BEZSH
at fair value upon initial recognition e —RE B FHIER 2 W 7 - (151)
Recognition of income attributable ERAEAD B BB HEERA
to unused gift certificates 7 (781) -
Share of profit of an associate DM E R ENR A (1,171) =
Share of losses/(profits) of joint ventures DMEAREEERE, (C&F) 94 (553)
Currency exchange translation HNGE 5 3 (781) (63)
Operating cash flows before movements LEEEBHIR
in working capital KEHRERE 5,413 4,731
Decrease in inventories FERD 42 455
Increase in trade and other receivables B 5 R H A FE AR B8 1N (8,053) (1,863)
Increase in contract liabilities BRBEEM 35 879
Increase in trade and other payables B 5 RE M RE R BRI N 3,406 1,954
Cash generated from operations REZBESRE 843 6,156
PRC Corporate Income Tax paid B PBREEMSEH (136) (659)
Net cash generated from operating activities ~— #X& ZE)FT182 B & F5E 707 5,497
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
I\‘T\Afﬁri;ﬁéﬁ

For the year ended 31 December 2019
HE-_ZT-NF+_A=+—HILFE
|

2019 2018
—E-NF —T-N\F
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
BT TERT FET
(Note)
(Pi=E)

Investing activities REEE
Proceeds on disposal of property, HEMHE « BBERERE

plant and equipment FTigs0A 6 7
Interest received BUFE 15 21
Advance to a third party BT —RE=HNBN - (1,820)
Net cash outflow from disposal of subsidiaries  HEMIEB A A 2/ FR 4R 35 9) -
Purchase of property, plant and equipment BEME - R RRE 15 (1,742) (2,324)
Net cash used in investing activities KRE BB HEFE (1,730) (4,116)
Financing activities RMEEE
Advance from shareholders R AR 23(b) 11,187 =
Advance from related companies ) UNSEEA 23(b) - 3911
Repayment of secured loans EBRIEHER 23(b) (3,168) (1,943)
Repayment to a director BE—RESHE 23(b) (546) (1,224)
Repayment to related companies St N B 23(b) (298) -
Payment of lease liabilities BEHEAR 23(b) (1,665) -
Interest paid [EANEESN 23(b) (5,366) (6,970)
Net cash generated from/(used in) BAZEFTR (FTF)

financing activities B HE 144 (6,226)
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents BRE&RBEEZSEYRD FHE (879) (4,845)
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January E’\ A—BBRE&kREEEY 7,757 13,027
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes fE RSB B 20 (425)
Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December, R+=-—A=+—HzH%

represented by bank balances and cash RBREZEEY

ARITEBRR RS 6,898 7,757
Note: The Group has initially applied HKFRS 16 at 1 January 2019, i AEER-_ZT—NF—A—BEREREBENHE
using the modified retrospective approach. Under this approach, WMERERIL 165 - RALIETTEWX © RIFULTT
comparative information is not restated. See note 3. 75 LB TEY o RFE3

The notes on pages 97 to 224 are an integral part of these HREITEZ224 BT I RZFHE MBI
consolidated financial statements. = ;
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

GENERAL

Forebase International Holdings Limited (the “Company”)
was incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability. The
addresses of the registered office and principal place of
business of the Company are disclosed in section headed
“Corporate Information and Shareholders’ Calendar” of
the annual report. The Company’s shares are listed on the
Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(the “Stock Exchange”).

In September 2019, Ultra Harvest Limited (“Ultra
Harvest”), which was the ultimate and immediate holding
company of the Company as at 31 December 2018, and
other shareholders of the Company have completed the
disposal of approximately 60.2% of the total issued share
capital of the Company (the “Disposal”). As a result, the
directors of the Company consider the Company has
no ultimate and immediate holding companies as at 31
December 2019, while Mr. Choi Yun Chor and Mr. Cheng
Ting Kong are the controlling shareholders (the “Controlling
Shareholders”) of the Company.

The Company is an investment holding company and the
principal activities of the Company and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) are hotel operation
in Canada and properties management in the People’s
Republic of China (the “PRC").

The functional currency of the Company is Hong Kong
dollar (“HK$”). For the purposes of presenting the
consolidated financial statements, the Group adopted HK$
as its presentation currency as its shares are listed in Hong
Kong.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in
thousands of HK$ (“HK$’000”), unless otherwise stated.
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For the year ended 31 December 2019
HE-_ZT-NF+_A=1+—HLFE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
AR R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2019
HE-_ZT-NF+_A=+—HILFE

T
2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. TESHBR

2.1 Basis of preparation 2.1 RBEEE

98

The annual consolidated financial statements have
been prepared in accordance with all applicable Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs"),
which collective term includes all applicable
individual Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards,
Hong Kong Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) and
Interpretations issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA"), accounting
principles generally accepted in Hong Kong and
the requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance. The consolidated financial statements also
comply with the applicable disclosure requirements
of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the
Stock Exchange (“Listing Rules”).

The significant accounting policies that have been
used in the preparation of these consolidated
financial statements are summarised below. These
policies have been consistently applied to all the years
presented unless otherwise stated. The adoption of
new and amended HKFRSs and the impacts on the
Group’s consolidated financial statements, if any,
are disclosed in note 3. The consolidated financial
statements have been prepared on the historical cost
basis. The measurement bases are fully described in
the accounting policies below.

Going concern basis

As at 31 December, 2019, the Group’s current
liabilities exceeded its current assets by
HK$64,030,000. Such event or condition indicates
the existence of material uncertainty which may cast
significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue
as a going concern, and thus, the Group may not be
able to realise its assets and discharge its liabilities in
the normal course of business.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
AR R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2019
HE-_ZT-NF+_A=1+—HLFE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. FEZHEBR (&)
(CONTINUED)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued) 2.1 WEEE ()

Going concern basis (Continued)

In order to ensure the Group’s ability to operate as
a going concern, certain plans and measures have
been taken to mitigate the liquidity pressure and
to improve its consolidated financial position which
including, but not limited to, the following:

(i) the Controlling Shareholders have given an
undertaking to provide continuing financial
support to the Group to enable it to meet its
liabilities as and when they fall due and to
enable the Group to continue in operational
existence;

(i) In March 2020, the Group has renewed the
banking facilities with the relevant bank in
relation to the secured loans of HK$34,275,000
as at 31 December 2019 for another six
months; and

(iii) the Directors have carried out a detailed review
of the working capital forecast of the Group for
the twelve months ending 31 December 2020,
which took into account the projected future
working capital of the Group.

The directors believe the Group will have sufficient
cash resources to satisfy its future working capital
and other financing requirements as and when they
fall due in the next twelve months from the end of the
reporting period. Accordingly, the directors believe
that the Group will continue as a going concern and
therefore consider it is appropriate to adopt a going
concern basis in preparing its consolidated financial
statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
AR R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2019
HE-_ZT-NF+_A=+—HILFE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

21

2.2

Basis of preparation (Continued)

Should the Group be unable to continue its business
as a going concern, adjustments would have to be
made in the consolidated financial statements to
restate the values of the assets to their recoverable
amounts and to provide for any further liabilities
which might arise and to reclassify non-current assets
as current assets.

It should be noted that accounting estimates
and assumptions are used in preparation of the
consolidated financial statements. Although
these estimates are based on management’s best
knowledge and judgement of current events and
actions, actual results may ultimately differ from those
estimates. The areas involving a higher degree of
judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions
and estimates are significant to the consolidated
financial statements are disclosed in note 4.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate
the financial statements of the Company and its
subsidiaries made up to 31 December each year.

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group.
The Group controls an entity when the Group is
exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the entity and has the ability to
affect those returns through its power over the entity.
When assessing whether the Group has power over
the entity, only substantive rights relating to the entity
(held by the Group and others) are considered.

The Group includes the income and expenses of a
subsidiary in the consolidated financial statements
from the date it gains control until the date when the
Group ceases to control the subsidiary.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
AR R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2019
HE-_ZT-NF+_A=1+—HLFE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. FEZHEBR (&)
(Continued)

2.2 Basis of consolidation (Continued) 2.2 REHRE (&)

Intra-group transactions, balances and unrealised
gains and losses on transactions between group
companies are eliminated in preparing the
consolidated financial statements. Where unrealised
losses on intra-group asset sales are reversed on
consolidation, the underlying asset is also tested for
impairment from the Group’s perspective. Amounts
reported in the financial statements of subsidiaries
have been adjusted where necessary to ensure
consistency with the accounting policies adopted by
the Group.

Changes in the Group’s interests in subsidiaries that
do not result in a loss of control are accounted for
as equity transactions, whereby adjustments are
made to the amounts of controlling interests within
consolidated equity to reflect the change in relative
interests, but no adjustments are made to goodwill
and no gain or loss is recognised.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary,
the profit or loss on disposal is calculated as the
difference between (i) the aggregate of the fair value
of the consideration received and the fair value of
any retained interest and (ii) the previous carrying
amount of the assets (including goodwill), and
liabilities of the subsidiary and any non-controlling
interests. Where certain assets of the subsidiary are
measured at revalued amounts or fair values and the
related cumulative gain or loss has been recognised
in other comprehensive income and accumulated in
equity, the amounts previously recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in equity
are accounted for as if the Company had directly
disposed of the related assets (i.e., reclassified
to profit or loss or transferred directly to retained
earnings). The fair value of any investment retained
in the former subsidiary at the date when control is
lost is regarded as the fair value on initial recognition
for subsequent accounting under HKFRS 9 “Financial
Instruments” (“HKFRS 9”) or, when applicable, the
cost on initial recognition of an investment in an
associate or a joint venture.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
AR R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2019
HE-_ZT-NF+_A=+—HILFE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. FEZHEBR (&)
(Continued)

b}

2.2 Basis of consolidation (Continued) 2.2 REHRE (&)

102

In the Company’s statement of financial position,
subsidiaries are carried at cost less any impairment
loss (see note 2.12) unless the subsidiary is held for
sale or included in a disposal group. Cost is adjusted
to reflect changes in consideration arising from
contingent consideration amendments. Cost also
includes direct attributable costs of investment.

The results of subsidiaries are accounted for by
the Company on the basis of dividends received
and receivable at the end of the reporting period.
All dividends whether received out of the investee’s

ARAZHBIRREKS - HBAF
TR EREEBRSIR (R
2.12) BRIFZMB R B RFERE
HERNEEERA - ARSI
HAREBEFTARZ REEE) T A
B KANBREREENREX
K o

BRI Z ERBARRIRERE AR
ZEW R EKAETIER - FRERE
(R E T WA R TR
FE I AR AR ) AR R IR s R

pre or post-acquisition profits are recognised in the R °
Company’s profit or loss.
Business combinations EFEH

Acquisitions of subsidiaries and businesses are
accounted for using the acquisition method. The
consideration transferred in a business combination
is measured at fair value, which is calculated as the
sum of the acquisition-date fair values of the assets
transferred by the Group, liabilities incurred by the
Group to the former owners of the acquiree and the
equity interests issued by the Group in exchange for
control of the acquiree. Acquisition-related costs are
recognised in profit or loss as incurred.

Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and
contingent liabilities assumed in a business
combination are measured initially at their fair values
at the acquisition date.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
AR R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2019
BE-_T-—NG+-A=+—BItFE
[
2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. FTEEEBKR (&)
(Continued)

2.2 Basis of consolidation (Continued) 2.2 ZERE (&)

Business combinations (Continued)

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of
the consideration transferred, the amount of any
non-controlling interests in the acquiree, and the
fair value of the acquirer’s previously held equity in
the acquiree (if any) over the net of the acquisition-
date amounts of the identifiable assets acquired
and liabilities assumed. If, after assessment, the net
of the acquisition-date amounts of the identifiable
assets acquired and liabilities assumed exceeds the
sum of the consideration transferred, the amount of
any non-controlling interests in the acquiree and the
fair value on the acquirer’s previously held interest
in the acquiree (if any), the excess is recognised
immediately in profit or loss as bargain purchase
gain.
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For the year ended 31 December 2019
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. FEZHEBR (&)
(Continued)

R

2.2 Basis of consolidation (Continued) 2.2 ZERE (&)

104

Business combinations (Continued)

Where the consideration the Group transfers
in a business combination includes assets or
liabilities resulting from a contingent consideration
arrangement, the contingent consideration is
measured at its acquisition-date fair value and
considered as part of the consideration transferred
in a business combination. Changes in the fair
value of the contingent consideration that qualify
as measurement period adjustments are adjusted
retrospectively, with the corresponding adjustments
being made against goodwill or gain on bargain
purchase. Measurement period adjustments are
adjustments that arise from additional information
obtained during the measurement period about facts
and circumstances that existed as of the acquisition
date. Measurement period does not exceed one year
from the acquisition date. The subsequent accounting
for changes in the fair value of the contingent
consideration that do not qualify as measurement
period adjustments depends on how the contingent
consideration is classified. Contingent consideration
that is classified as equity is not remeasured at the
end of the reporting periods and its subsequent
settlement is accounting for within equity. Contingent
consideration that is classified as a financial liability
is remeasured at the end of the reporting periods
at fair value with corresponding gain or loss being
recognised in profit or loss.

Changes in the value of the previously held equity
interest recognised in other comprehensive income
and accumulated in equity before the acquisition
date are reclassified to profit or loss when the Group
obtains control over the acquiree.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

2.2

23

Basis of consolidation (Continued)
Business combinations ( Continued)

If the initial accounting for a business combination
is incomplete by the end of the reporting period
in which the combination occurs, the Group
reports provisional amounts for the items for which
the accounting is incomplete. Those provisional
amounts are adjusted during the measurement
period (see above), or additional assets or liabilities
are recognised, to reflect new information obtained
about facts and circumstances that existed as of the
acquisition date that, if known, would have affected
the amounts recognised as of that date.

Interests in associate or joint ventures

An associate is an entity over which the Group has
significant influence, which is the power to participate
in the financial and operating policy decisions of the
investee but is not control or joint control of those
policies.

A joint venture is a type of joint arrangement whereby
the parties that have joint control of the arrangement
have rights to the net assets of the arrangement.
Joint control is the contractually agreed sharing of
control of an arrangement, which exists only when
decisions relating about relevant activities require the
unanimous consent of the parties sharing control.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
AR R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2019
HE-_ZT-NF+_A=+—HILFE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

23

Interests in associate or joint ventures
(Continued)

In consolidated financial statements, interest in an
associate or interests in joint ventures is initially
recognised at cost and subsequently accounted for
using the equity method. Any excess of the cost of
acquisition over the Group’s share of the net fair value
of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent
liabilities of the associate or joint ventures recognised
at the date of acquisition is recognised as goodwill.
The goodwill is included within the carrying amount
of the investment and is assessed for impairment
as part of the investment. The cost of acquisition is
measured at the aggregate of the fair values, at the
date of exchange, of assets given, liabilities incurred
or assumed and equity instruments issued by the
Group, plus any costs directly attributable to the
investment. Any excess of the Group’s share of the
net fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and
contingent liabilities over the cost of acquisition, after
reassessment, is recognised immediately in profit or
loss in the determination of the Group’s share of the
associate or joint ventures’ profit or loss in the period
in which the investment is acquired.

Under the equity method, the Group’s interest in the
associate or interests in joint ventures is carried at
cost and adjusted for the post-acquisition changes in
the Group’s share of the associate or joint ventures’
net assets less any identified impairment loss,
unless it is classified as held for sale (or included in
a disposal group that is classified as held for sale).
The profit or loss for the year includes the Group’s
share of the post-acquisition, post-tax results of the
associate or joint ventures for the year, including any
impairment loss on the interest in an associate or
interests in joint ventures for the year. The Group's
other comprehensive income for the year includes
its share of the associate or joint ventures’ other
comprehensive income for the year.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

23

Interests in associate or joint ventures
(Continued)

Unrealised gains on transactions between the Group
and its associate and joint ventures are eliminated
to the extent of the Group’s interests in the associate
or joint ventures. Where unrealised losses on assets
sales between the Group and its associate or joint
ventures are reversed on equity accounting, the
underlying asset is also tested for impairment from
the Group’s perspective. Where the associate or
joint ventures use accounting policies other than
those of the Group for like transactions and events in
similar circumstances, adjustments are made, where
necessary, to conform the associate or joint ventures’
accounting policies to those of the Group when the
associate or joint ventures’ financial statements are
used by the Group in applying the equity method.

When the Group’s share of losses in an associate
or joint ventures equals or exceeds its interest in
the associate or joint ventures, the Group does not
recognise further losses, unless it has incurred legal
or constructive obligations or made payments on
behalf of the associate or joint ventures. For this
purpose, the Group’s interests in the associate or joint
ventures is the carrying amount of the investment
under the equity method together with the Group’s
long-term interests that in substance form part of
the Group’s net investment in the associate or joint
ventures.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
AR R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2019
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

23

Interests in associate or joint ventures
(Continued)

After the application of equity method, the Group
determines whether it is necessary to recognise an
additional impairment loss on the Group’s interests
in its associate or joint ventures. At the end of each
reporting period, the Group determines whether
there is any objective evidence that the interest in an
associate or interests in joint ventures is impaired. If
such indications are identified, the Group calculates
the amount of impairment as being the difference
between the recoverable amount (i.e. higher of value
in use and fair value less costs of disposal) of the
associate or joint ventures and its carrying amount.
In determining the value in use of the investment, the
Group estimates its share of the present value of the
estimated future cash flows expected to be generated
by the associate or joint ventures, including cash
flows arising from the operations of the associate or
joint ventures and the proceeds on ultimate disposal
of the investment.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

23

Interests in associate or joint ventures
(Continued)

The Group discontinues the use of equity method
from the date when it ceases to have significant
influence over an associate or joint control over a
joint venture. If the retained interest in that former
associate or joint venture is a financial asset, the
retained interest is measured at fair value, which is
regarded as its fair value on initial recognition as a
financial asset in accordance with HKFRS 9. The
difference between (i) the fair value of any retained
interest and any proceeds from disposing of a partial
interest in the associate or joint ventures; and (ii)
the carrying amount of the investment at the date
the equity method was discontinued, is recognised
in the profit or loss. In addition, the Group accounts
for all amounts previously recognised in other
comprehensive income in relation to that associate
or joint ventures on the same basis as would have
been required if the associate or joint ventures had
directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities.
Therefore, if a gain or loss previously recognised in
other comprehensive income by the investee would
be reclassified to profit or loss on the disposal of
the related assets or liabilities, the entity reclassifies
the gain or loss from equity to profit or loss (as a
reclassification adjustment) when the equity method
is discontinued.
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For the year ended 31 December 2019
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. FTEEEBKR (&)
(Continued)
2.4 Revenue recognition 2.4 W ztER
Revenue arises mainly from service income from FTEERNRREERBEVBELEZE N

hotel operation and properties management.

To determine whether to recognise revenue, the
Group follows a b-step process:

1. Identifying the contract with a customer
2. ldentifying the performance obligations
3.  Determining the transaction price

4.  Allocating the transaction price to the
performance obligations

5. Recognising revenue when/as performance
obligation(s) are satisfied

In all cases, the total transaction price for a contract
is allocated amongst the various performance
obligations based on their relative stand-alone selling
prices. The transaction price for a contract excludes
any amounts collected on behalf of third parties.

Revenue is recognised either at a point in time or over
time, when (or as) the Group satisfies performance
obligations by transferring the promised goods or
services to its customers.

Where the contract contains a financing component
which provides a significant financing benefit to the
customer for more than twelve months, revenue
is measured at the present value of the amount
receivable, discounted using the discount rate that
would be reflected in a separate financing transaction
with the customer, and interest income is accrued
separately under the effective interest method. Where
the contract contains a financing component which
provides a significant financing benefit to the Group,
revenue recognised under that contract includes the
interest expense accreted on the contract liability
under the effective interest method.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

2.4 Revenue recognition (Continued)

The Group takes advantage of the practical expedient
in paragraph 63 of HKFRS 15 “Revenue from
Contracts with Customers” (“HKFRS 15”) and
does not adjust the consideration for any effects of
a significant financing component if the period of
financing is 12 months or less.

Further details of the Group’s revenue and other
income and gain recognition policies are as follows:

(a)

(b)

Service income from hotel operation and
properties management is recognised when
services are rendered. Revenue excludes value
added tax or other sales taxes and is after
deduction of any trade discounts.

Interest income is recognised on a time
proportion basis using the effective interest
method.

Sales of goods are recognised when the
customer obtains control of the promised goods
in the contract. This is usually taken to be the
point in time when the goods are delivered and
the customer has accepted the goods.
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For the year ended 31 December 2019
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. FTEEFEX ()
(Continued)
2.5 Property, plant and equipment 2.5 %k WBERH
Property, plant and equipment are stated at historical Y5 - IS MR B THIRE SN R
cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated ST ERRFTREEESIER (BT
impairment losses (see note 2.12). Historical cost 2.12) - BEKABIEWEEHIER
includes purchase price and expenditure that is BEEEHENEBABLAX -
directly attributable to the acquisition of the item.
Depreciation of item of property, plant and equipment M - W REREIR B I ERMAET
is provided to write off the cost less their residual A {58 FA 68 B LA B AR V25 i S B A R EL
values, if any, using the straight-line method over HREE (W) sHERT :
their estimated useful lives as follows:
Freehold land Not depreciated KA SERE T Hb TTIE
Buildings held for own use 25 years HIEB ARET 254
Leasehold improvements 3 years MEMEEE 3%
Motor vehicles 5 years RE 54
Other property, plant 3-5 years E AW - #2s 3-54F
and equipment B
The assets’ residual values, depreciation methods BEMFISEE  TEHERAFERA
and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if FHR SRS BRR RFAE (E
appropriate, at the end of each reporting period. A) e
The gain or loss arising on retirement or disposal JBE2E o [ & I EE AR Y U B 1R IR B
is determined as the difference between the sales %ﬁﬁ?%fklﬁﬁﬁiéfﬁﬁﬁﬁfﬁﬁﬁm%%%ﬁ
proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is E o WRNBZSIER -
recognised in profit or loss.
Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s ﬁ?ﬁﬁ$f§ﬁlﬁﬁ*HF?E’\J*X%@WJ
carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, mEEMANER KB R] FFTEIR
as appropriate, only when it is probable that future BRAE - SEEREEBR AR
economic benefits associated with the item will flow to Eﬁﬁﬁﬁiﬁ@u BB EE o BiE
the Group and the cost of the item can be measured DHEREER TR - #IERRES
reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced part is PRAE HAth X - AR E £ B IR EF
derecognised. All other expenses, such as repairs BBz IR ©

and maintenance are charged to profit or loss during
the financial year in which they are incurred.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

2.6

2.7

Inventories

Inventories are carried at the lower of cost and net
realisable value.

Cost is calculated using the weighted average
method and comprises all costs of purchase, costs of
conversion and other costs incurred in bringing the
inventories to their present location and condition.

Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in
the ordinary course of business less the estimated
costs of completion and the estimated costs
necessary to make the sale.

When inventories are sold, the carrying amount of
those inventories is recognised as an expense in the
period in which the related revenue is recognised.
The amount of any write-down of inventories to net
realisable value and all losses of inventories are
recognised as an expense in the period the write-
down or loss occurs. The amount of any reversal
of any write-down of inventories is recognised as a
reduction in the amount of inventories recognised
as an expense in the period in which the reversal
occurs.

Foreign currency translation

In the individual financial statements of the
consolidated entities, foreign currency transactions
are translated into the functional currency of the
individual entity using the exchange rates prevailing
at the dates of the transactions. At the end of the
reporting period, monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies are translated
at the foreign exchange rates ruling at that date.
Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the
settlement of such transactions and from the end of
the reporting period retranslation of monetary assets
and liabilities are recognised in profit or loss.
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For the year ended 31 December 2019
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. FEZHEBR (&)
(Continued)

R

2.7 Foreign currency translation 2.7 SMEERE ()

114

(Continued)

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of
historical cost in a foreign currency are translated
using the foreign exchange rates ruling at the
transaction dates and are not retranslated (i.e. only
translated using the exchange rates at the transaction
date).

In the consolidated financial statements, all individual
financial statements of foreign operations, originally
presented in a currency different from the Group’s
presentation currency, have been converted into
Hong Kong dollars. Assets and liabilities have been
translated into Hong Kong dollars at the closing
rates at the end of the reporting period. Income
and expenses have been converted into Hong
Kong dollars at the exchange rates ruling at the
transaction dates, or at the average rates over the
reporting period provided that the exchange rates
do not fluctuate significantly. Any differences arising
from this procedure have been recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated separately
in the exchange reserve in equity.

On the disposal of a foreign operation (i.e., a disposal
of the Group’s entire interest in a foreign operation, or
a disposal involving loss of control over a subsidiary
that includes a foreign operation or loss of joint
control over a joint venture that includes a foreign
operation, or loss of significant influence over an
associate that includes a foreign operation), all of the
accumulated exchange differences in respect of that
operation attributable to the Group are reclassified
to profit or loss. Any exchange differences that have
previously been attributed to non-controlling interests
are derecognised, but they are not reclassified to
profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

2.8

2.9

Intangible assets

Acquired intangible assets are recognised initially at
cost. After initial recognition, intangible assets with
finite useful lives are carried at cost less accumulated
amortisation and any accumulated impairment losses
(see note 2.12). Amortisation for intangible assets
with finite useful lives is provided on a straight-line
basis over their estimated useful lives. Amortisation
commences when the intangible assets are available
for use. The following useful life is applied:
Customers relationship 10 years
The assets’ amortisation method and useful life are
reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of
each reporting period.

Accounting for income taxes

Income tax comprises current tax and deferred tax.

Current tax assets and/or liabilities comprise those
obligations to, or claims from, fiscal authorities
relating to the current or prior reporting period, that
are unpaid at the end of the reporting period. They
are calculated according to the tax rates and tax laws
applicable to the fiscal periods to which they relate,
based on the taxable profit for the year. All changes
to current tax assets or liabilities are recognised as a
component of tax expense in profit or loss.

Deferred tax is calculated using the liability method
on temporary differences at the end of the reporting
period between the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities in the consolidated financial statements
and their respective tax bases. Deferred tax liabilities
are generally recognised for all taxable temporary
differences. Deferred tax assets are recognised for all
deductible temporary differences, tax losses available
to be carried forward as well as other unused
tax credits, to the extent that it is probable that
taxable profit, including existing taxable temporary
differences, will be available against which the
deductible temporary differences, unused tax losses
and unused tax credits can be utilised.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. FEZHEBR (&)
(Continued)

b}

116

2.9 Accounting for income taxes

(Continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised
if the temporary difference arises from goodwill or
from initial recognition (other than in a business
combination) of assets and liabilities in a transaction
that affects neither taxable nor accounting profit or
loss.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable
temporary differences arising on investments in
subsidiaries, interest in an associate and interests
in joint ventures, except where the Group is able to
control the reversal of the temporary differences and
it is probable that the temporary differences will not
reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax is calculated, without discounting, at
tax rates that are expected to apply in the period the
liability is settled or the asset realised, provided they
are enacted or substantively enacted at the end of the
reporting period.

Changes in deferred tax assets or liabilities are
recognised in profit or loss, or in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity if they relate to items
that are charged or credited to other comprehensive
income or directly in equity.

Additional income taxes that arise from the
distribution of dividends are recognised when the
liability to pay the related dividends is recognised.

When different tax rates apply to different levels of
taxable income, deferred tax assets and liabilities
are measured using the average tax rates that are
expected to apply to the taxable income of the periods
in which the temporary differences are expected to
reverse.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2019
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. FEZHEBR (&)
(Continued)

2.9 Accounting for income taxes 29 sz EstEE (&)

(Continued)

The determination of the average tax rates requires
an estimation of (1) when the existing temporary
differences will reverse and (2) the amount of future
taxable profit in those years. The estimate of future
taxable profit includes:

(a) income or loss excluding reversals of temporary
differences; and

(b) reversals of existing temporary differences.

BEFARXFEMEFVEREE
Rt Z R ER M Q) ZFFEDN
ARERTUAZER © fhFHRFER
BRABLE -

(@) TEREEUEZRZLEHKA
SEE K

(b) HEERMEEREM -

Current tax assets and current tax liabilities are BNHA# IR & 2= A BN HAR TR & E{E A A
presented in net if, and only if: TIERFREZT

(a) the Group has the legally enforceable right to
set off the recognised amounts; and

(b) intends either to settle on a net basis, or
to realise the asset and settle the liability
simultaneously.

The Group presents deferred tax assets and deferred
tax liabilities in net if, and only if:

(a) the entity has a legally enforceable right to
set off current tax assets against current tax
liabilities; and

(b) the deferred tax assets and the deferred tax
liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the
same taxation authority on either:

(i)  the same taxable entity; or

(i) different taxable entities which intend
either to settle current tax liabilities
and assets on a net basis, or to realise
the assets and settle the liabilities
simultaneously, in each future period in
which significant amounts of deferred
tax liabilities or assets are expected to be
settled or recovered.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
AR R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2019
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. FTEEEBKR (&)
(Continued)
2.10 Financial assets 210 SRUEE
Recognition and derecognition TERRARIEFERR

Financial assets are recognised in the consolidated
statement of financial position when the Group
becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the
instrument.

Financial assets are derecognised when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the
financial asset expire, or when the financial asset
and substantially all of its risks and rewards are
transferred.

Classification and initial measurement of
financial assets

Except for those trade receivables that do not contain
a significant financing component and are measured
at the transaction price in accordance with HKFRS
15, all financial assets are initially measured at fair
value, in case of a financial asset not at fair value
through profit or loss (“FVTPL”), plus transaction
costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition of
the financial asset.

Financial assets are measured at amortised cost.
The classification is determined by both:

- the entity’s business model for managing the
financial asset; and

- the contractual cash flow characteristics of the
financial asset.

Expected credit losses (“ECL") of trade and other
receivables is presented within “Administrative
expenses”.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

2.10 Financial assets (Continued)

2.1

Subsequent measurement - financial assets
at amortised cost

Financial assets are measured at amortised cost if
the assets meet the following conditions (and are not
designated as FVTPL):

- they are held within a business model whose
objective is to hold the financial assets and
collect its contractual cash flows; and

- the contractual terms of the financial assets give
rise to cash flows that are solely payments of
principal and interest on the principal amount
outstanding.

After initial recognition, these are measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method.
Interest income from these financial assets is
included in “Other income and gain, net” in profit
or loss. Discounting is omitted where the effect of
discounting is immaterial. The Group’s bank balances
and cash, trade and other receivables, amount due
from an associate and amount due from a joint
venture fall into this category of financial assets.

Credit loss and impairment of financial
assets

HKFRS 9’s impairment requirements use more
forward-looking information to recognise ECL — the
“ECL model”. Instruments within the scope included
loans and other debt-type financial assets measured
at amortised cost and trade receivables.

The Group considers a broader range of information
when assessing credit risk and measuring ECL,
including past events, current conditions, reasonable
and supportable forecasts that affect the expected
collectability of the future cash flows of the
instrument.

ANNUAL REPORT 2019

e MR

For the year ended 31 December 2019
HE-_ZT-NF+_A=1+—HLFE

(#8)

210 €MEE (F)

2.1

REAE - BREBER AT ENEME
E

MREEMF AN TRE LEREE
RARRBEFEEHEZEHT AR
) Al REERBERKAGTE -

- E-REREEATREE HEH
MEREEMEETRIELD
ENBRERE &

- SREEMNSNBREEMIR
eREARAERREEREH
ﬂ%\o

EIRTERE  SREEFEAERH
FRNBHEN AL E - ZEEMmE
EMNFBUWAGTABRRAG [EU
AR W FERE ] - RN EN
REKX - BIBEEALIR - AEBMIRIT
HEERRS - féf%&ﬁi\mrﬁﬂﬁﬁﬁ*”
W& T B 8 A ) TR A I R L — RS

ﬁ%mﬁﬂ%ﬁéﬁt%ﬁ@ﬂﬁ?

ERMEERREBERAE

FEMEREERFEIRNRERE
RAEAREMENERERERES
BB - [RMEEEEERERN ] - BER
M T A BEREHKATENER R
HiEHRZ EREEANE SR

AEEENEEERRKFTEREME
%Eﬁ?ﬁ%%)ﬁ%%éﬁ’]ﬁﬂ BB

EFH - BRIOR - A BRI
R BEBREYETARIRSE

MER TR AT Y EIE o

—E-NFRH

119



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e I ERARMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2019
HE-_ZT-NF+_A=+—HILFE
|

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. FEZHEBR (&)
(Continued)

b}

2.11 Credit loss and impairment of financial 211 SREEEEBEERRBIE (E)

120

assets (Continued)

In applying this forward-looking approach, a
distinction is made between:

- financial instruments that have not deteriorated
significantly in credit quality since initial
recognition or that have low credit risk (“Stage
17); and

- financial instruments that have deteriorated
significantly in credit quality since initial
recognition and whose credit risk is not low
(“Stage 2").

“Stage 3” would cover financial assets that have
objective evidence of impairment at the end of the
reporting period.

“12-month ECL” are recognised for the Stage 1
category while “lifetime ECL” are recognised for the
Stage 2 category.

Measurement of the ECL is determined by a
probability-weighted estimate of credit losses over the
expected life of the financial asset.

Trade receivables

For trade receivables, the Group applies a simplified
approach in calculating ECL and recognises a
loss allowance based on lifetime ECL at the end
of each reporting period. These are the expected
shortfalls in contractual cash flows, considering
the potential for default at any point during the life
of the financial assets. In calculating the ECL, the
Group has established a provision matrix that is
based on its historical credit loss experience and
external indicators, adjusted for forward-looking
factors specific to the debtors and the economic
environment.

To measure the ECL, trade receivables have been
grouped based on shared credit risk characteristics
and the past due status.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
AR R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2019
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. FEZHEBR (&)
(Continued)

2.11 Credit loss and impairment of financial

assets (Continued)

Other financial assets measured at amortised
cost

The Group measures the loss allowance of other
receivables equal to 12-month ECL, unless when
there has been a significant increase in credit risk
since initial recognition, the Group recognises lifetime
ECL. The assessment of whether lifetime ECL should
be recognised is based on significant increase in
the likelihood or risk of default occurring since initial
recognition.

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group
compares the risk of a default occurring on the
financial assets at the end of each reporting period
with the risk of default occurring on the financial
assets at the date of initial recognition. In making this
assessment, the Group considers both quantitative
and qualitative information that is reasonable and
supportable, including historical experience and
forward-looking information that is available without
undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has
increased significantly:

- an actual or expected significant deterioration in
the financial instrument’s external (if available)
or internal credit rating;

- significant deterioration in external market
indicators of credit risk, e.g. a significant
increase in the credit spread, the credit default
swap prices for the debtor;

- existing or forecast adverse changes in
business, financial or economic conditions that
are expected to cause a significant decrease in
the debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations;
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For the year ended 31 December 2019
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. FEZHEBR (&)
(Continued)

b}

2.11 Credit loss and impairment of financial 211 SREEEEBEERRBIE (E)

assets (Continued)

Other financial assets measured at amortised
cost (Continued)

- an actual or expected significant deterioration in
the operating results of the debtor; and

- an actual or expected significant adverse
change in the regulatory, economic, or
technological environment of the debtor that
results in a significant decrease in the debtor’s
ability to meet its debt obligations.

Despite the foregoing, the Group assumes that the
credit risk on a debt instrument has not increased
significantly since initial recognition if the debt
instrument is determined to have low credit risk at
the end of each reporting period. A debt instrument
is determined to have low credit risk if it has a low
risk of default, the borrower has strong capacity to
meet its contractual cash flow obligations in the near
term and adverse changes in economic and business
conditions in the longer term may, but will not
necessarily, reduce the ability of the borrower to fulfil
its contractual cash flow obligations.

For internal credit risk management, the Group
considers an event of default occurs when
information developed internally or obtained from
external sources indicates that the debtor is unlikely
to pay its creditors, including the Group, in full (without
taking into account any collateral held by the Group).

Credit-impaired financial assets

At the end of each reporting period, the Group
assesses whether a financial asset is credit-impaired.
A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or
more events that have a detrimental impact on the
estimated future cash flows of the financial asset have
occurred.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2019
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. FEZHEBR (&)
(Continued)

2.11 Credit loss and impairment of financial 211 SREEEEBEERRBIE (E)

assets (Continued)
Credit-impaired financial assets (Continued)

Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired
includes the following observable events:

- significant financial difficulties of the debtor;

- a breach of contract, such as a default or
delinquency in interest or principal payments;

- it becoming probable that the borrower will
enter into bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation;

- significant changes in the technological, market,
economic or legal environment that have an
adverse effect on the debtor; or

- the disappearance of an active market for a
security because of financial difficulties of the
issuer.

Write-off policy

The gross carrying amount of a financial asset is
written off (either partially or in full) to the extent
that there is no realistic prospect of recovery. This is
generally the case when the Group determines that
the debtor does not have assets or sources of income
that could generate sufficient cash flows to repay the
amounts subject to the write-off.

Subsequent recoveries of an asset that was previously
written off are recognised as a reversal of impairment
in profit or loss in the period in which the recovery
occurs.

Detailed analysis of the ECL assessment of trade
receivables and other financial assets measured at
amortised cost are set out in note 42.3.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. FEZHEBR (&)
(Continued)

b}

2.12 Impairment of non-financial assets 212 EMEERE

124

Property, plant and equipment, intangible assets,
right-of-use assets and interests in subsidiaries in the
statement of financial position of the Company, are
subject to impairment testing. These assets are tested
for impairment whenever there are indications that
the asset’s carrying amount may not be recoverable.

An impairment loss is recognised as an expense
immediately for the amount by which the asset’s
carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount.
Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value,
reflecting market conditions less costs of disposal,
and value in use. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their
present value using a pre-tax discount rate that
reflects current market assessment of the time value
of money and the risk specific to the asset.

For the purposes of assessing impairment, where
an asset does not generate cash inflows largely
independent from those from other assets, the
recoverable amount is determined for the smallest
group of assets that generate cash inflows
independently (i.e., a cash-generating unit). As
a result, some assets are tested individually for
impairment and some are tested at cash-generating
unit level. Corporate assets are allocated to individual
cash-generating units, when a reasonable and
consistent basis of allocation can be identified, or
otherwise they are allocated to the smallest group of
cash-generating units for which a reasonable and
consistent allocation basis can be identified.

Impairment losses recognised for cash-generating
units is charged pro rata to the assets in the cash-
generating unit, except that the carrying value of
an asset will not be reduced below its individual
fair value less cost of disposal, or value in use, if
determinable.
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For the year ended 31 December 2019
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. FTEEEBKR (&)
(Continued)

2.12 Impairment of non-financial assets 212 EmEERE (8)

(Continued)

An impairment loss is reversed if there has been a
favourable change in the estimates used to determine
the asset’s recoverable amount and only to the extent
that the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the
carrying amount that would have been determined,
net of depreciation or amortisation, if no impairment
loss had been recognised.

2.13 Interim financial reporting and

impairment

Under the Listing Rules, the Group is required to
prepare an interim financial report in compliance with
HKAS 34 “Interim Financial Reporting”, in respect of
the first six months of the financial year. At the end
of the interim period, the Group applies the same
impairment testing, recognition, and reversal criteria
as it would at the end of the financial year.

2.14 Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash at banks and
on hand and short-term highly liquid investments with
original maturities of three months or less that are
readily convertible into known amounts of cash and
which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes
in value.

2.15 Financial liabilities

The Group’s financial liabilities include trade and
other payables, amounts due to related companies,
secured loans, bonds, amount due to a director, loan
from shareholders and lease liabilities.

Financial liabilities are recognised when the Group
becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the
instrument.

Financial liabilities (other than lease liabilities) are
initially measured at fair value, and, where applicable,
adjusted for transaction costs unless the Group
designated a financial liability at FVTPL.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. FTEEER (&)
(Continued)

i

2.15 Financial liabilities (Continued) 215 ERLEE (&)

126

All interest related charges are recognised in
accordance with the Group’s accounting policy for
borrowing costs (see note 2.18).

A financial liability is derecognised when the
obligation under the liability is discharged or
cancelled or expired.

Where an existing financial liability is replaced by
another from the same lender on substantially
different terms, or the terms of an existing liability
are substantially modified, such an exchange or
modification is treated as a derecognition of the
original liability and the recognition of a new liability,
and the difference in the respective carrying amount
is recognised in profit or loss.

Trade and other payables, amounts due to related
companies, amount due to a director and loan from
shareholders

They are recognised initially at their fair values and
subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the
effective interest method.

Secured loans and bonds

Borrowings, including secured loans and bonds, are
recognised initially at fair value, net of transaction
costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently stated at
amortised cost; any difference between the proceeds
(net of transaction costs) and the redemption value
is recognised in profit or loss over the period of the
borrowings using the effective interest method.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless
the Group has an unconditional right to defer
settlement of the liability for at least twelve months
after the end of the reporting period.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2019
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

2.16 Contract assets and contract liabilities

2.17

A contract asset is recognised when the Group
recognises revenue (see note 2.4) before being
unconditionally entitled to the consideration under
the payment terms set out in the contract. Contract
assets are assessed for ECL in accordance with the
policy set out in note 2.11 and are reclassified to
receivables when the right to the consideration has
become unconditional.

A contract liability is recognised when the customer
pays consideration before the Group recognises the
related revenue (see note 2.4). A contract liability
would also be recognised if the Group has an
unconditional right to receive consideration before the
Group recognises the related revenue. In such cases,
a corresponding receivable would also be recognised
(see note 2.10).

For a single contract with the customer, either a net
contract asset or a net contract liability is presented.
For multiple contracts, contract assets and contract
liabilities of unrelated contracts are not presented on
a net basis.

Provision and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a
present obligation (legal or constructive) arising as
a result of a past event and it is probable that an
outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle
the obligation and a reliable estimate of the amount
of the obligations can be made. Where the time value
of money is material, provisions are stated at the
present value of the expenditure expected to settle
the obligation.

All provisions are reviewed at the end of each
reporting period and adjusted to reflect the current
best estimate.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. FEZHEBR (&)
(Continued)

b}

2.17 Provision and contingent liabilities 217 BERSAEE (E)

128

(Continued)

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required, or the amount cannot be
estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a
contingent liability, unless the probability of outflow
of economic benefits is remote. Possible obligations,
whose existence will only be confirmed by the
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more future
uncertain events not wholly within the control of the

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which
are assets that necessarily take a substantial period
of time to get ready for their intended use or sale, are
added to the cost of those assets until such time as
the assets are substantially ready for their intended
use or sale.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or
loss in the period in which they are incurred.

2.19 Employee benefits

Retirement benefit

Retirement benefits to employees are provided
through defined contribution plans.

Payments for defined contribution retirement schemes
to local governments in the PRC and Canada
pursuant to the relevant labour rules and regulations
in the PRC and Canada and the Mandatory Provident
Fund Scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) in Hong Kong
are recognised as an expense when employees have
rendered service entitling them to the contributions.

Contributions are recognised as an expense in profit
or loss as employees render services during the year.
The Group’s obligations under these plans are limited
to the fixed percentage contributions payable.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. FEZHEBR (&)
(Continued)

2.19 Employee benefits (Continued) 2.19 EEEF (&)

Short-term employee benefits

Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognised
when they accrue to employees. A provision is made
for the estimated liability for annual leave as a result
of services rendered by employees up to the end of
the reporting period.

Non-accumulating compensated absences such as
sick leave and maternity leave are not recognised
until the time of leave.

Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised at the earlier of
when the Group can no longer withdraw the offer of
those benefits and when it recognises restructuring
costs involving the payment of termination benefits.

2.20 Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Share
capital is recognised at the amount of consideration
of shares issued, after deducting any transaction
costs associated with the issuing of shares (net of
any related income tax benefit) to the extent they are
incremental costs directly attributable to the equity
transaction.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. FEZHEBR (&)
(Continued)
2.21 Leases 221 fHE

(a) Definition of a lease and the Group as a () HEMEERFEEZEEAN

130

lessee
Policy applicable from 1 January 2019

For any new contracts entered into on or after
1 January 2019, the Group considers whether
a contract is, or contains a lease. A lease is
defined as ‘a contract, or part of a contract,
that conveys the right to use an identified asset
(the underlying asset) for a period of time in
exchange for consideration’. To apply this
definition, the Group assesses whether the
contract meets three key evaluations which are
whether:

- the contracts contain an identified asset,
which is either explicitly identified in the
contract or implicitly specified by being
identified at the time the asset is made
available to the Group;

- the Group has the right to obtain
substantially all of the economic benefits
from use of the identified asset throughout
the period of use, considering its rights
within the defined scope of the contract;
and

- the Group has the right to direct the use
of the identified asset throughout the
period of use. The Group assess whether
it has the right to direct ‘how and for what
purpose’ the asset is used throughout the
period of use.

For contracts that contains a lease component
and one or more additional lease or non-
lease components, the Group allocates the
consideration in the contract to each lease
and non-lease component on the basis of their
relative stand-alone prices.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. FEZHEBR (&)
(Continued)
221 1HE (&)
() HABHEZRZEBMBRBEA

2.21 Leases (Continued)
(a) Definition of a lease and the Group as a

lessee (Continued) (#)
Policy applicable from 1 January 2019 H-FE—NF—H—HEHH
(Continued) IR (&)

Measurement and recognition of leases as a
lessee

At lease commencement date, the Group
recognises a right-of-use asset and a lease
liability in the consolidated statement of
financial position. The right-of-use asset is
measured at cost, which is made up of the
initial measurement of the lease liability, any
initial direct costs incurred by the Group, an
estimate of any costs to dismantle and remove
the underlying asset at the end of the lease,
and any lease payments made in advance of
the lease commencement date (net of any lease
incentives received).

The Group depreciates the right-of-use
asset on a straight-line basis from the lease
commencement date to the earlier of the end
of the useful life of the right-of-use asset or
the end of the lease term unless the Group is
reasonably certain to obtain ownership at the
end of the lease term. The Group also assesses
the right-of-use asset (except for those meeting
the definition of investment properties) for
impairment when such indicator exists.

At the commencement date, the Group
measures the lease liability at the present
value of the lease payments unpaid at that
date, discounted using the interest rate implicit
in the lease or, if that rate cannot be readily
determined, the Group’s incremental borrowing
rate.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. FEZHEBR (&)
(Continued)
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2.21 Leases (Continued) 221 #E (&)
(a) Definition of a lease and the Group as a (a) HEHMEHERAEBEBREAN

132

lessee (Continued)

Policy applicable from 1 January 2019
(Continued)

Measurement and recognition of leases as a
lessee (Continued)

Lease payments included in the measurement
of the lease liability are made up of fixed
payments (including in-substance fixed
payments) less any lease incentives receivable,
variable payments based on an index or rate,
and amounts expected to be payable under a
residual value guarantee. The lease payments
also include the exercise price of a purchase
option reasonably certain to be exercised by the
Group and payment of penalties for terminating
a lease, if the lease term reflects the Group
exercising the option to terminate.

Subsequent to initial measurement, the liability
will be reduced for lease payments made and
increased for interest cost on the lease liability.
It is remeasured to reflect any reassessment or
lease modification, or if there are changes in in-
substance fixed payments. The variable lease
payments that do not depend on an index or a
rate are recognised as expense in the period on
which the event or condition that triggers the
payment occurs.

When the lease is remeasured, the corresponding
adjustment is reflected in the right-of-use asset,
or profit or loss if the right-of-use asset is already
reduced to zero.

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted
for under HKFRS 9 and initially measured at
fair value. Adjustments to fair value at initial
recognition are considered as additional lease
payments and included in the cost of right-of-
use asset.
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HE-_ZT-NF+_A=1+—HLFE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. FEZHEBR (&)
(Continued)

2.21 Leases (Continued) 221 HHE (&)

(a) Definition of a lease and the Group as a (a) HEHMEHERAEBEBREAN
lessee (Continued) (#)
Policy applicable before 1 January 2019 R-ZFE-NF—H—HBZHE
FBIEE

An arrangement, comprising a transaction or
a series of transactions, is or contains a lease
if the Group determines that the arrangement
conveys a right to use a specific asset or
assets for an agreed period of time in return
for a payment or a series of payments. Such a
determination is made based on an evaluation
of the substance of the arrangement and is
regardless of whether the arrangement takes
the legal form of a lease. Assets that are held
by the Group under leases which transfer
to the Group substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership are classified as being
held under finance leases. Leases which do not
transfer substantially all the risks and rewards
of ownership to the Group are classified as
operating leases.

Operating lease charges as the lessee

Where the Group has the right to use of assets
held under operating leases, payments made
under the leases are charged to the profit or
loss on a straight-line basis over the lease
terms except where an alternative basis is more
representative of the time pattern of benefits
to be derived from the leased assets. Lease
incentives received are recognised in profit
or loss as an integral part of the aggregate
net lease payments made. Contingent rental
are charged to profit or loss in the accounting
period in which they are incurred.
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For the year ended 31 December 2019
HE-_ZT-NF+_A=+—HILFE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. FEZHEBR (&)
(Continued)

2.22 Equity-settled share-based payment 2.22 RESHEE R BERA T

134

transactions

Equity-settled share-based payments to employees
and other eligible participants are measured at the
fair value of the share options at the grant date.
Details regarding the determination of the fair value of
equity-settled share-based transactions are set out in
note 39.

The fair value determined at the grant date of the
equity-settled share-based payments is expensed on
a straight-line basis over the vesting period, based
on the Group’s estimate of share options that will
eventually vest, with a corresponding increase in
share options reserve in equity.

At the end of each reporting period, the Group revises
its estimate of the number of share options expected
to vest. The impact of the revision of the original
estimates, if any, is recognised in profit or loss such
that the cumulative expense reflects the revised
estimate, with a corresponding adjustment to share
options reserve.

For share options that vest immediately at the date
of grant, the fair value of the share options granted is
expensed immediately to profit or loss.

When share options are exercised, the amount
previously recognised in share options reserve will be
transferred to share capital. When the share options
are cancelled, the amount of unvested portion will be
expensed immediately to profit or loss, the amount
previously recognised in share options reserve will be
transferred to accumulated losses.
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For the year ended 31 December 2019
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. FEZHEBR (&)
(Continued)

2.23 Government grants 2.23 BIRFFEED

Grants from the government are recognised at their
fair value where there is a reasonable assurance that
the grant will be received and the Group will comply
with all attached conditions. Government grants are
deferred and recognised in profit or loss over the
period necessary to match them with the costs that
the grants are intended to compensate. Government
grants relating to the purchase of assets are included
in liabilities as “deferred government grants” in the
consolidated statement of financial position and
are recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line
basis over the expected lives of the related assets/
deducted from the carrying amount of the asset and
consequently are effectively recognised in profit or
loss over the useful life of the asset by way of reduced
depreciation expense.

Government grants relating to income is presented
in gross under “Other income and gain, net” in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income.

2.24 Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each
segment item reported in the consolidated financial
statements, are identified from the financial
information provided regularly to the Group’s most
senior executive management for the purposes
of allocating resources to, and assessing the
performance of, the Group's various lines of business
and geographical locations.

Individually material operating segments are not
aggregated for financial reporting purposes unless the
segments have similar economic characteristics and
are similar in respect of the nature of products and
services, the nature of production processes, the type
or class of customers, the methods used to distribute
the products or provide the services, and the nature
of the regulatory environment. Operating segments
which are not individually material may be aggregated
if they share a majority of these criteria.
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For the year ended 31 December 2019
HE-_ZT-NF+_A=+—HILFE
|

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. FTEEFEX ()
(Continued)
2.25 Related parties 2.25 FAMT
For the purpose of these consolidated financial ARG EMB]wEMS - FEUTE
statements, a party is considered to be related to the (EREOW NGy =1-=vNC S S )
Group if:
(@) the party is a person or a close member of that (@) ZATRTEUTHEHEMNAL
person’s family and if that person: gl - B AT :
(i)  has control or joint control over of the () HAEEEZEHELLR
Group; PR
(i)  has significant influence over the Group; (il HAEBBEEATLESN
or 59
(i) is a member of the key management (i) AREAEEHANEEFAA
personnel of the Group or of a parent of MEZEREKE °
the Group.
(b) the party is an entity and if any of the following (b) ZATREBAEFTEUTENM
conditions applies: e 1 -
(i)  the entity and the Group are members of () ZEBERAEERFR-—
the same group; BHKE R A
(i) one entity is an associate or joint venture (il ZEBRHEMER (_JZE
of the other entity (or an associate or joint ZERFBEBRNKEA
venture of a member of a group of which R EEE AR A **/JE%)
the other entity is a member); )N =
(i) the entity and the Group are joint ventures (i) ZEBRASERR—
of the same third party; =HMEERE
(iv) one entity is a joint venture of a third entity vy —EAERBARFE=-FEE
and the other entity is an associate of the MNeghE M BB
third entity; REZE=DEBNEZEN
al;
(v) the entity is a post-employment benefit () ZREBBASEIEARS
plan for the benefit of employees of either EERBN BRI ESR
the Group or an entity related to the A 2% 37 H B B 12 48 A &t
Group; =
(vi) the entity is controlled or jointly controlled (Vi) ZERBH —BR@IEH
by a person identified in (a); B9 A A I Sk E )
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(Continued)

2.25 Related parties (Continued)

(b) the party is an entity and if any of the following
conditions applies (Continued):

(vii) a person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member
of the key management personnel of the
entity (or of a parent of the entity); or

(viii) the entity, or any member of a group
of which it is a part, provides key
management personnel services to the
Group or to the Group’s parent.

Close members of the family of a person are those
family members who may be expected to influence,
or be influenced by, that person in their dealings with
the entity.

CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES
AND ADOPTION OF NEW AND AMENDED
HKFRSs

New and amended HKFRSs that are
effective for annual periods beginning on or
after 1 January 2019

In the current year, the Group has applied for the first time
the following new and amended HKFRSs issued by the
HKICPA, which are relevant to the Group’s operations and
effective for the Group’s consolidated financial statements
for the annual period beginning on 1 January 2019:

HKFRS 16 Leases
Amendments to HKFRS 9 Prepayment Features with
Negative Compensation

Annual Improvements to
HKFRSs 2015-2017 Cycle

Amendments to HKFRSs
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CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES
AND ADOPTION OF NEW AND AMENDED
HKFRSs (Continued)

New and amended HKFRSs that are
effective for annual periods beginning on or
after 1 January 2019 (Continued)

Other than the impact of the adoption of HKFRS 16 as
noted below, the adoption of the new and amended
HKFRSs had no material impact on how the results and
financial position for the current and prior periods have
been prepared and presented.

HKFRS 16 “Leases” (“HKFRS 16”)

HKFRS 16 “Leases” replaces HKAS 17 “Leases” (“HKAS
17") along with three Interpretations (HK(IFRIC)-Int 4
“Determining whether an Arrangement contains a Lease”
(“HK(IFRIC)-Int 4”), HK(SIC) Int-15 “Operating Leases-
Incentives” and HK(SIC) Int-27 “Evaluating the Substance
of Transactions Involving the Legal Form of a Lease”).
The Group has elected to use the modified retrospective
approach, with the cumulative effect of adoption HKFRS
16 being recognised in equity as an adjustment to the
opening balance of accumulated losses for the current
period. Prior periods have not been restated and continued
to be reported under HKAS 17.

For contracts in place at the date of initial application, the
Group has elected to apply the definition of a lease from
HKAS 17 and HK(IFRIC)-Int 4 and has not applied HKFRS
16 to arrangements that were previously not identified as
leases under HKAS 17 and HK(IFRIC)-Int 4.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES
AND ADOPTION OF NEW AND AMENDED
HKFRSs (Continued)

New and amended HKFRSs that are
effective for annual periods beginning on or
after 1 January 2019 (Continued)

HKFRS 16 “Leases” (“HKFRS 16”) (Continued)

AS a lessee

Instead of performing an impairment review on the right-
of-use asset at the date of initial application, the Group
has relied on its historical assessment as to whether
leases were onerous immediately before the date of initial
application of HKFRS 16.

The Group has adopted HKFRS 16 retrospectively from
1 January 2019, but has not restated comparative
information for the prior reporting period, as permitted
under the specific transitional provisions in the standard. At
this date, the Group has also elected to measure right-of-
use assets at its carrying amount as if HKFRS 16 has been
applied since the commencement date, but discounted
using the lessee’s incremental borrowing rate at the date
of initial application. The reclassifications and adjustments
arising from the new leasing rules are therefore not
reflected in the consolidated statement of financial position
as at 31 December 2018, but are recognised in the
opening consolidated statement of financial position as at
1 January 2019.
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CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES
AND ADOPTION OF NEW AND AMENDED
HKFRSs (Continued)

New and amended HKFRSs that are
effective for annual periods beginning on or
after 1 January 2019 (Continued)

HKFRS 16 “Leases” (“HKFRS 16”) (Continued)

AS a lessee (Continued)

The weighted average incremental borrowing rate applied
to lease liabilities recognised under HKFRS 16 was 5.13%
per annum.

The following table reconciles the operating lease
commitments as at 31 December 2018 to the opening
balance for leases liabilities recognised as at 1 January
2019:

3.

ERTBUR BB R R TR R
AIEBMBREER (K)

R-F—NAE—RA—HBHZENE
BB ER T REETEEY
R ()

BEBUMBRERENE 165 [HE] ([FE
MBHEERE 1655 ]) (4F)

TERAETA (8)

REBEFBYHHMEEE 16 R ERNEE
BEMNEFDREERFNER5.13%

TREIWR_ZE—NF+=-_A=+—HH
CEREREEN T —NF— A — B
RO EAE 2 BVEHREER

HK$'000
FH&T
Operating lease commitments at RZZE-N\F+ZA=+—8H2
31 December 2018 (note 37) ERE AR (HE37) 5,041
Less: total future interest expense W RRF B 258 (437)
Present value of lease liabilities recognised RZE—NE—A—HERZ
at 1 January 2019 HERERE 4,604
Classified as AR
Current lease liabilities mEHEAE 1,665
Non-current lease liabilities B EaE 2,939
4,604
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3. CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. BFBUREHRIFMHEI RRZE
AND ADOPTION OF NEW AND AMENDED FAIEEMBHREER (&)
HKFRSs (Continued)

New and amended HKFRSs that are R-F—AE—A—HBZEME
effective for annual periods beginning on or EHEER ZHET RRETEEMT
after 1 January 2019 (Continued) &R (4E)
HKFRS 16 “Leases” (“HKFRS 16”) (Continued) BEBUBREENE16% [HE] ([F#
BB EEAE 165 ) ()
As a lessee (Continued) tERAFMA (&)
The remaining contractual maturities of the Group’s lease R-_E—hhF—A—0 AEEHEA®E
liabilities as at 1 January 2019 are as follows: 2 FIBEDHRAM R T -
As at
1 January
2019
i
—E-nEF
—HA—H
HK$’000
FHET
Total minimum lease payments: RERBER KB
Within one year R—FNR 1,890
In the second to fifth years RE_ZERF 3,151
5,041
Less: future finance charges on leases liabilites 7 : & & &R K 75 E A (437)
Present value of lease liabilities HEaERE 4,604
Present value of minimum lease payments: RERERNFIRE :
Within one year R—FRA 1,665
In the second to fifth years REZEZERF 2,939
4,604
There is no material impact to the financial performance RANBE BB ELERE 16 R H BRI
and cash flows upon the adoption of HKFRS 16. FIRERWEEARTE -
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CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES
AND ADOPTION OF NEW AND AMENDED
HKFRSs (Continued)

New and amended HKFRSs that are
effective for annual periods beginning on or
after 1 January 2019 (Continued)

HKFRS 16 “Leases” (“HKFRS 16”) (Continued)

AS a lessee (Continued)

The following table summarises the impact of transition
to HKFRS 16 on the Group’s consolidated statement of
financial position at 1 January 2019:

3.

ERTBUR BB R R TR R
AIEBMBREER (K)

R-F—NAE—RA—HBHZENE
BB ER T REETEEY
R ()

BEBUMBRERENE 165 [HE] ([FE
MBRELRE 1655 ]) (H)

TERAETA (8)

TERBAUEREEF BT MRS ERE 1657
HAKENR_T-NF-—A—BZHEY
IR ROFE

HK$'000
FET
Increase in right-of-use assets EREEELN GEREBEE)

(non-current assets) 4,576
Increase in lease liabilities (current liabilities) HEBELEM OREBEE) (1,665)
Increase in lease liabilities HEBEEM GERBEARE)

(non-current liabilities) (2,939)
Increase in accumulated losses EFTEBEE 28

Issued but not yet effective HKFRSs

The following new standards, amendments and
interpretations have been published but are not mandatory
effective, and have not been early adopted by the Group:

Sale or Contribution of
Assets between an
Investor and its Associate
or Joint Venture!

Definition of Material®

Amendments to HKFRS 10
and HKAS 28

Amendments to HKAS 1
and HKAS 8

Amendments to HKFRS 3 Definition of a Business?

L Effective date not yet determined

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2020
3 Effective for business combinations and asset acquisitions for

which the acquisition date is on or after the beginning of the
first annual period beginning on or after 1 January 2020
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CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES
AND ADOPTION OF NEW AND AMENDED
HKFRSs (Continued)

Issued but not yet effective HKFRSs
(Continued)

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 “Sale or
Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture”

The amendments remove an acknowledged inconsistency
between the requirements in HKFRS 10 “Consolidated
Financial Statements” and those in HKAS 28 (2011)
“Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures”, in dealing
with the sale or contribution of assets between an investor
and its associate or joint venture and require that a full gain
or loss is recognised when a transaction involves a business
(whether it is housed in a subsidiary or not). A partial gain
or loss is recognised when a transaction involves assets
that do not constitute a business, even if these assets are
housed in a subsidiary.

The amendments were originally effective prospectively to
transactions occurring in annual period beginning on or
after 1 January 2016. However, such effective date has
been postponed indefinitely with earlier adoption permitted.
The directors expect that the amendments have no material
impact on the consolidated financial statements.

Amendments to HKAS1 and HKAS 8 “Definition of
Material”

The amendments clarify the definition of material and
state that “information is material if omitting, misstating
or obscuring it could reasonably be expected to influence
the decisions that the primary users of general purpose
financial statements make on the basis of those financial
statements, which provide financial information about a
specific reporting entity”. Materiality depends on nature or
magnitude of information or both.

The amendments also:

o introduce the concept of obscuring information when
considering materiality and provide some examples of
circumstances that may result in material information
being obscured;
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CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES
AND ADOPTION OF NEW AND AMENDED
HKFRSs (Continued)

Issued but not yet effective HKFRSs
(Continued)

Amendments to HKAS1 and HKAS 8 “Definition of
Material” (Continued)

o clarify that materiality assessment will need to take
into account how primary users could reasonably
be expected to be influenced in making economic
decisions by replacing the threshold “could influence”
with “could reasonably be expected to influence” in
the definition of material; and

o clarify that materiality assessment will need to take
into account of information provided to primary users
of general purpose financial statements (i.e. existing
and potential investors, lenders and other creditors
that rely on general purpose financial statements for
much of the financial information they need).

Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKAS 8 are effective for
annual reporting period beginning on or after 1 January
2020 and apply prospectively. Earlier application is
permitted. The directors expect that the amendments have
no material impact on the Group’s consolidated financial
statements.

Amendments to HKFRS 3 “Definition of a Business”

The amendments narrowed and clarified the definition
of a business, with the objective of assisting entities to
determine whether a transaction should be accounted for
as a business combination or as an asset acquisition.

The amendments:

° clarify that a business is considered as an acquired
set of activities and assets must include, at a
minimum, an input and a substantive process that
together significantly contribute to the ability to create
outputs. Guidance and illustrative examples are
provided to help entities assess whether a substantive
process has been acquired;
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CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES
AND ADOPTION OF NEW AND AMENDED
HKFRSs (Continued)

Issued but not yet effective HKFRSs
(Continued)

Amendments to HKFRS 3 “Definition of a Business
(Continued)

”

o narrow the definitions of a business and of outputs
by focusing on goods and services provided to
customers and by removing the reference to an ability
to reduce costs;

o add an optional concentration test that permits
simplified assessment of whether an acquired set of
activities and assets is not a business; and

o remove the assessment of whether market
participants are capable of replacing any missing
inputs or processes and continuing to produce
outputs.

Amendments to HKFRS 3 is effective for annual reporting
period beginning on or after 1 January 2020 and apply
prospectively. Earlier application is permitted. The directors
expect that the amendments have no material impact on
the Group’s consolidated financial statements.

The Group is in the process of making an assessment of
what the impact of these amendments, new standards
and interpretations is expected to be in the period of initial
application. The directors anticipate that the application of
all new and amendments to HKFRSs and interpretations
will have no material impact on the consolidated financial
statements of the Group.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

i\\/T\

BB HRRN T

For the year ended 31 December 2019

AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s significant accounting
policies, which are described in note 2, the directors of
the Company are required to make judgements, estimates
and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources.
The estimates and underlying assumptions are based on
historical experience and other factors that are considered
to be relevant. Actual results may differ from these
estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on
an on-going basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised
if the revision affects only that period, or in the period of
the revision and future periods if the revision affects both
current and future periods.

The followings are the key assumptions concerning the
future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at
the end of the reporting period, that have a significant risk
of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts
of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are
discussed below:

Impairment of non-current assets

The Group reviews the carrying amounts of the non-current
assets including property, plant and equipment, right-of-
use assets and intangible assets at the end of the reporting
period to determine whether there is objective evidence of
impairment. When indication of impairment is identified
for property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets,
management assesses its recoverable amount by reference
to the transaction prices of similar assets within the same
industry, less costs of disposal for development land and
the present value of discounted cash flows for resort hotel
and other property, plant and equipment.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Impairment of non-current assets
(Continued)

When indication of impairment is identified for intangible
assets, management prepares discounted future cash flows
to assess the differences between the carrying amount
and value in use and provide for the impairment loss. Any
change in assumption adopted in the cash flow forecasts
or fair value assessments would increase or decrease in the
provision of impairment loss and affect the Group’s profit or
loss for the year.

As at 31 December 2019, the carrying values of property,
plant and equipment, right-of-use assets and intangible
assets of the Group were approximately HK$86,724,000
(2018: HK$84,738,000), HK$2,853,000 (2018: HK$NIl)
and HK$25,467,000 (2018: HK$30,029,000) respectively.
No impairment loss was recognised during the years ended
31 December 2019 and 2018.

Loss allowance of trade and other
receivables

Loss allowance of trade and other receivables are assessed
and provided based on the directors’ regular review of
ageing analysis, evaluation of collectability, comparison with
collection performance against historical trends provisioning
methodology such as risk of default and expected credit
loss rate. A considerable level of judgement is exercised by
the directors when assessing the credit worthiness and past
collection history of each individual customer, assumption
of default and forward-looking estimates. An increase or
decrease in the above impairment loss would affect the
profit or loss in the year and in future years.

When the actual future cash flows are different from
expected, such difference will impact the carrying amount
of trade receivables and other financial assets within the
scope of ECL.
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For the year ended 31 December 2019

AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Loss allowance of trade and other
receivables (Continued)

As at 31 December 2019, the carrying amount of trade
and other receivables of the Group was approximately
HK$28,301,000 (2018: HK$37,712,000), net of loss
allowance of trade receivables and other receivables of
approximately HK$21,092,000 (2018: HK$6,611,000)
and HK$1,689,000 (2018: HK$Nil) respectively. As at
31 December 2019, the carrying amount of amounts due
from subsidiaries of the Company was HK$99,381,000
(2018: HK$80,999,000), net of allowance for impairment
loss of amounts due from subsidiaries of approximately
HK$161,439,000 (2018: HK$157,505,000).

Amortised cost of amount due to a
shareholder/director

The directors of the Company use their best estimation
to determine the effective interest rate in calculating the
amortised cost of amount due to a shareholder, with
reference to the market rates. Should the estimates
applied are different, the carrying value of these amounts
will be changed. As at 31 December 2019, the carrying
amount of amount due to a shareholder was approximately
HK$2,769,000 (2018: amount due to a director of
HK$3,315,000).

Income taxes

Determining income tax provisions involves judgement
on the future tax treatment of certain transactions and
interpretation of tax rules. The Group carefully evaluates
tax implications of transactions and tax provisions are set
up accordingly. The tax treatment of such transactions is
reconsidered periodically to take into account all changes
in tax legislation. Details of taxation are set out in note 12.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Income taxes (Continued)

Deferred tax asset is recognised for unused tax loss to
the extent that it is probable that foreseeable profit will
be available against which the losses can be utilised.
Significant management judgement is required to
determine the amount of deferred tax assets that can be
recognised, based upon the likely timing and level of future
taxable profits together with future tax planning strategies.
The amount of deferred tax assets recognised as at 31
December 2019 was HK$1,749,000 (2018: HK$Nil).
Further details are contained in note 29 to the consolidated
financial statements.

Management's assessment is constantly reviewed and
additional deferred tax assets are recognised if it becomes
probable that future taxable profits will allow the deferred
tax asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax liabilities have not been established for income
tax and withholding tax that would be payable on certain
profits of PRC subsidiaries to be repatriated and distributed
by way of dividends as the directors consider that the
timing of the reversal of the related temporary differences
can be controlled and such temporary differences will not
be reversed in the foreseeable future. If those undistributed
earnings of the PRC subsidiaries are considered to be
repatriated and distributed by way of dividends, deferred
tax liabilities of approximately HK$2,040,000 would be
provided as at 31 December 2019 (2018: HK$1,742,000).
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For the year ended 31 December 2019

AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Amortisation charges of intangible assets
and depreciation charges of property, plant
and equipment

Intangible assets and property, plant and equipment
are amortised or depreciated on a straight-line basis
over the estimated useful lives of the assets, after taking
into account the estimated residual value, if any. The
Group reviews the estimated useful lives of the assets
regularly in order to determine the amount of amortisation
or depreciation expenses to be recorded during each
financial year. The useful lives are based on the Group’s
historical experience with similar assets and taking into
account anticipated technological changes. As at 31
December 2019, the carrying amount of intangible assets
and property, plant and equipment of the Group was
approximately HK$25,467,000 (2018: HK$30,029,000)
and HK$86,724,000 (2018: HK$84,738,000) respectively.

The amortisation or depreciation expenses for future
periods are adjusted if there are significant changes from
previous estimates. Carrying amounts of the intangible
assets and property plant and equipment are set out in
notes 16 and 15 respectively.

Investment in Total Blossom Sdn Bhd (“Total
Blossom")

The Group holds 49% of the ordinary shares in Total
Blossom. As major operating decisions are made by
another shareholder which holds 51% of the ordinary
shares, the directors of the Company consider that the
Group has significant influence in Total Blossom and Total
Blossom is classified as an associate of the Group by using
equity method, details of which are set out in note 19.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Going concern and liquidity

As explained in note 2.1, which indicates that as at 31
December 2019 the Group’s current liabilities exceeded
its current assets by HK$64,030,000. Such event or
condition indicates that a material uncertainty that may
cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as
a going concern. The directors of the Company consider
that the Group has ability to continue as a going concern.
The validity of the going concern basis depends on the
management’s arrangements to address the going concern
issue as described in note 2.1. The assessment of the
going concern assumptions involves making judgement by
the directors of the Company, at a particular point of time,
about the future outcome of events or conditions which are
inherently uncertain.

REVENUE

The Group’s principal activities are disclosed in note 1 of
the consolidated financial statements. Revenue from the
Group’s principal activities recognised during the year is as
follows:
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2019 2018
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HK$’000 HK$'000

FHT FHET

Hotel operation income B S 44,372 44,757
Properties management income SELBLT PN 47,856 49,825
92,228 94 582
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e I ERARMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2019
HE-_ZT-NF+_A=+—HILFE
|

5. REVENUE (Continued) 5. Yz (&)

Disaggregation of revenue s 25 Z BR 4R
The Group derives revenue from the transfer of goods and AEBW KB BERF R ERE —RHEEBT
services over time and at a point in time in the following THERER RMEMSE®EmER
major product lines and geographical markets: %

Hotel operation Properties management Total

BELE NEER @t
2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018

ZB-E | ZEN\E| ZB-AE | ZE\F | ZB-0E | ZEAF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Tign e Tign B FiEn TAL

Hotel accommodation BEETE 15,464 14112 - - 15,464 14112
Food and beverage 28 21,645 22,988 - - 21,645 22,988
Others 2t 7,263 7,657 - - 7,263 7,657
Properties management NEER - = 47,856 49825 47,856 49,825
44,372 44757 47,856 49 825 92228 94 582

2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018

ZE-nE | ZEN\E| ZE-hE| ZE-NE| ZE-hE | ZE-NE

Timing of revenue Al HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
recognition pd: TR FHT T FAT TET TET
At a point in time EXE—ERI% 21,645 22,983 - = 21,645 22,988
Over time [ 22,727 21,769 47,856 49825 70,583 71,594
44,372 44,757 47,856 49825 92,228 94 58?2

2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018

ze-ng | “F0F| cg-pf | SEAE | zeong | c3o
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

Geographical markets HEHS TiEx THr TR THr THx T
PRC i - - 47,856 49,825 47,856 49,825
(Canada MEX 44,372 44,757 - - 44,372 44757

44,372 44,757 47,856 49,825 92,228 94,582
The Group has recognised the aggregated amount of AEBERZRNBERRIEEZEHEE
transaction price allocated to the unsatisfied performance T*%ﬁi@%ﬁf&ﬂ’b&%f’ﬁ%ﬁ’][m\@%ﬁ
obligations as at the end of the reporting period under (fi3E26) - NEETEE - DEEERTKE
contract liabilities (note 26). The Group expects the HNEENRZERBERASEREFEY
transaction price allocated to the unsatisfied performance BEmsRBEER Ak

obligations will be recognised as revenue when the Group
transfers goods or services to the customers.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Group’s reportable and operating segments, based on
information reported to the Chief Executive Officer, being
the chief operating decision maker (“CODM”), for the
purposes of resource allocation and assessment of segment
performance focuses on goods or services provided are as
follows:

(1) Hotel operation
Operation of a resort in Canada.

(2) Properties management
Properties management in the PRC.

Segment results, assets and liabilities

For the purposes of assessing segment performance and
allocating resources between segments, the Group’s senior
executive management monitors the results, assets and
liabilities attributable to each reportable segment on the
following bases:

Revenue and expenses are allocated to the reportable
segments with reference to sales generated by those
segments and the expenses incurred by those segments
or which otherwise arise from the finance costs,
depreciation of property, plant and equipment, interest
income, amortisation, loss on disposal of property, plant
and equipment and loss allowance of trade and other
receivables attributable to those segments.

All assets are allocated to reportable segments other
than bank balances and cash, amounts due from related
companies, interest in an associate, interests in joint
ventures, right-of-use assets, and unallocated head office
and corporate assets; and all liabilities are allocated to
reportable segments other than amount due to a director,
loan from shareholders, bonds, secured loans, deferred tax
liabilities, lease liabilities and unallocated head office and
corporate liabilities.
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For the year ended 31 December 2019
HE_Z-NFT_A=1+—HILFE

i\‘/T\

- |
6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

Segment results, assets and liabilities

(Continued)

(a) The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue,
results and other material items by reportable and

operating segments:

6. SHEREHR (&)
DERE - BERARE (F)

(a) AEEIRAIZMRLLEDEE D 2H
& FENEMBEAEESNAT

2019 —E-hEF
Hotel Properties
Operation management Total
B L E=¢: #@st
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’'000
FERT FERT FERT
Revenue from external customers REMFEF 2 Wz 44,372 47,856 92,228
Segment profit/(loss) derived from REAEEIMEEF 2
the Group’s external customers ~ 2EBEF, (EiE) 817 (2,161) (1,344)
Finance costs BEKA (2,131) - (2,131)
Depreciation of property, M - R RSETE
plant and equipment (3,015) (135) (3,150)
Interest income FEMA - 15 15
Amortisation B - (4,562) (4,562)
Loss on disposal of property, HEDHE « BN RE
plant and equipment Z 18 (34) - (34)
Loss allowance of trade and B 5 R E b EUER R
other receivables BiERE - (16,509) (16,509)
Segment assets PEEE 87,363 54,280 141,643
Additions to non-current NEERBDEEE
segment assets 607 1,135 1,742
Segment liabilities PHEE 39,960 18,786 58,746
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6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)
Segment results, assets and liabilities
(Continued)

(a) The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue,
results and other material items by reportable and
operating segments (Continued):

2018 (Note)

e MR

For the year ended 31 December 2019
HE-_ZT-NF+_A=1+—HLFE

6. TEEHR (&)
DERE - BERARE (F)

(a) AEEIRAIZMRLLEDEE D 2H
m KENMEMERBESNEAT
(#&) :

==\ (D)

Hotel Properties

Operation management Total

B R MEER a5t

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FET FET

Revenue from external customers REMEFEFE 2 Wi 44,757 49,825 94,582
Segment profit derived from the REZXEBIMNEERS

Group’s external customers Z o EEF 903 11,778 12,681

Finance costs AR (2,176) - (2,176)

Depreciation e (3,343) (58) (3,401)

Interest income B A = 20 20

Amortisation i = (4,562) (4,562)

Gain on disposal of property, HEYHE « B

plant and equipment R W 7 = 7

Loss allowance of trade receivables ‘2 5 fE UL BR 2k &5 18 B - (1,199) (1,199)

Segment assets PHEE 86,704 63,993 150,697
Additions to non-current NEFERBDEHEE

segment assets 2,286 38 2,324

Segment liabilities PHEE 41,422 17,340 58,762

Note: The Group has initially applied HKFRS 16 at 1 January
2019, using the modified retrospective approach. Under
this approach, comparative information is not restated.
See note 3.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
AR R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2019
HE_Z-NFT_A=1+—HILFE

Segment results, assets and liabilities

6. SHEREHR (&)
DERE - BERARE (F)

(Continued)
(b) Reconciliation of reportable segment profit or loss, (b) AIEHoHEE  BEERBEZYH
assets and liabilities: i :
2019 2018
—E-NEF —E-N\F
HK$’000 HK$' 000
FERT FAT
Profit from operations REHER 2 A
Segment (loss)/profit S (B18) 5 (1,344) 12,681
Gain on amount to a shareholder TIEHERFIR AR BEZY
stated at fair value upon Z BN —RBRERFRIE 2 W
initial recognition 241 -
Gain on amount to a director stated ~ #IATERRFIZ AR BEES 2
at fair value upon initial recognition Nt —RZEEZHIB 2 Wk - 151
Depreciation e
— Property, plant and equipment o/ ERR S - (61)
— Right-of-use assets - fEREEE (1,723) -
Equity-settled share-based AR E 2 BRI T R F 2
payment expenses (6,290) (9,840)
Other finance costs HAbgh & A (3,840) (5,346)
Share of profit of an associate e —MAEE A RR N 1,171 -
Share of (losses)/profits DMhEEDE (BER) 5
of joint ventures (94) 553
Loss on disposal of subsidiaries HENRB A REE (885) -
Unallocated head office and KRBz BE R RFIFREZ
corporate expenses (18,052) (18,722)
Consolidated loss before income tax 434 K Fr{S%: A E548 (30,816) (20,584)

FOREBASE INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
AR R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2019
HE-_ZT-NF+_A=1+—HLFE

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 6. TERER (&)
Segment results, assets and liabilities TEHEE EERAHE (B)
(Continued)
(b) Reconciliation of reportable segment profit or loss, (b) AIEWmHEER BERBEZIYHE
assets and liabilities (Continued): (88) :
2019 2018
—E-hEF —E-N\F
HK$’000 HK$' 000
FERT FAT
Assets EE
Reportable segment assets AIE2MHPEE 141,643 150,697
Bank balances and cash RITHEBR MRS 6,898 7,757
Amounts due from related JFE UL BB X B FIR
companies - 648
Interest in an associate R—EBE R 2 21,070 =
Interests in joint ventures REEPEIER 44,516 44,604
Right-of-use assets ERERE 2,853 -
Unallocated head office and RO B RAREE
corporate assets 1,426 1971
Consolidated total assets IREBERRE 218,406 205,677
Liabilities aE
Reportable segment liabilities 2wy BaE 58,746 58,762
Amount due to a director R —REEHIR - 3,315
Bonds B 60,181 60,181
Deferred tax liabilities EERIAEE 5,849 6,305
Lease liabilities HEBE 2,939 —
Loan from shareholders R E R 11,187 =
Unallocated head office Rolicz BHBRAFIEE
and corporate liabilities 18,384 12,995
Consolidated total liabilities A B EERE 157,286 141,558
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e I ERARMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2019
HE-_ZT-NF+_A=+—HILFE
|

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 6. TEPER (8)
Geographical information EER

The geographical location of customers is based on the
location at which the services were provided or the goods

BEF MR B REHREAR N E R
W EET - FRBEENMIEMER

delivered. The geographical location of the non-current BEENERUE (%% s Rk R
assets is based on the physical location of the assets, in RAEEE) RESREEFEMEN (B

the case of property, plant and equipment, right-of-use
assets; and the location of the operations to which they
are allocated, in the case of intangible assets, interest in
an associate and interests in joint ventures. Non-current
assets do not include deferred tax asset for the purpose of
geographical information disclosure.

The Group’s operations are principally located in Hong
Kong, Canada, Malaysia and the PRC (excluding Hong
Kong).

The Group’s revenue from external customers and
information about its non-current assets by geographical
locations are detailed below:

BE - R— F’EJH%%/D\TZVE&H’\Q%TE
¥0RR)EBET - AMIEERIRERLR
IERMBEEW TR IRRERIBEE -

AEBEBEEMNEE  NEX - FXK

Paas KRB (FABRRIM) ©

AEBERBINELP WS N BBEIERE
BEZEMREEMEIFSIIT

Revenue from

external customers

Non-current assets

HBEF 2 WE FRBEE
2019 2018 2019 2018
—g-nE| —P-NF| —E-hE| —2NF
HK$’'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TExT FAET FTHERx FAT
Canada VN 44,372 44,757 85,615 84,611
Hong Kong B8 - = 2,853 =
Malaysia oo i - = 21,070 =
The PRC HE
(excluding Hong Kong) (BAERIN) 47,856 49,825 71,092 74,760
92,228 94,582 180,630 159,371
Information about major customers FREEERZERN
There is no single external customer contributed over HE-Z-NFE=ZZ—N\F+=A
10% of the total revenue of the Group for the years ended =+—HLFE  BEESIINEEFER

31 December 2019 and 2018. AEEBRWZBBE10% °
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
AR R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2019
HE-_ZT-NF+_A=1+—HLFE

7. OTHER INCOME AND GAIN, NET 7. Htnlg N R EZFHE
2019 2018
—E-NEF —E-N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET THTT
Interest income from bank deposits ~ $R7T1F 7k 2 Fll 2 U A 15 21
(Loss)/gain on disposal of property, HEWE « e RRE (BE) ks
plant and equipment (34) 7
Gain on amount due to a shareholder ¥IAFEREILZ A f [BE 2 HIER
stated at fair value upon — BRI 2 W
initial recognition 241 -
Gain on amount due to a director R IR A R BESYER
stated at fair value upon —REEFE W
initial recognition - 151
Government rewards (note) AT 52 (PRE) 454 629
Interest income from amount due B —RFE=F B Z FEUA
from a third party - 475
Recognition of income attributable RAEAE B EEHEERA
to unused gift certificates 781 -
Others EAh 403 126
1,860 1,409
Note: The government rewards provided by the PRC government to Mzt : REIEF A EERE BT RS EE
the Group were paid mainly as an incentive for maintaining AREFSEEYESIERBIELD 2 526 -
good quality of properties management service. There are no WER BT 52 B N B I A 1 s AR & -
conditions and contingencies attached to the receipt of the WEIESFE T -

government rewards and they are non-recurring in nature.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e I ERARMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2019
HE-_ZT-NF+_A=+—HILFE

8. FINANCE COSTS 8. MAEMA
2019 2018
—E-NEF —E-N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET THTT
(Note)
(Ff3E)
Interests on: A
— Secured loans - WIREK 2,131 2,176
— Bonds - &5 3,405 3,352
— Imputed interest on amount due - JEfT —ZIRERFIA 2 HEF S
to a shareholder 199 -
— Imputed interest on amount due - FEff — BB FFIH 2 HEEF S
to a director - 1,994
— Lease liabilities -HEaRE 236 —
5,971 7,522
Note: The Group has initially applied HKFRS 16 at 1 January Mz : AEBR=_T—NFE— A —BEHXEAES
2019, using the modified retrospective approach. Under this WS TREERIE 165 - MALISETBWE ©
approach, comparative information is not restated. See note 3. BARE % - EEE R MET o BHIFES -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR

For the year ended 31 December 2019
HE-_ZT-NF+_A=1+—HLFE

9. LOSS BEFORE INCOME TAX 9. MBRETBHWEE
Loss before income tax has been arrived at after charging: BRETISTIRIESIERET E E 0Bk ¢
2019 2018
—E-hE —T—N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
(Note)
(BfF5E)
Auditor’s remuneration Gl 1,049 860
Operating lease charges: minimum &&HERFR :
lease payments (note) SEBERFK (M) - 1,964
Staff costs (including directors’ BIAA (BIERHEE I0HKE
emolument disclosed in note 10) E=HM) 48,155 53,871
— salaries, wages, allowances and - &% - IT& ~ 2B K
other benefits in kind B EYEF 39,541 40,894
— bonus — {E4L 152 600
— retirement schemes contributions  — 3EK5TE] 2 3k 2,172 2,537
— equity-settled share-based - AREEE 2
payment expenses RO R 6,290 9,840
Cost of inventories FERKA 7,915 8,385
Depreciation e 4,862 3,462
— Property, plant and equipment -3 - WS KRR (FIEE15)
(note 15) 3,150 3,462
— Right-of-use assets (note 17) - fEAEEE (HE17) 1,723 -
Amortisation of intangible assets mEEESH (iE16)
(note 16) 4,562 4. 562
Loss on disposal of subsidiaries HEMBAR 2 EE (HiE35)
(note 35) 885 -
Loss allowance of trade receivables & 5 EW R ZUE B
(note 22(a)) (B5E22(a)) 14,820 1,199
Loss allowance of other receivables £ th & U BR B 18 B4
(note 22(b)) (Ft3E22(b)) 1,689 —

Note: The Group has initially applied HKFRS 16 at 1 January
2019, using the modified retrospective approach. Under this
approach, comparative information is not restated. See note 3.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR

For the year ended 31 December 2019
HE_ZT-NF+_A=1+—HILFE

10. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S 10. EERITHARBME
EMOLUMENTS

BIEEFEB D BEHE383(1) ER AT (3

Directors’ and chief executive’'s emoluments, disclosed

162

pursuant to section 383(1) of the Hong Kong Companies BEEMNRER) ROIE 2 HREEER
Ordinance and Part 2 of the Companies (Disclosure of ITRBENMEIT -
Information about Benefits of Directors) Regulation, are as
follows:
2019 —E-hE
Salaries,
allowances  Retirement
and benefits  Share-based
benefits schemes payment
in kind contributions expenses
Fees & - 2HK BHBER  UBRHXE Total
e BNER HEGEE :0]F @t
HK$’'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THL TR THT TR TR
(note h)
(HzEh)
Executive directors BTEZ
Mr. Choi Yun Chor (note a) ZRNEE (Mita)

(Co-Chairman) (MEXE) - 135 5 - 140
Ms. Yeung So Mui (note a) gLt (Hifa)

(Co-Chairman) (BEXR) - 54 3 - 57
Mr. Chen Jian (note a) BrRigsc A (fiizta) - 54 3 - 57
Mr. Tai Kwok Keung Kenny (notea) ~ EiEI3& 5t 4 (Fffsa) - 54 3 - 57
Mr. Ng Kwai Wah Sunny (note a) REEEL (fia) - 135 5 - 140
Mr. Lin Junwei (note a) MR EE (Hita) - 135 5 - 140
Mr. Shen Yong (note b) BELE (F:Eb) 1,161 - - 63 1,224
Mr. Gan Lin (note ¢) HREE (MzEc) - 939 9 252 1,200
Mr. Pang Huan Kun (note d) gt (HiEa) - 1,438 - - 1,438
Ms. Wang Vi Ya (note e) T—Het (Fiske) 63 - - - 63
Non-executive director FHTES
Mr. Huang Xiang Yang (note f) 'R EE (K 533 - - 178 711
Independent non-executive directors BYFHTES
Ms. Lai Cheuk Yu Cherrie (noteg) ~ REm&t (fiztg) 41 - - - 41
Mr. Ting Wong Kacee (note g) TEEE (Miite) 41 - - - 41
Mr. Yu Lei (note f) REfiE (e 107 - - - 107
Mr. Emst Rudolf Zimmermann (note f) RIS X4 (Ff) 160 - - - 160
Dr. Loke Yu BEEMEL 240 - - - 240

2,346 2,944 33 493 5,816
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
AR R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2019
HE_Z-NFT+_A=1+—HIFE
.

10. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S 10. ESRITHARME (F)

EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

2018 —F-N\F
Salaries,
allowances Retirement
and benefits  Share-based
benefits in schemes payment
kind contributions EXPEnses
Fees & 2B R Bonus  RIFER MRHZA Total
e BEWEA i AR MFX b
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$'000
T T T T T T
(note j) (note h)
() (MzEn)
Executive directors HiTES
Mr. Shen Yong (Chairman) (note b) BELE (XF)
(BzED) 1,200 - - - 107 1,307
Mr. Gan Lin (Chief Executive Officer) HF%E (11HEeR)

(note c) (FitEe) - 2,000 250 18 542 2,810
Mr. Shen Ke (note i) R4 (i) 210 = = - 1,066 1276
Non-executive director FHUTES
Mr. Huang Xiang Yang (note f) BRGEE () 600 - - - 197 797
Independent non-executive directors BUFHTES
Dr. Loke Yu BEmEL 240 - - - - 240
Mr. Emst Rudolf Zimmermann (note f) AHXEE (M) 180 = - - = 180
Mr. Yu Lei (note f) Raik () 120 - - - - 120

2,550 2,000 250 18 1912 6,730
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e I ERARMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2019
HE-_ZT-NF+_A=+—HILFE
|

10. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S 10. EERITHAKZBENE (8)
EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

164

Notes: FifsE
(@)  Mr. Choi Yun Chor, Ms. Yeung So Mui, Mr. Chen Jian, Mr. (a) EHYGLE  BERIEZE BRELE - #E
Tai Kwok Keung Kenny, Mr. Ng Kwai Wah Sunny and Mr. Lin W REBAEERMERTEENRST
Junwei were appointed as executive directors on 10 October —NWE+ATHEEZERNITES -
2019.
(b)  Mr. Shen Yong was removed on 19 December 2019. (by HBEER-_Z—NF+_A+ILBHE
@ o
() Mr. Gan Lin resigned on 11 June 2019. () HEEERZZT—NFASAT+—HEIT-
(d)  Mr. Pang Huan Kun was appointed as an executive director on (d) BHEEAR-ZF-—NFA+—BHEZE
11 June 2019 and resigned on 20 November 2019. RWTES  UR_T—NF+—HA=+H
BHT o
() Ms. Wang Yi Ya was appointed as an executive director on () F—HHTR=_ZT-—NFAT—HEZMT
11 June 2019 and was removed on 19 December 2019. AHITES  YR=_T—-NF+=A+1H
WE S °
(f)  Mr. Huang Xiang Yang, Mr. Yu Lei and Mr. Ernst Rudolf ()  HRBEE  REAERAFIEER=F
Zimmermann resigned on 20 November 2019. —NF+—AZ+HEHE -
(g Ms. Lai Cheuk Yu Cherrie and Mr. Ting Wong Kacee were () HREMZEIRTEBREER-_ZF—NF+A+

(h)

(i)
0)

appointed as independent non-executive directors on
10 October 2019.

The value of share options granted to the directors is measured

(h)

HEREREIENTES -

RTEENBERENEEDREAEERH

according to the Group’s accounting policy for share-based Hﬁﬁiﬁ?@% MBI BARETE - HIFH
payment transactions as set out in note 2.22. The details of RIFEE2.22 - ZEEMEAFE (BEEE

these benefits in kind including the principal terms and number
of options granted are disclosed in note 39.

Mr. Shen Ke resigned on 21 September 2018.

No bonuses were paid to the above directors during the year
ended 31 December 2019.

FOREBASE INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
AR R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2019
HE-_ZT-NF+_A=1+—HLFE

11. INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST 1. 5FHFMAL
EMOLUMENTS
Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments, four rEBRAERRFMALTH e (ZF
(2018: four) are directors whose emoluments are reflected —N\F:m1E) BARAIEE HfieE
in the analysis presented in note 10. The emoluments in R EXHFEI0AELETE - FRBRT—H
respect of the remaining one (2018: one) individual during (ZZE—N\F : —8) AT REFE
the year are as follows: W
2019 2018
—E-hE —T-N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FExT FET
Salaries, allowances and benefits e R REWEF
in kind 1,388 1,221
Bonus TEAT 107 290
Retirement benefits schemes RIRAEFFT B K
contributions 18 18
Equity-settled share-based VARE 25 45 8 ARR (9
payment expenses REROZ A 219 214
1,732 1,743
The above individual’'s emolument was within the following it AT®EN S SBEFTIAT -
bands:

Number of individuals

EEAH

2019 2018

—E-NF —T-N\F

HK$1,500,001 — HK$2,000,000 1,500,001 & T2 2,000,000 78 7T 1 1
There was no arrangement during the years ended REBEZ-T-NEFE=ZFT—-N\F+ZA
31 December 2019 and 2018, under which the directors or =+—HUEFE EFHRET=aTMHMA
the five highest paid individuals waived or agreed to waive THEER IR LB E SR B R EER
any remuneration, and no emoluments were paid by the e BASEETERNEETIAEES
Group to the directors or the five highest paid individuals A LTZ R ERME - AMEAMBASE
as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group, or as IR MBAREERN RS HIERBERM

compensation for loss of office. & -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

i\\/T\

BB HRRN T

For the year ended 31 December 2019
HE-_ZT-NF+_A=+—HILFE

12. INCOME TAX (CREDIT)/EXPENSES 12. FAEHL GRH0) X
Taxation in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and RiFeEmRkEMEEKERA 2 HIE
other comprehensive income represents: 15
2019 2018
—EF-NF —T—)\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET THT
PRC Corporate Income Tax (“CIT") FEL¥MEH
Provision for the year REZEE 1,859 1,920
Deferred tax (note 29) EEBE (F15E29)
Current year REEZ . (2,459) (684)
Effect on opening deferred tax HENEMESEEED
balance arising from a change HRYR R IR s SR o &
in tax rate during the year 228 -
(2,231) (684)
(372) 1,236
Notes: FffaE -
(@)  No Hong Kong Profits Tax has been provided in the consolidated (@) HBHRAEBREHE—_ZT—NLFE= )\i
financial statements as the Group had no assessable profit in T+TZRA=1— Eiifﬁﬁféﬁm/ﬁJU
Hong Kong for the years ended 31 December 2019 and 2018. WERNRE SRR TR BB SR A
(b)  Provision for the PRC CIT is calculated at 25% of the estimated (b) ‘:F' lﬁ%ﬁﬁ SHBBEIDUBEZE-T—NFK
assessable profits for the years ended 31 December 2019 and R NFFZRA=tT—HIEFEZ4TE
2018. %ﬁ'ﬁﬁiﬁﬁlﬁﬁ 25% st 8
(c)  Provision for the PRC CIT for Nuofute Property Management (c) EEAEHVEEBEAERAF ([EBEHY
Co., Ltd.* ERHEFMEEEAR AT (“Nuofute Property XEH]) cHPECEMEBHEBEDAEE
Management”) is calculated at 15% of the estimated assessable —E-N\F+ZA=T—HIEEFE A5
profits for the year ended 31 December 2018. Nuofute Property JERBURFIZ 5% E - B MEEE
Management is qualified as a company under the development TR RAEHAAE T 2 EERAR » AJZE
strategy of the PRC'’s western region and is able to enjoy a HAEHE15% °
preferential income tax rate of 15%.
Pursuant to the relevant laws and regulation in the PRC, IRERBMEBERERER  AEEMEESE
Nuofute Property Management is qualified as small low-profit HEPAMABEER  WREBEZZ—N
enterprises enjoyed a preferential tax rate of 20% for the year F+ZA=+—HILFEZH20%BEH
ended 31 December 2019. In addition, in accordance with Koo AN - IRIE (AR /NIRRT B L
the “Notice on Preferential Income Tax Policies Applicable to EEBRERMNBA)  BHEZZT—NF+=A
Small Low-profit Enterprises”, Nuofute Property Management =+ —HIEFENERRMBAERARE
is also entitled to a tax concession for 75% and 50% of its 1,000,000 7T X i i A K # 1,000,000 7T {8
taxable income for the annual taxable income of less than DR AR 3,000,0007T (5) B3 « &
RMB1,000,000 and the portion that exceeds RMB1,000,000 BERUEEENAIDBZEART75% K50% )
but does not exceed RMB3,000,000 (inclusive) for the year FERTUR AT IR &,
ended 31 December 2019, respectively.
(d)  Canadian Corporation Tax is calculated at Federal Tax rate of (d) BEZZ-NAFT+-A=1+T—HILFE M

FOREBASE

15% (2018: 15%) and British Columbia Provincial Tax rate of
12% on the estimated assessable profits for the year ended 31
December 2019 (2018: 11%). No provision for taxation has
been made as there is no assessable profit for the years ended
31 December 2019 and 2018.

INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
AR R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2019
HE-_ZT-NF+_A=1+—HLFE

12. INCOME TAX (CREDIT)/EXPENSES 12. FRBH GGRN) FX (@)
(Continued)
Notes (Continued): Mtz (&) :
(e)  United States of America (“USA”) Corporation Tax is calculated () ZEBERARABIIREBEE—ZT—NFRER=T—/)\
at Federal Tax rate of 21% and California State Income Tax F+ZRA=+— EJJ:iJ*ZfEquJEu%Rmﬂ
rate of 8.84% on the estimated assessable profits for the years IREE IR 21% RANFITRE T INF = 8.84%
ended 31 December 2019 and 2018. No provision for taxation FE - -BARBE_T-NLEFE=T—N\F
has been made as there is no assessable profit for the years TZA=T—BHILFERWEERTER - )
ended 31 December 2019 and 2018. W AEETH R B IR
(f)  Pursuant to the rules and regulations of the BVI, the Group is (H WREEBEZBESHRAKER HEZT
not subject to any income tax in the BVI for the years ended 31 —NERZZTE-—N\F+ZA=+—HBLHF
December 2019 and 2018. % o AEEBAMRI A BRE IS EMME
* For identification purpose only. Z A
Reconciliation between accounting loss and income tax IEBREZEAREAENMEH (K
(credit)/expenses at applicable tax rate is as follows: %) /AXZEEROT
2019 2018
—E-NEF —E-N\F
HK$’000 HK$' 000
FET BT
Loss before income tax BRETISEERIESIE (30,816) (20,584)
Notional tax on loss before RREANEANE R AR
income tax, calculated at the rates & FIZFRE - BBRETS AT
applicable to profit in the tax EEFENRENIE
jurisdictions concerned (5,391) (3,532)
Tax effect of expenses not deductible “NA] 1% 5 s BV FR 75 52 2
for tax purpose 3,617 3,269
Effect on opening deferred tax HEANRREEEEER
balance arising from a change BVIEET B A 2
in tax rate during the year 228 -
Tax effect of income not taxable for /BN TTURA TR ISHE
tax purpose (362) (253)
Tax effect of utilisation of previously B % BT ARIER T IS EE
unrecognised tax losses KRS R 2 (165) -
Tax effect of unused tax losses and KBTI IBETE M
other temporary differences Hit kR ER
not recognised RIS 5o 2 1,701 1,752
Income tax (credit)/expenses REEMFEHR (BR) FHX
for the year (372) 1,236
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e I ERARMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2019
HE-_ZT-NF+_A=+—HILFE

13. DIVIDEND 13. g2
No dividend was paid or proposed during the years ended HE_Z-—NFRZZE-N\F+= H
31 December 2019 and 2018, nor has any dividend been =+—HIEFE - WERFIEZRR
proposed since the end of the reporting period. B ERMEHRURINREZETARE ©
14. LOSS PER SHARE 14. BRRIBHE
The calculation of the basic and diluted loss per share AARIESRRELNERERAREEE
attributable to equity shareholders of the Company is based BIHERNTIEEFAHE
on the following:
2019 2018
—E-hF —T-N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FAT
Loss EE
Loss for the purpose of basic AR ESREREENER
loss per share
Loss for the year attributable to RRalE=R R EEHNAFEEE
equity shareholders
of the Company (30,444) (21,820)
'000 ‘000
B &
Number of shares Ko E
Weighted average number of R+—-—A=+—HHX
ordinary shares as at 3B A% e T L
31 December 711,588 531,213
The diluted loss per share is the same as basic loss per HE_Z—NLEFER_ZE—N\F+=A
share as the Company did not have any outstanding =t+—RHLEFE - EEE/\L" 7) I A ] 15
dilutive potential ordinary shares during the years ended REANBEEEL AR  SREEEE
31 December 2019 and 2018. ENENBRERER -

168 FOREBASE INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED REBRKRERERAT



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
AR R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2019
HE_Z-NFT+_A=1+—HIFE

15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 15. 1% - BB
Freehold land
and buildings Other
held for property,
own use Leasehold plant and
KXAEE  improvements Motor equipment
T REE HE vehicles A% - Total
HRKET VEES] RE HERRE H)

HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000
TEL TEL TR TEL TAL

Cost A&
As at 1 January 2018 WZZ—\$—H—H 97,383 1,594 701 7,765 107,443
Exchange adjustments B 5 AR (7,606) - - (439) (8,045)
Additions NE 1,736 - - 588 2,324
Disposals hE - - - (439) (439)
Asat31 December 2018  R=Z—)\F
and 1 January 2019 T-A=+-Bk

“E-NE-A—H 91,513 1,594 701 7475 101,283
Exchange adjustments [ 5 3783 - (14) 297 4,066
Additions NE 108 - 983 651 1,742
Disposals hE - - - (273) 273)
As at 31 December 2019 RZE-hE+ZB=1-H 95,404 1,594 1,670 8,150 106,818
Depreciation and impairment 7T ERAE
As at 1 January 2018 WZZ—\$—H—H 7,360 1,594 643 5,000 14,597
Exchange adjustments & 5 AR (660) - - (415) (1,075)
Charge for the year REES A 1857 - 58 1,547 3462
Written back on disposals & B3 - - - (439) (439)
Asat31 December 2018  R=F—)\F

and 1 January 2019 +=A=t-BkK

“E-NE-A—H 8,557 1,594 701 5,693 16,545
Exchange adjustments B 5 385 = (1) 248 632
Charge for the year KEELH 1,703 - 79 1,368 3,150
Written back on disposals &R i3 - - - (233) (233)
As at 31 December 2019 RIE-hE+ZF=1-H 10,645 1,594 779 7,076 20,094
Carrying values REE
As at 31 December 2019 RZE-hE+=R=1-H 84,759 - 891 1,074 86,724
Asat31 December 2018  W=F-\F+ZA=1-H 82,956 - - 1,782 84,738
As at 31 December 2019, the Group’s freehold land and RZZB-—NEF+-_A=+—H xEER
buildings held for own use located outside Hong Kong with EBIRINFE - BREEL) & 84,759,000%5
carrying amount of approximately HK$84,759,000 (2018: 70 (ZZF — )\ : 82,956,000/& ) AIK
HK$82,956,000) were pledged to the secured loans (see AFXBEITHEFIEEANEFEHEATE
note 30). HE (2BM15E30) °
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For the year ended 31 December 2019
HE-_ZT-NF+_A=+—HILFE
|

16. INTANGIBLE ASSETS 6. BN EE
Customers
relationship
EFEBE
HK$’000
T
Cost 2%
As at 1 January 2018, RZZ2E—N\F—A—H ZZF—N\F
31 December 2018, +=—A=+—H - ZZE—N&F—A—H
1 January 2019 and r—FE-NF+=-_A=+—H
31 December 2019 45,616
Amortisation ey
As at 1 January 2018 R_ZE—\F—HA—H 11,025
Charges for the year KEEER 4,562
As at 31 December 2018 and RZE—N\F+-A=+—H8K
1 January 2019 “E-hF—H—H 15,587
Charges for the year rEEEA 4,562
As at 31 December 2019 R-ZE—-hAF+=-A=+—H 20,149
Carrying values IREE
As at 31 December 2019 R-ZZE—-NF+=ZA=+—H 25,467
As at 31 December 2018 R=_ZF—N\F+=—_A=+—H 30,029

The amortisation charge for the year is included in REBEHERF AGe B REMEE

170

“Administrative expenses” in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

The customers relationship was acquired from third parties
through business combinations. It was amortised on a
straight-line basis over 10 years. The remaining useful life
of the intangible assets was 6 years.

The discount rates reflect specific risks relation to the
relevant cash-generating units. The retention rates within
the remaining six-year period have been based on the
past experience and management’s expectation of market
development.

FOREBASE INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED

WasRHH) [TTHRFEX BT o

BEPRAEIEREBAHEE = KE -
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17.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued)

The following table sets forth each key assumption on
which management has based its cash flow projections to
undertake impairment testing of intangible assets as at 31
December 2019:

16.

e MR

For the year ended 31 December 2019
HE-_ZT-NF+_A=1+—HLFE

BEEE (B)

TREIN-_F-NF+-_A=+—H"
EREETReENEVANARETLEE
BERAHAERARN SR EZRR

2019 2018

—E-hF —T-N\F

Discount rates BEIR & 18.2% 17.7%
Retention rates R L& 85.8% — 92.7% | 89.5% — 94.6%

The management of the Group considered that no
impairment of intangible assets is necessary as at 31
December 2019 and 2018.

RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS

Upon initial application of HKFRS 16, the right-of-use
assets represent lease of office in Hong Kong.

17.

FEBERERS R-E—NER-T
—N\E+=A=+—R HEMEAERE
HE -

ERERE

BREAEEMEHRELENE 165 - £
REERRETBNHAEEE -

HK$' 000

FET

As at 31 December 2018 RZZE-—N\F+ZH=+—H -
Impact on initial application IR FE B A IS 2R

of HKFRS 16 (note 3) F 165k E (FIEE3) 4,576

As at 1 January 2019, adjusted RZE—NEF—HA—H  &FE 4,576

Depreciation for the year FRFE (1,723)

As at 31 December 2019 R-ZZE—-NF+=ZA=+—H 2,853
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For the year ended 31 December 2019
HE-_ZT-NF+_A=+—HILFE

18. INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES 18. KRB AR Z#EHE

Particulars of the principal subsidiaries as at 31 December RZEB-NEFERZZE-N\F+ZA=*+—
2019 and 2018 are as follows: HREZKMBARFBWT -

Place of Particulars of

incorporation/ issued and fully

establishment/ paid share capital/

operation registered capital Proportion ownership interest
Name of subsidiaries IMRL/HYL/ EBRIRARRE/ held by the Company Principal activities
WEAREH feny AERzHE MAD AR 2 ERRRLA IERH

Directly Indirectly
B i

2019 2018 2019 2018
e I E AR

Forebase Canada Limited Hong Kong 1 share, HK$1 - - 100% 100% Investment holding

BEMEAARAA Bk 1R 18T RERR

Forebase Group Limited Hong Kong 1 share, HK$1 100% 100% - - Investment holding

HASEARAT B 1R 18R RERR

Forebase Victoria Holdings (anada 1 share, Canadian dollar - - 100% 100% Hotel operation
Limited nex (“CAD")1 iliF

1K 1gA7 (7))

Forebase Enterprise Limited Hong Kong 1 share, HK$1 100% 100% - - Investment holding
HABXARAT 3 1R 147 RARR
Forebase China Limited Hong Kong 1 share, HK$1 - - 100% 100% Investment holding
REREARAR Bh 18 157 REARR
Forebase Hong Kong Limited Hong Kong 1 share, HK$1 - - 100% 100% Provision of
BEREARAA Bk 1% 157 adminisirative
support to group
companies
HEBRARE
xR
Uttimate Frontier Limited BVI 1 share, United States - - 100% 100% Investment holding
AERAER Dollar (*US$")1 RER
1% 157
(%))
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AR R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2019
HE_Z-NFT+_A=1+—HIFE

L
18. INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 18. RMB AR Z#E (&)

Particulars of the principal subsidiaries as at 31 December RZEB-NEFERZZE-N\F+ZA=*+—
2019 and 2018 are as follows (Continued): AREZEMBARBNT (&) :
Place of Particulars of
incorporation/ issued and fully
establishment/ paid share capital/
operation registered capital Proportion ownership interest
Name of subsidiaries HMRL/ ML/ EBRIRARRE/ held by the Company Principal activities
WEAREH fepy AfERzHE RAD AR 2 ERRRLA IERH
Directly Indirectly
B 3
2019 2018 2019 2018
ZE-NE| 2R\ | ZB-AE | BN\
Forebase International Hong Kong 1 share, HK$1 - - 100% 100% Inactive
Healthcare and Senior & 15 1% RS
Living Hotel Management
Service Limited
RERRRRREEEEE
BHARAT
Equity Stream Limited ™ BVI 1 share, USS1 - - - 100% Investment holding
EBRAES 1% 1%7 RERR
Keen Capture Limited ™ Hong Kong 1 share, HK$1 - - - 100% Investment holding
ERARAR ™ 3 1R 147 RERR
Capital Knight Limited BVI 1 share, US§1 - - 100% 100% Investment holding
EBRAES 1% 1%7 RERR
Easy Chase Limited Hong Kong 1 share, HK$1 - - 100% 100% Investment holding
BRARAT (35 1R 1A% RARR
Forebase US Holdings Limited USA 100 shares, US$31 each 100% 100% - - Investment holding
e 100% - §R31ER RERR
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For the year ended 31 December 2019
HE-_ZT-NF+_A=+—HILFE

18. INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

Particulars of the principal subsidiaries as at 31 December
2019 and 2018 are as follows (Continued):

18.

R B ARz ()

—NER-F-\Ft-A=+-—
AeERMBARFENT (&)

Place of Particulars of
incorporation/ issued and fully
establishment/ paid share capital/
operation registered capital Proportion ownership interest
Name of subsidiaries HMRL/ B/ BRAIREERE/ held by the Company Principal activities
WEARER feny AERzHE MAD AR 2 ERRRLA IEER
Directly Indirectly
E# 13
2019 2018 2019 2018
“E-0F [ ZF0\F | ZB-nF [ 220
Wanwei (Chongging) Business PRC US$400,000 - - 100% 100% Investment holding
Management Co., Ltd.* i 400,000% T REER
BE (2F) REERARAR
Chongqing Wanwei Trading PRC Renminbi - - 100% 100% Investment holding
Development Co, Lid* b (‘RMB") 1,000,000 RERR
EFEREAERERAR AR¥1,00000070
Nuofute Property Management ~ PRC RMB5,000,000 - - 100% 100% Properties management
Co., Ltd* hE ARE5,000,0007 nEER
ERRERNAERARAT
Chengdu Aoshenda PRC HK$10,000,000 - = - 100% Business management
Business Management ki 10,000,077t EEER
Limited Liabilty Co.
HARRERLER
ERELAR
Freemaster Limited BVI 1 share, US$1 100% - - - Investment holding
ABRUES 1R 1% RERR
Cherish Possession Limited BVI 1 share, US$1 - - 100% - Investment holding
EBRUES 1R 1%8 RERR
Notes: FifsE
2 The English translation of the name of the companies * RHPBEKZH AR Z B GEREHRSE - %

established in the PRC is for reference only. The official names
of the companies are in Chinese.

o Acquired on 14 March 2019.
***  Acquired on 17 April 2019. Refer to note 34 for details.

****  Disposed on 27 August 2019. It is a subsidiary of Equity Stream
Limited. Refer to note 35 for details.

W These entities were established in the PRC and are wholly-
owned foreign enterprises.

None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt securities at
the end of both years or during both years.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
AR R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2019
HE_Z-NFT+_A=1+—HIFE

19. INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE 19. RA—REBENRAZER

2019
—E-hEF
HK$’000
FET
Share of net assets EIEEESE 7,406
Amount due from an associate JrE U — Fel Bt i R B IR 13,664
21,070

Represented by: A
Investment costs LB KA 6,235
Share of post-acquisition reserves FE(S R R R 1,171
7,406
Amount due from an associate JE I — e B & A B 50 13,664
At 31 December ®+=ZA=+—~” 21,070
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i\\/T\

BB HRRN T

For the year ended 31 December 2019

HEz—
]

19.

F-NET-A=+-BLEE

INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE (Continued)

The following list contains only the particulars of the
associate, which is an is unlisted corporate entity whose
quoted market price is not available, which in the opinion
of the directors principally affected the results or net assets
of the Group as at 31 December 2019.

19. R—EBERRAZER (F)

TREHNEZA/YAEER TN
FT_A=t-BEMXEREEFERE
AFENBERRZFE  IABZE AT
YRFELETRRIER - WEMSRE

Place of Particulars of issued
incorporation/ and fully paid
operation share capital Proportion ownership interest
Name MR/ REINE held by the Company Principal activities
8 Bews RRAFE RADRRE A RERLA TEXK
Indirectly
[t
2019 2018
“e-nE| T\
Total Blossom Malaysia 1,000 shares, 49% - Properties investment
SRED Malaysian Ringgit for rental
1 each NEREMELMRS
1,000 + &k
I5RBELH

In April 2019, Freemaster Limited (“Freemaster”), a wholly
owned subsidiary of the Company, entered into a sales and
purchase agreement (“Agreement”) with two independent
third parties, for the acquisition of 100% equity interest
in Cherish Possession Limited (“Cherish Possession”) at
a total consideration of approximately HK$19,899,000,
represented by the issuance of 58,527,776 ordinary shares
at a market value of HK$0.34 per share. The acquisition
was completed on 17 April 2019 (note 27(a)). Cherish
Possession did not operate any business prior to the
acquisition. Instead, it mainly holds 49% equity interest
in Total Blossom which is a private limited company
incorporated in Malaysia.

The Group holds 49% of the ordinary shares in Total
Blossom. As major operating decisions are made by
another shareholder which holds 51% of the ordinary
shares, the directors of the Company consider that the
Group has significant influence in Total Blossom and Total
Blossom was accounted for as an associate of the Group
by using the equity method.

The amount due from an associate is unsecured, non-
interest bearing and repayable on demand. The Controlling
Shareholders have undertaken to indemnify the Group
against any losses that may result from the non-recovery of
the amount due from an associate of HK$13,664,000.

FOREBASE INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED

N =—ZF— AF W A  Freemaster Limited
([Freemaster| * AR AIHE2EWE QA
HMEBIE=RILE B ([ %
%) LA Uk BE Cherish Possession Limited
([Cherish Possession]) #)100%/%#E » 42
R B4 /519,899,000/8 7T » FR AT
% (BB 3 1% 0.34 7 7T 3 17 58,527,776 1K
TRk WEENR -_Z—AENA++
B ek (M5E27(a)) - RUEE AT  Cherish
Posses&onjlﬂ%&%f_jc@¥ﬁ o RZ %

A REE A Total Blossom ) 49% S
Total Blossom A 55 2R 74 oo 5 i Al 372 A9 Al
ABRAF] o

NN Bl A Total Blossom ) 49% i @A ©
HREREEREAFFALI% E @R
HMREEL @ A4 7§$%7%$’$I£J
Total Blossom & B & K & £ 77 # Total
Blossom J3 LA # zi )2 1E /2 72N 52 [ B & 1 7
AR ©

fEW —MBtE RN R RIBAEER 28K
AR EKIFER - IERMREAEL RS
[B] & L — [ Bsk & B3R 7E 13,664,000 7 7T
FREl 2 B g R A EBIEL RE o
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AR R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2019
HE_Z-NFT+_A=1+—HIFE

L
19. INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE (Continued) 19. R—EBE QR Z# D ()

Set out below are the summarised financial information T2 &5l Total Blossom HI#E 2 81 &k}
of Total Blossom which is accounted for using the equity B RAEREAARK :
method:
2019
—E-NEF
HK$’000
FET
Non-current assets EmBEE 43,000
Current asset MEEE 2
Current liabilities mEAE (27,885)
Net assets BEFE 15,117
Included in the above FEENREERE
assets and liabilities:
Current financial liabilities mEeRmasE
(excluding trade and other (TEEE S MEMEMER R EE)
payables and provisions) (27,885)
For the
period from
17 April 2019
(date of

acquisition) to
31 December

2019
B=Z—-hF
MA++tA
(WEEBRHE) 2
—E-NEF
+=A
=+—HHE
HK$’000
FET
Revenue Wz -
Profit before income tax bR F{S AR B A 2,390
Profit and total comprehensive E-ZE-NFHA++tH
income for the period from (WERE) 2= —h4F
17 April 2019 (date of acquisition) ~+=A=+—HHM=F]
to 31 December 2019 PENEEEnt k] 2,390
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For the year ended 31 December 2019
HE_Z-NFT_A=1+—HILFE
|

20. INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES 20. REEttEZHER

2019 2018
—E-hEF —E-N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Share of net assets EHEEFRE 14,993 15,081
Amounts due from a joint venture B —FRAEDER 29,523 29,523
44,516 44,604

Represented by: B :
Investment costs FE KA 15,758 15,758
Share of post-acquisition reserves  JE{GUREE T4 (15 459 553
16,217 16,311
Amounts due from a joint venture B —RE& E > EHKTE 29,523 29,523
Exchange adjustments bE W FE R (1,224) (1,230)
At 31 December R+=-—A=+—H 44,516 44,604
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20. INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES
(Continued)

The following list contains only the particulars of joint
ventures, all of which are unlisted corporate entities whose
quoted market prices are not available, which in the
opinion of the directors principally affected the results or
net assets of the Group as at 31 December 2019.

e MR

For the year ended 31 December 2019
HE-_ZT-NF+_A=1+—HLFE

bk

R

sEhRZEH ()

4,

>

20.

Z

TRESIEZRAHAEER=-_Z—H

Fr-A=tTHNXGEAEEFERE
TENBELRZFE  MBRELEE

VRFETRRIER  XWEMGHRE

Particulars of
Place of issued and fully
incorporation/ paid
establishment/ share capital/ Proportion ownership interest
operations registered capital held by the Company
Name HMRL/HY/ BREOR BREIRHRRE/ Principal activities
8 feny BRBRAHE EMERFE TEXH
Indirectly
[t
2019 2018
ZB-hE —TN\¥
Triple Market Limited BVI 1 share, US$1 49% 49% Investment holding
(“Triple Market") ABRUES 1k 1% RERR
Daily Host Limited Hong Kong 1 share, HK$1 49% 49% Investment holding
ERERAA Bl 1% 1T REER
Chongging Shandu Corporate PRC 1US$300,000 49% 49% Investment holding
Management Limited* e 300,000 7T REER
BREEARERARAR
Chongging Shance Limited* PRC RMB10,000,000 49% 49% Investment holding
BREREFEARAT i AK#10,000,0007 REER
Chongging Xingling Limited* PRC RMB49,658,200 49% 49% Property holding for rental
(“Chongging Xingling”) . AR 49,658,007 BANZRLAE
BEREREEXARARA
(EREX])
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For the year ended 31 December 2019
HE-_ZT-NF+_A=+—HILFE

180

20. INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES

(Continued)

On 6 March 2018, Forebase China Limited, a wholly
owned subsidiary, has completed the acquisition of 49%
equity interests, together with the shareholder’s loan, in
Triple Market and its subsidiaries (“Triple Market Group”).
Triple Market Group mainly holds investment properties.
Pursuant to the Agreement, unanimous consent from both
shareholders are required for certain key corporate matters
of Triple Market Group. Therefore, Triple Market Group is
under the joint control of the Group. The Group has the
right to the net assets of Triple Market Group. Accordingly,
the investment in Triple Market Group was accounted for
as joint ventures of the Group by using the equity method.

In July 2019, all the investment properties were seized by
the Intermediate People’s Court of Chongqing (EE S5 —
R A RJERR ) in relation to a loan dispute with a financial
institution. The directors of the Company inquired of the
management of the joint ventures in relation to the seizure
of investment properties and the loan dispute, but they are
still not able to obtain all relevant information, including
the court orders, the reason and the latest development
of the seizure of the investment properties and the loan
dispute. Therefore, the directors are unable to assess the
likely outcome and the financial impact associated with the
seizure of the investment properties and the loan dispute,
and to assess as to whether any adjustments related to
the understatement of liabilities of the joint ventures and
impairment loss on the interests in joint ventures was
needed as at 31 December 2019.

The amounts due from a joint venture is unsecured, non-
interest bearing and repayable on demand. The Controlling
Shareholders have undertaken to indemnify the Group
against any losses that may result from the non-recovery of
the amount due from a joint venture of HK$29,523,000.

* The English translation of the names of the companies
established in the PRC is for reference only. The official names
of the companies are in Chinese.

FOREBASE INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED

20.

bk

R

sEhRZEH ()

4,

>

2

RZE—N\F=ZHKB ' —xXKE2ETFRAA
FRE A B B R A 5] 58 B U Triple Market
X H B A A ([Triple Market£ E]) &
49% % #E 38 A IR B E 5K © Triple Market £
EEERHFREWE - RIBZE - Triple
Market B A TEZ AR EHEESW
EZREH—HRAE - AL - Triple Market
SEHRAEEERZG AEEEEZE
B Triple Market EEE R FEE - AL -
Triple Market 5 B #)3% & LA #E 2505 A BR 7]
RAEENEGEDRE -

RZZ-NFLA FEREVEEIK
HEMEBNERUDMKERSE PR
ARZERESH - ARREZARELEE
EEESHAHEHREMENERAUY
BRERERERFAEHEBER - B1FF
RS  BEHREMERERUHORE
REHER - FiL EFREFGHEE
BREMERERM SR A REER MY
BEE  TAREFER_F—NF+=A
=t HAEEHMEGBAEEXAENRFN
EFAR RN A S B % 2 B EH AR
B8 -

Y —HaebERBLAEER 28K
AR BREEIR - EIRR AR RS
o] & Y —Fil & & 1B 3 5078 29,523,000 7T
Pz (R RAASEELRE

* KPR H A B2 EXERERSRE - %
FERAZBHBMARER
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
AR R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2019
HE_Z-NFT+_A=1+—HIFE
.

20. INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES 20. REELXZERE (B)

(Continued)
Set out below are the summarised financial information LA & 51 A RE 220K A BR B9 Triple Market &
of Triple Market Group which is accounted for using the ErMBEEREE
equity method:
2019 2018
—E-hEF —E-N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FExT FET
Current assets mENEE 1 65
Non-current assets JEmBN A E 88,633 90,246
Current liabilities nBBE (54,977) (56,454)
Non-current liabilities ERBEE (559) (569)
Net assets BEFE 33,098 33,288
Included in the above assets FEERAGERE
and liabilities:
Cash and cash equivalents ReREEEEY 1 1
Current financial liabilities mEemaE
(excluding trade and other (TEEE S REMERNER
payables and provisions) R ) (54,525) (55,491)
Non-current financial liabilities JEmBERAE
(excluding trade and other (TBIEE S R HAEERK
payables and provisions) NiE) (559) (569)
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For the year ended 31 December 2019
HE-_ZT-NF+_A=+—HILFE

20. INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES 20. REEGEZES (8)
(Continued)
2019 2018
—ZE-hF —E-N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET T
(Note)
(BfF5E)

Revenue Wz 251 57
Other income and gain, net H A R U558 13 3
Gain arising from change in fair KEMELA R BEESES W

value of investment properties - 2,373
Total operating expenses KBRS R (455) (711)
(Loss)/Profit before income tax BrFTSFLAT (E518) s Al (191) 1,722
Income tax expenses FrS RS - (593)
(Loss)/Profit for the year REE (BE) w7 (191) 1,129
Other comprehensive income/ REEHMEEBA  (BX)

(expenses) for the year
Exchange differences on translation 12EFINE L1 RS

of financial statements of kBN ERR

the overseas joint ventures 11 (2,510)
Total comprehensive expense AEEEGEHMBAXELE

attributable to the Group (180) (1,381)
Note: BfaE :
The Group has initially applied HKFRS 16 at 1 January 2019, AEER—_ZE—NF—A—BaXERAETEYH
using the modified retrospective approach. Under this approach, MELERF 165 - FLAKIETBME - BB T
comparative information is not restated. See note 3. 5 LEBRERWEES o BHFES
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For the year ended 31 December 2019
HE_Z-NFT+_A=1+—HIFE

21. INVENTORIES 21. &
2019 2018
—E-hEF —E-N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET T
Food and beverages By R aRR 697 622
Hotel merchandise B JE P& 131 215
828 837
22. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 22. B R EMEWERT
2019 2018
—E-hE —ZE—-N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHxT T
Trade receivables, net of loss B SRR - MR EEREE
allowance (note (a)) (i (a))
— with third parties -F=F 18,923 542
— with related companies BN 421 26,580
19,344 27,122
Deposits and other receivables, e RHEAEUERR -
net of loss allowance (note (b)) R EERME (b)) 2,776 2,724
Amounts due from third parties, FEUE = I8
net of loss allowance (note (c)) HBRE B RS (FisE(c)) 4,888 6,004
Amounts due from related companies &4 7B A =] FUIE - 648
Prepayments AT RIE 1,293 1,214
28,301 37,712
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For the year ended 31 December 2019
HE-_ZT-NF+_A=+—HILFE
|

22. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 22. B REMBUER (48)

(Continued)

(@) Trade receivables (@) EZEUWERM
The Group allows an average credit period of O to 30 AEBERESEFETHEHEER
days to its trade customers. Further details on the BOZE30RH - R AKEEFEEBUR
Group’s credit policy are set out in note 42.3. The B — B NMIEE42.3 c AT A
following is an ageing analysis of trade receivables, BRIERZNE A B B iRt REH A
net of loss allowance, based on the date of delivery H (ERER W BHEIARE) 2518
of goods or date of rendering of services which HHREZRURRSERENE S E
approximated the respective dates on which revenue WBR FRERER D AT

was recognised:

2019 2018
—E-hEF —ZT—N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FER FET
Within 90 days 90 H A 3,685 1,176
91 to 180 days 912 180H 1,638 1,086
181 to 365 days 181 £ 365 H 3,582 2,633
1to 2 years —EWF 4,344 8,581
2 1o 3 years —E=4F 4,502 5,733
Over 3 years BE=4F 1,593 7,913
19,344 27,122
The movements in loss allowance of trade receivables BoRWER 2 EEBEE 280
during the year are as follows: s
2019 2018
—F-NF —T—N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAT
As at 1 January R—H—H 6,611 5,755
Loss allowance of trade FARERZBEDEBEER 2
receivables recognised it g
during the year 14,820 1,199
Exchange adjustments bE A% (339) (343)
As at 31 December Rt+=-—A=+—H 21,092 6,611
Trade receivables due from related companies as RZB-NEFRZF-—NF+ZA
at 31 December 2019 and 2018 are unsecured, _‘1' El FEU R R B E B E UL
interest-free and repayable on demand. RRAERR R RAERERKE
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22. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
(Continued)

(b) Deposits and other receivables

(c)

As at 31 December 2019, a loss allowance of
HK$1,689,000 (2018: HK$Nil) was made against the
gross amount of other receivables.

Amount due from third parties

As at 31 December 2019, the amounts due from third
parties mainly included an amount of HK$4,733,000
which is unsecured, interest bearing at 8% per
annum and repayable on demand. Impairment loss
of HK$854,000 has been made for the year ended
31 December 2019 (2018: HK$Nil).

As at 31 December 2018, the amount was
unsecured, interest bearing at 8% per annum and
repayable before 14 November 2019.

23. BANK BALANCES AND CASH AND OTHER
CASH FLOW INFORMATION

(@) Bank balances and cash

Bank balances and cash of HK$4,555,000 (2018:
HK$4,718,000) denominated in RMB are placed with
banks in the PRC. RMB is not a freely convertible
currency. Under the PRC’s Foreign Exchange Control
Regulations and Administration of Settlement and
Sales and Payment of Foreign Exchange Regulations,
the Group is permitted to exchange RMB for foreign
currencies through banks that are authorised to
conduct foreign exchange business.

ANNUAL REPORT 2019
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For the year ended 31 December 2019
HE_Z-NFT+_A=1+—HIFE

22. E5 R HEMBWERR (48)

(b)

(c)

BE& R H IR

R-E-AFE+=-—A=+—8 " 25
H b U BR R 4B BB {E H 1,689,00078
T (ZZ—\F : THir) E5IEEHE o

B g =AFE
RZZE—hE+—A=+—8 - Bl
= FIEA4,733,0008 T A EER
o BREFRSEE - RBEKRENX
EBgEE - HE_T—NFE+=-A
=+—HLIFE  BEEEHNREEE
A854000 8T (ZE—NF : T
JL) °

R=2—\F+=A=+-A &3
B - RFFIESER S R
AR =F—NF+—A+mA 2 A

som

=

st

23. RITEHRESREMEERE

(a)

RITERRRE

R 1T 4588 N 38 £ 4,555,000 7T (=
T — )\ : 4,718,000 7T) HIAA
R¥EHE - THRRFBRART - AR
KW IR B R AR E o BiEF
SNEBEBIEHIRINELE « $HE RN
REBED  NEBEESBERE
FRIMNEXBHRITRARB LA
HNEE o

—E-NFRH
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For the year ended 31 December 2019
HE-_ZT-NF+_A=+—HILFE

23. BANK BALANCES AND CASH AND OTHER 23. RITHEBRERERHEMRERE
CASH FLOW INFORMATION (Continued) & (48)
(b) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from (b) MEEFHMEENAEHIER
financing activities

TRAFMI LR EEEPEENAE
EaE¥s  pRReRIERENE
B METBFEEMNABEDIRRE
MEIARRKRERERNNEBLLER
SrnERPTEDEN L EAERMEE

The table below details changes in the Group’s
liabilities from financing activities, including both
cash and non-cash changes. Liabilities arising from
financing activities are liabilities for which cash flows
were, or future cash flows will be, classified in the

Group’s consolidated statement of cash flows as cash FEANEESRENAE
flows from financing activities:
Amounts due Amount
to related duetoa
companies  Secured  Loan from director Lease
Otherpayables  EAEE loans sharcholders  Bonds  BEf{—%  [liabiliis  Total
HpERER  ARRE  ERER  KRER % E3¥E HERE 3t
HKS000  HKS000  HKS000  HKS000  HKS000  HKS000  HKS000  HKS000
Thr  TEr TEr TR TEr TRt AL TEr
(note30)  (note31)  (note32)  (note25)  (note33)
(Wr0)  (Masl)  (We32)  (W2s) (3
At 31 December 2018 RZE-N\ETZA=1-H - 7157 36013 - 60181 3315 - 106666
Impact on it application of HKFRS 16 A AE RSB AL £S5 165 15/2
(note 3) (Kizk3) - - - - - - deod 460
At 1 January 2019, adjusted R-E-7F-F-B £5E - 7157 36013 - 60181 3315 4604 111270
Changes from financing cash flows: REReRERY.
Advance from shareholders EEE - - - 18 = = - 18
Repayment of secured loans EEEREH - - Bl - - - - Bl
Repayment fo a director EE-%E35E - - - - - (546) - (546)
Repayment fo related companies BRI - (298) - - - - - (298)
Payment of lease liabilfies ERfEaR - - - - - - (1665 (1669)
Interest paid BRAFIE - VA -8 (19 (230 (336
Total changes from financing cash flows BB & TiE 48148 - (99 (629 187 @80 (4 (1900 14
Exchange adjustments ER% - (116) 1430 = - = - 131
Other changes: - Dl
Finance costs (note 8) MENA (Kis) = -2l - 340 199 % 5971
Inferest payable S - - - - (605) - - (605)
Transfer o other payables ERERERES 9512 (6,/43) - - - (2769 - -
Total other changes Efp2 e 9512 (6743 2131 - 280 (2570 % 536
At 31 December 2019 RZE-AETZB=1-A 9,512 - 34275 11,187 60,181 - 2939 118,09
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For the year ended 31 December 2019
HE_Z-NFT+_A=1+—HIFE
.

23. BANK BALANCES AND CASH AND OTHER  23. SRITHBRERFERHEMBAERE

CASH FLOW INFORMATION (Continued) & (48

(b) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from (b) MEEFHMEENAEHIER
financing activities (Continued) (%48)
The table below details changes in the Group’s TRFMF BB EBFIEENARE
liabilities from financing activities, including both BE&aEEE  BiEReKIEREMNE
cash and non-cash changes. Liabilities arising from o MEEMEANBENARS
financing activities are liabilities for which cash flows MESARKREMENAEELGZER
were, or future cash flows will be, classified in the ERERFESEIKHERAREE
Group’s consolidated statement of cash flows as cash FFEANRESRENEE (&) -

flows from financing activities (Continued):

Amounts due Amount
to related duetoa
companies Secured director

[EfS B loans Bonds  FEff—3% Total
NAFE  ERER E% E35aE @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAL THL TEL TAL TAL
(note 30) (note 32)
(ME30)  (FrE32)

At 1 January 2018 RZE-\5-F-H 3,590 41,028 50,000 45961 140,579
Changes from financing cash flows: RERSRELD
Advances from related companies /NS 3911 = = = 3911
Repayment of secured loans EREAER - (1,943) - - (1,943)
Repayment o a director BE-REETR - - - (1,224) (1,224)
Interest paid BEXHFIE - (2,176) (2,800) (1,994) (6,970)
Total changes from financing cash flows ~ BEE 4L E&E 8% 3911 (4,119) (2,800) (3,218) (6,226)
Exchange adjustments ER AR (344) (3,072) - - (3,416)
Other changes: Ht2%
Finance costs (note 8) BERA (H7E8) - 2,176 3,352 1,994 7,522
Interest payable JERFE - - (552) - (552)
Issuance of shares for repayment of FEREN—BES

amount due to a director FEEIRM (FE27(b)

(note 27(b)) = - - (41,422) (41,422)
Issuance of bonds for acquisition of HRBRECERTLES

joint ventures - - 10,181 - 10,181
Total other changes EhEgms = 2,176 12,981 (39,428) (24,271)
At 31 December 2018 W=E-N\E+-FA=1—H 7,157 36,013 60,181 3315 106,666
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For the year ended 31 December 2019
HE-_ZT-NF+_A=+—HILFE

24. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 24. B REMEFIR
2019 2018
—E-hF —E-N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET T

Trade payables B S ENRK 1,148 1,234

Accruals fEFtE A 5,264 1,714

Other payables E A FETARER 9,278 9,024

Amounts due to third parties (note a) FEftEE = 7 & (fizta) 6,743 -

Amounts due to a shareholder e —BARE KA (MiEED)

(note b) 2,769 =
25,202 11,972

The ageing analysis of trade payables, based on the invoice $Eﬁ%§§%ﬁi AERHRERRZHNNE S EN

date, at the end of the reporting period, is set out as KERER DT -

follows:

2019 2018
—E-hF —TN\F
HK$’000 HK$' 000
FET THT

Within 90 days 90HRA 640 1,227

91 to 180 days 91% 180 H 21 =

181 to 365 days 181 365 H 1 4

Over 365 days iHBiA 365 H 486 3

1,148 1,234

The average credit period on purchases of goods is 0 to 90 BEZFHIEEHRA0ZE0R -

days.

Notes: BEE -

a)  Asa result of the Disposal as mentioned in note 1, amounts due a) ﬁEAWnI 1Pty H & R IE - FETRANE 2 Al
to related companies amounted to HK$6,743,000 has been TRIA6,743 OOO/%TEE HEFEEH EEH
reclassified to other payables since the date of Disposal. The ﬁ}%ﬁ/}ﬁﬁ{@}%ﬁﬂff o FEERRERIRAR - NET
balances were unsecured, non-interest bearing and repayable BRANELEERE
on demand.

b)  Asa result of the Disposal as mentioned in note 1, amount due b) %%Mﬁilﬁﬁiﬁ\ﬁﬁiﬁ’%ﬁlﬁ R —EEE
to a director amounted to HK$2,769,000 has been reclassified FIE 2,769 0007%75 BHEFEEERREN
to other payables since the date of Disposal. The balance is due \*E:Ktﬁﬁﬂﬁ%ﬁ,gﬁﬂ ° FEfY BB S A MY KSR
to Mr. Shen Yong and is unsecured, interest bearing at 2.7% RIEIRT - RERR2TEFEREAR-T
per annum and repayable in December 2020. “TF+-_AEE-
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For the year ended 31 December 2019
HE_Z-NFT+_A=1+—HIFE

25. AMOUNT DUE TO A DIRECTOR

The balance was unsecured, interest bearing at 2.7% per
annum and repayable in December 2020.

25.

B —BEERNE

ZEERTYVERR  RERER2T%ETE K&
HARN—E_TF+_AEE-

26. CONTRACT LIABILITIES 26. EHI&EE
2019 2018
—s-nE| —T-N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Contract liabilities aHaE
— related to hotel operation - E@BELE 3,639 3,745
— related to properties management - GRAYIEEIE 768 1,274
4,407 5,019
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For the year ended 31 December 2019
HE-_ZT-NF+_A=+—HILFE

26. CONTRACT LIABILITIES (Continued) 26. GHI&E (&)
The movements in contract liabilities during the year are as BHBERFRZEEHNAT :
follows:
HK$'000
FET
At 1 January 2018 R=-ZE—N\E—HF—H 4,508
Decrease in contract liabilities Iimﬁﬁwﬁ/\_i NF—A—H5TA
as a result of recognising revenue HaEz =B NaERR D

during the year that was included

in the contract liabilities at

1 January 2018 (2,964)
Increase in contract liabilities HEE—T - \F+A=1T—HLFE

as a result of receiving advance H&Hﬁﬁﬁ e RENMEEEREEN

deposits and properties AHBERE N

management fee in advance

during the year ended

31 December 2018 3,475
At 31 December 2018 and R=Z2—-N\F+=-A=+—HEK

1 January 2019 —Z-h&—HA—H 5,019

Decrease in contract liabilities HAERNERR =T —NF—H—H
as a result of recognising revenue s AAS X BEZ WS EE
during the year that was included & £ B &HR 4
in the contract liabilities at
1 January 2019 (3,485)

Decrease in contract liabilities EFEANERAE A HE SR EL A
as a result of recognising income (B3t AZZE—NEF—A—HH
attributable to unused gift BHER) ERENAENRD
certificates during the year that
was included in the contract
liabilities at 1 January 2019 (781)

Increase in contract liabilities HEE—T—NF+A=+—HLFE
as a result of receiving advance WEFER T2 RN YEEREEEEH

deposits and properties BB ERIEM

management fee in advance

during the year ended

31 December 2019 3,654
At 31 December 2019 R-ZE—-hAF+=-B=+—H 4,407
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For the year ended 31 December 2019
HE-_ZT-NF+_A=1+—HLFE

26. CONTRACT LIABILITIES (Continued) 26. EH&E ()
As at 31 December 2019, the Group assess that the RZE—NFF+ZA=+—H ~xKEFT
balance of contract liabilities will be fully recognised as BMENEBEEHRBIEU TR ERA
revenue as below: Was

2019 2018

—E-NEF —E-)N\F

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHET BT

Within one year —F R 3,127 3,657

More than one year fBA—F 1,280 1,462

4,407 5,019
Note: The Group receives payments from customers based on the Miak « REBIRE A L9 5] 3 A G SR ER &R P -
terms established in the contracts. Payments are usually oo NFBEEALBITZATIER « 1ATEET
received in advance of the performance under the contracts BERRNBEN TS RFERMEERBE -

such as advance deposits for reservation of hotel rooms and
properties management fee received in advance.

27. SHARE CAPITAL 27. A&
Number of shares Share capital
BREE [T
2019 2018 2019 2018
—E-NE —Z-N\F —E-hF —E-N\#F
'000 '000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR T TR FTAET
Ordinary shares issued ERTRAZN
and fully paid: EER
As at 1 January m—A—H 670,058 456,409 368,984 292,462
Issuance of shares on RZZE—NF
17 April 2019 (note (a)) mA++RET
Mfn (FiEE(a)) 58,528 — 19,899 -
Issuance of shares on RZZE—N\&F
6 March 2018 (note (b)) = ANABTRG
(P EE (b)) - 90,000 - 35,100
Issuance of shares on RZE—N\F
31 December 2018 (note (c)) +=—A=+—H
BTG (BT (c)) - 123,649 - 41,422
As at 31 December R+—A=+—8 728,586 670,058 388,883 368,984
In accordance with section 135 of the Hong Kong RIBEBB R UEHIE 1351 - ARRIEE
Companies Ordinance, the ordinary shares of the Company f& I (A ©

do not have a par value.
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For the year ended 31 December 2019

HEz—

F-NET-A=+-BLEE
e

27.

27. SHARE CAPITAL (Continued)

28.

Notes:

(a)

(b)

The

On 17 April 2019, the Company has issued 58,527,776
ordinary shares at the issue price of HK$0.34 per share to
independent third parties, of approximately HK$19,899,000 as
the consideration in respect of the acquisition of 100% equity
interests in Cherish Possession Limited (note 34).

On 6 March 2018, the Company had allotted and issued
90,000,000 ordinary shares at HK$0.39 per share as part of
the consideration in respect of the acquisition of 49% equity
interest of Triple Market Group.

On 31 December 2018, the Company had issued 123,648,678
new shares at the issue price of HK$0.335 per share to Middle
Spring Limited, a company owned by Mr. Shen Yong for the
settlement of amount due to Mr. Shen Yong of approximately
HK$41,422,000.

holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive

dividends as declared from time to time and are entitled
to one vote per share at meetings of the Company. All
ordinary shares rank equally with regard to the Company’s
residual assets.

RESERVES

(a)

(b)

(c)

Merger reserve

Merger reserve was created as a result of the
acquisition of common control entities. It represents
the difference between the carrying amount and fair
value of subsidiaries acquired. The acquisition was
accounted for using merger accounting.

Contribution reserve

Contribution reserve represents contributions from
shareholders for indemnity liabilities payable for
periods prior to 30 June 2003.

Statutory reserve

In accordance with the PRC laws applicable to wholly-
foreign owned investment enterprises, subsidiaries
of the Company operating in the PRC are required
to set up a general reserve fund and appropriate at
least 10% of respective company’s annual profit after
tax, as determined under the PRC accounting rules
and regulations, to the general reserve fund until the
balance of the reserve equals to 50% of its registered
capital. This fund can be used to make good losses
and to convert into paid-up capital.

FOREBASE INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED

28.

A (48)
GEE

(@) MZZE—NAFWA+LEH  ARBUAETE
FH0.34 8 TTIRIBL 5 = 5 31758,527,776
B EE A% - £ FEAYA19,899,000/8 T « 1E
7% W B Cherish Possession Limited £ 100%
IRAERRAE (FFzE34) -

by R=ZZ—NE=ZA~H: ' AQARCRER
0.397 o Br 2 1 3£1790,000,000 A% T iM% -
f@é”ﬁlﬁﬁﬁiple Market 5 [& 49% % #E 89 3017

(c) RZZE—N\E+-A=1+—80 AAREK
EITEER0.335% T % 17 123,648,678 %
5 T BB BELEEREE 2 A F Middle
Spring Limited + LA{E38 FE(S R BB o A 2 308
#4)41,422,0005 7T ©

%%ﬁ%ﬁ*ﬁ/\ﬁ%%ﬂTﬁi*ﬁZHn
WRARRARE EAREBRENEE —F
BREE - RARRZHBEENS - 1A
EBRFERSER -

i

(@) FHHFAE

BB ERE A REGIERT
3 EFRHKE%M\TJ%@TE’]EE@{EEEQ
REEZEANERE - BWEZERAE
HEHEAR

(b) HERKE
HERETIBRRR _FT=FA
=T AZABRENOBERTING
(c) EEME

BRIFEARINEBE CENTRE
2 ARERPBRELHK B ARA
REMEHEES - WEHEBARR
Er%m&mﬂmﬁd1mumﬁ¢

BFHRAIERETE) BE R
{%EU B EHRAESHEFNE M

BARHS0% Sk o ESAIHAR
o8 B 1R M BB R IR
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29.
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RESERVES (Continued)

(d) Share options reserve

28.

The share options reserve represents the cumulative
charge to the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income for employee share

options awards.

(e) Exchange reserve

The exchange reserve comprises all foreign
exchanges differences arising from the translation
of the financial statements of foreign operations.
The reserve is dealt with in accordance with the
accounting policies set out in note 2.7.

DEFERRED TAX ASSETS/(LIABILITIES) 29.

The following is the deferred tax assets/(liabilities)
recognised in the consolidated statement of financial
position and the net movement thereon at the end of each

reporting period:

For the year ended 31 December 2019
HE-_ZT-NF+_A=1+—HLFE

# ()
(d) EBBRERE

BREEEELERBRERRME
FAaBmkEteEkaR AR

BER o

(e) ERfHHE

P 5 et B AR R IR N SR A RO B 75
BERMELNMBENZRE - %HhE
RIEMITE2.7 PREE S SRR E -

ECHEEE (AE)

AT AREEMEIRARAERZ T EE
ERIEEE (BF) ARERSHRESRR

2019 2018
—E-NEF —E-N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Balances presented in FREPBARRKTR 2R
the consolidated statement
of financial position
Deferred tax assets R I E = 1,749 =
Deferred tax liabilities BLERIABE (5,849) (6,305)
Net balance EERFEE (4,100) (6,305)
The net movement on the BTSN EFRAT ¢
deferred income tax
is as follows:
At the beginning of the year REA) (6,305) (6,989)
Credited to profit or loss (note 12) st A (£ 12) 2,459 634
Effect on opening deferred tax HENERESEEELD
balance arising from a change in BRI IR AR R 2
tax rate during the year (note 12) (FFzE12) (228) -
Exchange adjustments bE 5 S (26) -
At the end of the year RER (4,100) (6,305)
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For the year ended 31 December 2019
HE_ZT-NF+_A=1+—HILFE

29. DEFERRED TAX ASSETS/(LIABILITIES) 29. BEEREEE (&RK)(H)
(Continued)
The movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities without TXHEHINELEMSHEEHGENED
taking the consideration the offsetting of balances within (W fmat RIS R — WS el A Em AR &
the same tax jurisdictions, were as follows: £R) ¢
Deferred tax assets arose from: RERIEEERS ¢

Loss allowance
of trade and
other receivables

EZRHEHME
AR R S B R e
HK$'000
FAT
As at 1 January 2018, RZE—N\F—H—RH8 ZZF—\&

31 December 2018 and +—A=+—BE-_ZT—hF—HA—H
1 January 2019 -
Credited to profit or loss A= 1,775
Exchange adjustments bE R (26)
At 31 December 2019 R=-ZE—-hAF+=-B=+—H 1,749
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For the year ended 31 December 2019
HE-_ZT-NF+_A=1+—HLFE

e
29. DEFERRED TAX ASSETS/(LIABILITIES) BEBESE (&1&)(#)

(Continued)
Deferred tax liabilities arose from: BELERIBBERE
Withholding
tax on
undistributed
profits from
the PRC
subsidiaries
REHEH
o] NG Intangible
MR 2 E assets Total
A E TR B BREE @st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET FET
As at 1 January 2018 R-ZE—N\F—HF—H 1,800 5,189 6,989
Credited to profit or loss PN - (684) (684)
As at 31 December 2018 and RZZE—\F+=A
1 January 2019 =+—BRZZT—NF
—HA—H 1,800 4,505 6,305
Credited to profit or loss PN - (684) (684)
Effect on opening deferred tax HEXNRTEBEEER
balance arising from a change HEE IR AR B
in tax rate during the year (note 12) (Bzx12) = 228 228
As at 31 December 2019 R-ZZE—h%F
+=B=+—H 1,800 4,049 5,849

The Group has unrecognised tax losses of HK$91,640,000
(2018: HK$92,639,000) to carry forward against future
taxable income. These tax losses do not expire under
current legislation. No deferred tax asset has been
recognised in respect of the above tax losses due to the
unpredictability of future profit streams.

The Group is also liable to withholding tax on dividends to
be distributed from the Group’s foreign-invested enterprises
in the PRC in respect of its profits generated from
1 January 2008. No deferred tax liability was recognised
for the distributable profits not yet paid out as dividends
that are generated by the PRC subsidiaries of the Company
during the years ended 31 December 2019 and 2018.
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For the year ended 31 December 2019

HEz—
]

30. HMEM

30.

F-NET-A=+-BLEE

SECURED LOANS

As at 31 December 2019, the secured loans were
repayable as follows:

—NEFE+T-A=1+—8 BRER
/,\EAT@JHHBENEE

2019 2018

—g-nE| —T-\%

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET FAT

Within one year — current portion — R - BIEIER D 34,275 2,012
Non-current portion FERNEAEL >

After one year but within two years R —FZERRER - 2,122

After two years but within five years RMEZREBEREFENR - 7,110

After five years REFE - 24,769

- 34,001

34,275 36,013

As at 31 December 2019, the mortgage loans of
HK$32,514,000 and HK$1,761,000 are repayable on 15
September 2031 and 15 September 2029 respectively,
bear an interest rate of 2% plus prime rate per annum
and jointly and severally guaranteed by Mr. Choi Yun
Chor and Ms. Yeung So Mui. The banking facilities are
secured by freehold land and buildings held for own use
with carrying amount of approximately HK$84,759,000
(2018: HK$82,956,000), and are reviewed periodically. As
at 31 December 2018, the mortgage loans were repayable
within fifteen years and bear an interest rate of 2% plus
prime rate per annum and guaranteed by Mr. Shen Ke. In
the opinions of the directors of the Company, the effective
interest rate of the secured loans was 6.0% (2018: 5.6%)
per annum for the year ended 31 December 2019.

After the banking facilities letter of the secured loans have
been renewed in September 2019, the secured loans are
subject to bank’s overriding right to demand repayment
even though the scheduled repayment dates are twelve
months after the date of the reporting period. As a result,
these loans with scheduled repayment dates beyond one
year amounted to HK$34,275,000 had to be classified as
current liabilities as at 31 December 2019.

The Group has renewed the banking facilities letter
subsequently in March 2020.
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For the year ended 31 December 2019
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O
31. LOAN FROM SHAREHOLDERS 31. BEER

ZERTEER  RERER_T_TF
T—HA=tHEE-

The loan is unsecured, non-interest bearing and repayable
on 30 November 2020.

32. BONDS 32. 5%
2019 2018
—E-hE —T-N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FERT FH&T
Current portion: BIHAES 7 -
Bonds carried at fixed coupon rate IR 8 B [E F Z [ & FI| R
of 8% per annum (note (b)) T RMES (MEE (b)) 10,000 -
Non-current portion: FEBNEAEL > -
Bonds carried at fixed coupon rate 32 & 4F 6 [F B F ZmF R
of 6% per annum (note (a)) STERES (WiE@) 20,000 20,000
Bonds carried at fixed coupon rate %2 & 4F 8 [F B F = F | =E
of 8% per annum (note (b)) FTERES (I (b)) 10,000 20,000
Bonds carried at fixed coupon rate 3% &4 3 B B F =@ F F R
of 3% per annum (note (c)) FTERES (WHiE) 10,000 10,000
Bonds carried at fixed coupon rate 32 & 4F 3 [E B F ZmEF K
of 3% per annum (note (d)) FTERES (FHEW)) 10,181 10,181
50,181 60,181
60,181 60,181
Notes: Bt e
(@) The Company entered into two placing agreements with a (@) AREE—-ZEEREFIIMOEESHE -

(b)

(d)

placing agent issued two 6% coupon unlisted bonds on 6
August 2014 and 10 October 2014 with the aggregate principal
amount of HK$10,000,000 each within the placing period. The
amounts are repayable within 96 months from the date of issue,
which are 5 August 2022 and 9 October 2022 respectively.

The Company issued two 8% coupon unlisted bonds with the
aggregate principal amount of HK$10,000,000 each on 23
January 2015 and 1 June 2015 respectively. The amounts are
repayable within 96 months and 60 months respectively from
the date of issue, which are 22 January 2023 and 31 May 2020
respectively.

The Company issued a 3% coupon unlisted bond with the
principal amount of HK$10,000,000 on 1 December 2017 to
Mr. Shen Ke. The amount is repayable within 84 months from
the date of issue, which is 30 November 2024.

The Company issued a bond with the principal amount of
HK$10,181,000 as part of the consideration in respect of the
acquisition of the joint ventures on 6 March 2018. The bond
bears interest rate at 3% per annum and is unsecured. The
amount is repayable within 36 months from the date of issue,
which is 5 March 2021.
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For the year ended 31 December 2019
HE-_ZT-NF+_A=+—HILFE
|

33. LEASE LIABILITIES 33. HEAE
AEEHERBEZHBHAOHERARMT

The following table shows the remaining contractual

maturities of the Group’s lease liabilities: FKFR -
2019
—E-NEF
HK$’000
FERT
Total minimum lease payments: =IEBAER R
Within one year —FA 1,822
In the second to fifth years RE_FEFRF 1,329
3,151
Less: future finance charges on leases liabilities 7 : A& B &8I R KE % E A (212)
Present value of lease liabilities HEaERE 2,939
Present value of minimum lease payments: =EBERFKIRE
Within one year R—FNR 1,740
In the second to fifth years RE_FEFERF 1,199
2,939
Note: B -

REBFERRETTEREGRERABTEM RS

The Group has initially applied HKFRS 16 using the modified
retrospective approach and adjusted the opening balances at 1
January 2019 to recognise lease liabilities relating to leases which were
previously classified as operating leases under HKAS 17. Comparative
information as at 31 December 2018 has not been restated. Details
for transitions to HKFRS 16 are set out in note 3.

During the year ended 31 December 2019, the total cash
outflows for the leases are HK$1,901,000.

Details of the lease activity

As at 31 December 2019, the Group has entered into a
lease for an office with a remaining lease term of 2.7 years.

The lease does not have any extension or termination
options.

FOREBASE INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED

ZRIFE 165 - WK —T—nF—H— AN
PRI EREE AR EE S5 ERIE 175
DHERR2HEAHNEERE - R-F—/\F
TZA=+— EIE’JtI:fé#Hi%EW BEER
AR EIEERNE 16 R FBENHIEES ©

REBEEZE-_ZT—NAF+-_A=+—HItF

R a‘ﬂﬁa’]fﬁiu.bm@ﬁﬁﬁ1901 00075

7T|:o

HERHFFE

E/\_ —NF+-_A=+—H  K&EEZT
—AENEE TR AE27F -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Acquisition of Cherish Possession Limited
(“Cherish Possession”)

In April 2019, Freemaster, a wholly-owned subsidiary of
the Company, entered into a sale and purchase agreement
with independent third parties, to acquire 100% equity
interest in Cherish Possession by allotting and issuing
58,527,776 ordinary shares of the Company at HK$0.34
per share amounted to approximately HK$19,899,000. The
transaction was completed on 17 April 2019.

Cherish Possession did not operate any business prior
to the acquisition. The asset acquired mainly consists of
interest in an associate of HK$19,899,000 which mainly
holds investment properties. There was no cash inflow
from the acquisition. Therefore, the Group considered this
transaction as acquisition of asset in substance.

The consideration of this transaction was determined by
reference to the fair value of the investment properties
owned by the acquired associate at the acquisition date.
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For the year ended 31 December 2019
HE-_ZT-NF+_A=1+—HLFE

34. WE—FEMB LA

78 Cherish Possession Limited
([ cherish Possession )

R=ZZ—NHFMWM A -+ Freemaster (KA 7]
MNEEMBAR) BBIE=FFIVLE
Efpas NBANUER034B TR E K
LT AN D F58,527, 776 I @ AR - U BE
Cherish Possession #]100% & #& + 4258 4
£19,899,00087TC - RHER T —NF
MA++EHZERK -

Cherish Possession 7£ 1 B 55 18 g1 17 £ £
EEMER - FINBEEFTZERER—ME
Bt N B AR 2% 19,899,000 7T » = &EE
BIREYHE -  WEEHEHIERESRA °
I AEERBRERFIEE LAYIBEE
= o

ZIAR HHRE TS Z PRI B L N R
BENREMENKERRN QA BEKE

—
E °

—E-NFRH

L
34. ACQUISITION OF A SUBSIDIARY
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For the year ended 31 December 2019
HE_Z-NFT_A=1+—HILFE

35. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES 35. HEMB A
Disposal of Equity Stream Limited and its i € Equity Stream Limited & H
subsidiaries (“Equity Stream Group”) M/~ 7 ([Equity Stream &£ )
In August 2019, the Group disposed of its entire equity RZZE—NFENA X&EE1IETHES
interest in Equity Stream Group to an independent third R AE E & R Equity Stream & B #9 & 2R
party, at a cash consideration of US$1. The principal T —RZ LB =75 ° Equity Stream & [E /Y
activity of Equity Stream Group is investment holding and FEXEBRIREERREEER - HED
business management. The disposal was completed on 27 RZZE—NAFENAZTEHZEK °
August 2019.
As at
27 August
2019
R-Z-hE
NA=++tH
HK$’000
FERT
Analysis of assets and liabilities HAEZFIENEEREBN DN
over which control was lost
Bank balances and cash RITHEMBR RIS 9
Other receivables E’rﬁlﬁﬂ&ﬁﬁ%\ 483
Amount due to the immediate holding company  FEf & #1520 IR (2,532)
Amount due to the ultimate holding company FE AR A A IE\ (5,274)
Net liabilities disposed of CHESERE (7,314)
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For the year ended 31 December 2019
HE_Z-NFT+_A=1+—HIFE

L
35. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 35. HEMB LR (4)

Disposal of Equity Stream Limited and i € Equity Stream Limited & H
its subsidiaries (“Equity Stream Group”) M /A A ([Equity Stream £3 |)
(Continued) (%)
The loss on disposal is calculated as below: HESENEEFTENT ¢
2019
—E-hEF
HK$’000
FET
Total cash consideration HEeRRE -
Less: W
— Net liabilities disposed of -BEHEREFE (7,314)
— Gain on waiver of amount due to the - INERMNEEER A RFRIE 2 W
immediate holding company 2,532
— Gain on waiver of amount due to - IREEN AR TR A R IE 2 W
the ultimate holding company 5,274
— Exchange reserve released - HEWB A GRE HAE L #E
upon disposal of subsidiaries 393
Loss on disposal of subsidiaries HENBRRAEE (885)
Net cash outflow on disposal of subsidiaries: AHEMHBAREAMNIRESRLIFE
Cash consideration received BYERERE —*
Cash and cash equivalents disposed of BEHERS KB SEEY (9)
(9)

* Amount less than HK$1,000.
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36. RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEMES

CONTRIBUTIONS

Hong Kong

The Group operates the MPF Scheme under the Hong
Kong Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for
employees employed under the jurisdiction of the Hong
Kong Employment Ordinance. The MPF Scheme is a
defined contribution retirement scheme administered
by independent trustees. Under the MPF Scheme, the
employers and its employees are each required to make
contributions to the Scheme at 5% of the employees’
relevant income. The mandatory contributions from each
of the employer and employees are subject to a cap of
HK$1,500 per month. Contributions to the MPF Scheme
vest immediately.

The PRC

The Group’s subsidiaries in the PRC participate in a defined
contribution scheme organised by the PRC municipal
government. The subsidiaries are required to contribute a
specified percentage of their payroll costs to the scheme.
The contributions are charged to the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income
as they become payable in accordance with the rules of the
scheme.

Canada

Employees in Canada participate in a Canada Pension
Plan (the “Plan”) which is a mandatory scheme under
Canada Pension Plan Regulations. The employer and
the employees are required to make a total contribution
of 9.9% on the pensionable earnings, subject to a cap
of pensionable earnings of CAD57,400 (equivalent to
approximately HK$343,000) (2018: CAD55,900 equivalent
to approximately HK$321,000).

FOREBASE INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED

36. BRINEFIFTE Z LK
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mgex
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37. LEASE COMMITMENTS

The Group has initially applied HKFRS 16 at 1 January
2019, using the modified retrospective approach. The
Group recognises a right-of-use asset and a lease liability in
the consolidated statement of financial position. There are
no operating lease commitments as at 31 December 2019
as the Group has no short-term leases.

As at 31 December 2018, operating lease payments
represent rentals payables by the Group for certain of its
office premises. The total future minimum lease payments
under non-cancellable operating leases were payable as
follows:

e MR

For the year ended 31 December 2019
HE-_ZT-NF+_A=1+—HLFE

37. HERIE

AEER _ZE-NF—-—A—-—BEXERE
B BmELERFE 16 - KARKETE
WA o REBREZRAMBRRKER R
EREEEN—RHERE - ANAKE
TEEHEE #R T - NEF+ A
=t BYEEEHEAE -

RZZBE-\F+ZA=+—H gLHEE
RIBEAEERE THOEM R ZENE
T o R ARG EHE 2 RRKEH
EFRERRARN TIMEASA

2018
—T-N\F
HK$'000
FH&T

Within one year
In the second to fifth years inclusive

—F
s

A
F

1,890

AF (BREEEMRT) 3,151

5,041

38. MAJOR NON-CASH TRANSACTIONS

Except as disclosed elsewhere in these consolidated
financial statements, the major non-cash transactions of
the Group are as follows:

(i) On 17 April 2019, the Company has issued
58,527,776 ordinary shares at the issue price of
approximately HK$0.34 per share, as the total
consideration in respect of the acquisition of Cherish
Possession (see note 34).
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For the year ended 31 December 2019
HE-_ZT-NF+_A=+—HILFE

39.

MAJOR NON-CASH TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)

(i)  During the year ended 31 December 2018, the
Company had issued a bond with the principal
amount of HK$10,181,000 and allotted 90,000,000
ordinary shares of HK$0.39 per share as a part of
the total consideration in respect of the acquisition of
Triple Market Group.

EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED
PAYMENTS TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted a share option scheme (the
“Scheme”) on 3 June 2013 whereby the directors of the
Company are authorised, at their discretion, to invite,
among other eligible participants, employees of the Group
(including directors of any member of the Group), advisers
and consultants, to take up options to subscribe for shares
of the Company. Each option gives the holders the right
to subscribe for one ordinary share of the Company. The
Scheme shall be valid and effective for a period of ten years
ending on 2 June 2023, after which no further options can
be granted.

The purpose of the Scheme is to enable the Company to
provide an incentive or a reward to eligible persons for
their contribution to the Group and/or to enable the Group
to recruit and retain high-calibre employees and attract
human resources that are valuable to the Group.

The total number of shares which may be issued upon
exercise of these options granted under the Scheme is not
permitted to exceed 30% of the shares of the Company
without prior approval from the Company’s shareholders.
The number of shares issued and to be issued in respect
of which options granted and may be granted to any
individual in any year is not permitted to exceed 1% of
the shares of the Company in issue at any point in time,
without prior approval from the Company’s shareholders.
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- e
39. EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED 39. UESHEURN AERZT

PAYMENTS TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

The exercise price is determined by the directors of the
Company, and will not be less than the higher of (i) the
closing price of the Company’s shares on the date of grant;
(ii) the average closing price of the shares for the five
business days immediately preceding the date of grant;
and (iii) the nominal value of the Company’s shares.

During the year ended 31 December 2019, Ultra Harvest
and other shareholders of Forebase International Holdings
Limited have completed the disposal of approximately
60.2% of the total issued share capital of the Company.
Based on the relevant terms stated in the Circular dated
5 November 2019, all of the share options granted were
cancelled on 19 November 2019.

As at 31 December 2019, no options had been granted
and remained outstanding under the Scheme (2018:
78,030,527 shares were granted with a total fair values
amounted to HK$10,651,000).

The Group recognised expense of approximately
HK$6,290,000 for the year ended 31 December 2019 in
relation to share options granted by the Company (2018:
HK$9,840,000).
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40. MATERIAL RELATED PARTY 40. EXBB R 5
TRANSACTIONS

In addition to the transactions and balances disclosed BRAGRE M BREREM AR IRS
elsewhere in these consolidated financial statements, the R AEERAN - REBEFT A TN EANBEB R
Group entered into the following material related party Z

transactions.

(@) Transactions with related parties (a) HESS
The Group had the following material transactions RARERE  AEBD L T EARS
with related parties during the year: B35 5
Name of company Nature of transactions 2019 2018
DEEH REME —E2-hF —T\F
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
B eE TER TAT

Chongging Forebase Properties management (a), (b) & (c) 2,354 3,860

206

Industry (Holdings) service fee received
Co. Limited* or receivables
EFHREER (5F) BRI EER R E
BRAR
Chongging Forebase Properties management (a), (b) & (c) 854
Property Development service fee received
Co. Limited* or receivables
EEREREEMSE B K EERRGE
BRAR
Chongging Liangping Properties management (a), (b) & (c) 1,085 1,808
Daisi Zhiye Co. Limited* service fee received
EERFHNEE or receivables
BRAR* B EK X ER R E
Chongging Tianma Property  Properties management (a), (b) & (c) 301

Development Co. Limited*
ERRENERRE
BRAR

service fee received
or receivables

B ERMEEERGE

FOREBASE INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
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40. MATERIAL RELATED PARTY
TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

In addition to the transactions and balances disclosed
elsewhere in these consolidated financial statements, the
Group entered into the following material related party
transactions (Continued):

(a) Transactions with related parties

(Continued)

40. EXEBR 5 (&)

For the year ended 31 December 2019
HE_Z-NFT+_A=1+—HIFE

BRAERE M MAE M T ANE RS

K FEERIN -
(&) :

(@)

AREBRILATERBERZ S

Name of company Nature of transactions 2019 2018
DNRIER REME —E-NEF —E-N\F
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
BE THERT TAT
Chongging Bozhuang Shiye  Properties management (a), (b) & (c) 2,394 3,757
Co. Limited* service fee received
EENBEEARAR" or receivables
BRI EERREE
Chongging Tiane Properties management (a), (b) & (c) 920 238
International Travel service fee received
Co. Chengshi or receivables
Hotel Branch* B EREERRGE
EEPN e
BRAREMBE
PN/
Chongging Xingling Limited*  Properties management (a) 143 224
(“Chongging Xingling™) service fee received
EFRREXARAA" or receivables
(EEEIR]) BIRSEK M EERREE
Mr. Shen Ke Bond interest paid or payables  (d) & (e) 205 300
RS BENSKENESFE
* The English translation of the names of the companies

established in the PRC is for reference only. The official
names of the companies are in Chinese.
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40. MATERIAL RELATED PARTY
TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

40. EXEBR 5 (&)

In addition to the transactions and balances disclosed BRAGRE M BREREM AR IRS
elsewhere in these consolidated financial statements, the RGN NEBFTZ A TEXNEER 5
Group entered into the following material related party (8&) -

transactions (Continued):

(@) Transactions with related parties
(Continued)

Notes:

(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

These transactions were carried out at terms determined
and agreed by the Group and the relevant parties. The
contracts do not have any expiry date until the owners’
committee is formed and the owners’ committee can re-
appoint the service provider. As at 31 December 2019
and 2018, no owners’ committee was set up.

As a result of the Disposal explained in note 1, these
companies are no longer related to the Group after 6
September 2019.

As at 31 December 2018, Mr. Shen Yong was the
controlling shareholder of the Company who had a
beneficial interest in these companies.

The related party transactions in respect of the above
constitute connected transactions or continuing
connected transactions as defined in Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules. The disclosures required by Chapter 14A
of the Listing Rules are provided in section “Connected
Transactions” of the Report of the Directors of this
annual report.

Mr. Shen Ke resigned as a director on 21 September
2018 but is identified as related to the Group as at 31
December 2018 as he is a close family member of Mr.
Shen Yong.

Upon completion of the Disposal, Mr. Shen Ke is no
longer related to the Group.

The related party transactions above constitute
connected transactions or continuing connected
transactions as defined in Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules. However, those transactions are exempt from the
disclosure requirements in Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules as they are conducted on normal commercial
terms or better and not secured by the assets of the
Group under Rule 14A.90.
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(@)
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(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

ZERGTVIRAEBERRALEE
K BRI ERTGETT - 2F A ML B
MEHE BEEXETRBENILS
Ik BERETRE S0 ERRERE
RHE N ZE-NFR-_ZT-N\F
TZA=E+—H UEKUEFERS

&= o
=

BRME AR N E IR - %%
RAR=F—AFNANAZEER
S E BmAE -

K2 \E+-A=+—8 %A
e CEL R T 2 h
EasiEas -

iR B BR EMRRIE 14AS
EELAERZIFEMELS - £
MARAE 14ABRTE 2 WRERAFR
ExgREE [BERS | —aRH -

B EER—_ZE—N\FALA=+—H
BHIEDR  HREFARBILENIR
KE R N\FE+_A=1+—
A 4% 5k 51 A B AN 55 [ 5 g o

HESHEKIE - B AL EALE
R -

LB R ZER ETRAIE 14AS
EELLMEZRZUFBEMERS - N
i - R L AR RIS 14A.90 iR i 7%
ER 5 TR —RBE BN E R
HT > WIFRAEE 2 BEFRA
WHRET EMRANE VAT ZHE
M

REBEBREZERERD A



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
AR R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2019
HE_Z-NFT+_A=1+—HIFE

40. MATERIAL RELATED PARTY 40. EXAHEZ 5 (48)
TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

(b) Key management personnel (b) FEEBEBASZME
compensation
The remuneration of directors and other members of EERHEMEEEBEABRFALZ
key management personnel during the year were as MM -
follows:
2019 2018
—E-hF —E-N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHT FAT
Short-term benefits 5 HAfE 7 5,558 5,231
Bonus TE4L 107 540
Post-employment benefits BERL 2 1R A 49 36
Equity-settled share-based EREE RN AERHZ A
payments expenses 534 2,126
6,248 7,933
The remuneration of directors and key executives is EERFEITAB ZE B 5B 57
determined by the remuneration committee having ZEeEREAARREMSBEME
regard to the performance of individuals and market TE ©
trends.
Other than the related party transactions disclosed Br EXHRER C BARE X 59N - IRF IR AF
above, no other transaction, arrangement or contract of EREARRE  AARMETBEARAARE
significance to which the Company was a party and in ESIARPEE HEEREENEERE
which a director of the Company or a connected entity BEAERIEARS « WHHEL °

of the director of the Company had a material interest,
whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the
year or at any time during the year.
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For the year ended 31 December 2019
HE_Z-NFT_A=1+—HILFE
|

41. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF 41. AR ZHBARRF

THE COMPANY

2019 2018
—E-hE —\F
Note HK$’'000 HK$’000
B 5T FHT T
(Note)
(FfE)
Non-current assets FREBEE
Property, plant and equipment Y - eSS NERE - =
Right-of-use assets EREEE 2,853 =
Interests in subsidiaries R B AR 2 24 24
2,877 24
Current assets REEE
Other receivables H fib i W BR 5K 1,411 1,213
Amounts due from subsidiaries FEULHT B A R F0R 99,381 80,999
Bank balances and cash RITERIIRE 11 96
100,803 82,308

Current liabilities REAE
Other payables E AR 9,151 3,997
Amounts due to subsidiaries JE - BB A R FR0E - 2,392
Current taxation BNHARA IR 4,000 4,000
Loan from shareholders IREREK 11,187 -
Bonds &5 10,000 =
Lease liabilities HEBE 1,740 —

36,078 10,389
Net current assets REBEEFE 64,725 71,919
Total assets less current liabilities ZEZAERBRBARZ 67,602 71,943
Non-current liabilities FRBEE
Amount due to a director BN —REEFHIE - 3,315
Bonds (E 50,181 60,181
Lease liabilities HEAaE 1,199 =

51,380 63,496
Net assets EEFE 16,222 8,447
Capital and reserves BERRHE
Share capital [N 388,883 368,984
Reserves i (a) (372,661) (360,537)
Total equity RS 16,222 8,447

R-ZF_TFAA+HBEREEEEHER
BAEEAT -

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors
on 14 May 2020.

Choi Yun Chor Yeung So Mui
9L BES
Director Director

3 )
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For the year ended 31 December 2019
HE_Z-NFT+_A=1+—HIFE
.

41. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF A1. BBz BRI R (&)

THE COMPANY (Continued)

Note:

The Group has initially applied HKFRS 16 at 1 January 2019,
using the modified retrospective approach. Under this approach,
comparative information is not restated. See note 3.

p

w

AEER—ZE-NF—A - BEREREENH
WERERIZE 165% - MAKEITEWE - REU TS

% WERAER LRSS o RHEES -

Note (a): FiaE (a)
Share
Contribution options Exchange Accumulated
reserve reserve reserve Losses* Total
HERE BRERE [E A e RitEE @sr
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAEL FHET FAL FAEL FET
As at 1 January 2018 RZE—N\F—HA—H 8,478 2,739 (12,623) (286,420) (287,826)
Loss and total comprehensive AEEEBERAFE
expense for the year SEFAY B - - - (82,551) (82,551)
Recognition of equity-settled BRI S EE ARR
share-based payments BEBNIHRS
transactions (note 39) (PFif3E39) = 9,840 = = 9,840
As at 31 December 2018 RZT—N\EF
+=-A=+—H 8,478 12,579 (12,623) (368,971) (360,537)
Impact on initial application BREREAUKRSE
of HKFRS 16 RERIE 16HNTE - - - (28) (28)
Asat 1 January 2019, as adjusted = R=ZT—h4F
—RA—H ' &% 8,478 12,579 (12,623) (368,999) (360,565)
Loss and total comprehensive AEEBERAFE
expense for the year 2ERYBE - - = (18,386) (18,386)
Transaction with owners: BEBANRS
Recognition of equity-settled R AEREE A
share-based payments BRin BERR LS
transaction (note 39) R 5 (Fi3E39) = 6,290 = = 6,290
Transfer upon cancellation of T SH B AR i R B
share options - (18,869) - 18,869 -
= (12,579) - 18,869 6,290
As at 31 December 2019 R-ZE-NE
+=ZB=+-—H 8,478 - (12,623) (368,516) (372,661)

*

Company.

ANNUAL REPORT 2019
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For the year ended 31 December 2019
HE-_ZT-NF+_A=+—HILFE

42. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND 42. eHEREERAREEE
FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS
The Group is exposed to financial risks through its use of AEEFARNAELEBERFER 2SR
financial instruments in its ordinary course of operations. THEAXZ SRR 2BEREFEINE
The financial risks include foreign currency risk, credit Rpe - EERR - FEERRRBE SR

risk, interest rate risk and liquidity risk. The management b o BEEERERERRERMA - BRE
manages and monitors these exposures to ensure A R RBGEE EE - AEBTEST
appropriate measures are implemented on a timely and L ERERESBERN T X e

effective manner. The most significant financial risk to

which the Group is exposed as discussed below.

AEEEN SR TR ZRERM OB SRE
EENFTERRZ T AL EES o

There has been no change to the types of the Group’s
exposure in respect of financial instruments or the manner
in which it manages and measures the risks.

42.1 Categories of financial assets and

liabilities

The carrying amounts presented in the consolidated

21 cHBEEREBERNE

*Aﬁﬂﬂﬂﬁ)ﬁﬁiﬁuzﬁﬁﬁ{ﬁﬁ%@

statement of financial position related to the following EAJ//(Til"ﬂé{F&il’ﬂﬁfi/\
categories of financial assets and financial liabilities:
2019 2018
—E-hEF —E-N\F
HK$’'000 HK$'000
FET FETT
Financial assets: ERMEE :
Financial assets measured HEERN AT EC S REE
at amortised cost
— Trade and other receivables — &5 K& Hth fEULIR X 27,008 36,498
— Amount due from - R —EE S A R FIE
an associate 13,664 -
— Amount due from - R —EEETER
a joint venture 29,523 29,523
— Bank balances and cash —RITERKEIRS 6,898 7,757
77,093 73,778
Financial liabilities: TRBE
Financial liabilities measured KK At EZ S RIB G
at amortised cost
— Trade and other payables - f’f%&ﬁ’nﬁﬁﬁﬁﬂ%%’\ 25,202 11,972
— Amount due to a director — B — %%% - 3,315
— Amounts due to related — e AR A A
companies - 7,157
— Secured loans - EHEH 34,275 36,013
— Loan from shareholders - IREEH 11,187 =
- Bonds - &% 60,181 60,181
— Lease liabilities -HHEaE 2,939 =
133,784 118,638

FOREBASE INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
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For the year ended 31 December 2019
HE-_ZT-NF+_A=1+—HLFE

42. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 42. TRIEAREERALEEE
AND FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (48)
(Continued)

42.2 Foreign currency risk 42.2 5 = B

The Group is exposed to foreign currency risk
primarily through sales and purchases which give

AEETBREEELNALIFRFAH
BEBHNDEEE G (HMNE) 5

rise to receivables, payables and bank balances that BEHRKEER - ERERRRIRITELR
are denominated in foreign currency i.e. a currency i T e & R B o ANER B S SR SRk
other than the functional currency of the operations D@ TSR - BERIZIR

to which the transactions relate. The Group ensures
that the net exposure is kept to an acceptable level,
by buying or selling foreign currencies at spot rates
where necessary to address short-term imbalances.

The Group does not expose to significant foreign
currency risk as at 31 December 2019.

BEXREEING - ARG X
fay -

T NE+=A=+—H %
I REEEASNEAR -

42.3 Credit risk 423 E8E
Credit risk refers to the risk that the counterparty FEERRESRITANI ZHEFREE

to a financial instrument would fail to discharge its
obligation under the terms of the financial instrument
and cause a financial loss to the Group. The Group’s
exposure to credit risk mainly arises from granting
credit to customers in the ordinary course of its
operations and from its investing activities.

As at 31 December 2019, the Group’s maximum
exposure to credit risk which will cause a financial
loss to the Group due to failure to discharge an
obligation by the counterparties provided by the
Group is arising from the carrying amount of
respective recognised financial assets as stated in
note 42.1.

The Group has a concentration of credit risk as 34%
(2018: 37%) and 84% (2018: 98%) of the total
trade receivables was due from the Group’s largest
customer and the five largest customers respectively.
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—NET=A=+—0 &%
B3 BT AT AR ESE

R AR ERDEA LR
WO - 2 YRR 42.1 BB OR

A A R

AEEEBREEETER  BAKE
AEBRAZEFRAAARFHNES
JEBR XD Rlh AL B E 5 EIRER
WEER34% (ZFE— N\F :37%) &
84% (—ZT— \5F : 98%) °
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For the year ended 31 December 2019
HE-_ZT-NF+_A=+—HILFE

42. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
AND FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS
(Continued)

42.3 Credit risk (Continued)

(i)

Trade receivables

The Group’s policy is to deal only with
creditworthy counterparties. Credit terms
are granted to new customers after a
creditworthiness assessment by the credit
control department. Where available at a
reasonable cost, external credit ratings and/or
reports on customers are obtained and used.
Customers who are not considered creditworthy
are required to pay in advance or on delivery
of goods. The payment record of customers is
closely monitored. It is not the Group’s policy to
request collateral from its customers.

In addition, as set out in note 2.11, the Group
assesses ECL under HKFRS 9 on trade
receivables based on the provision matrix, the
expected loss rates are based on the payment
profile for sales in the past 36 months as well
as the corresponding historical credit losses
during that period. The historical rates are
adjusted to reflect current and forward-looking
macroeconomic factors affecting the customer’s
ability to settle the amount outstanding. At the
end of each reporting period, the historical
default rates are updated and changes in
the forward-looking estimates are analysed.
The ECL also incorporates forward-looking
information.

FOREBASE INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED

42. SRiEREER AR EEF=E
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42.3 =& ER (&)

(i)

BB AR
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AR R MR

42. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
AND FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS
(Continued)

42.3 Credit risk (Continued)

(i)

Trade receivables (Continued)

Trade receivables are written off (i.e.
derecognised) when there is no reasonable
expectation of recovery. Failure to make
payments within 365 days by the third party
from the invoice date and failure to engage with
the Group on alternative payment arrangement
amongst other is considered indicators of no
reasonable expectation of recovery.

As at 31 December 2019, the ECL rate applied
for trade receivables is 30% for those aged
within 1 year, 45% for those aged 1 to 2 years,
60% for those aged 2 to 3 years and 80%
for those aged over 3 years. A loss allowance
of HK$21,092,000 (2018: HK$6,611,000)
was made against the gross amount of trade
receivables. Loss allowance of trade receivable
recognised amounted to HK$14,820,000 (2018:
HK$1,199,000) during the year ended 31
December 2019.

ANNUAL REPORT 2019

For the year ended 31 December 2019
HE_Z-NFT+_A=1+—HIFE

42. tREREERALBEFE

(%8

42.3 =& ER (&)

(i)

ESEWAR (8

BETESEWEBERE B
PR BRTRE T LA EE (BDAR b
R  BE=THHEZAHE
365K A AR BE {9 5K B R BE B2 AR
SEELEMNRLHERR
RESBYEITFERNTR

RZEBE—NF+_A=+—
B BEK—FRANEZE
WEREANBHEEESR
bR B30%  BRik— =M F
HHBR4% REME=ZF%
B60% FRRBBE=ZFEA
80% - EME S EWEZRA
%8 {E 121,092,000 7T ( =
E — )\ F:6,611,000/ JT)
EEBEBE HE_ZT—NLF
+-A=+—RHIFE B
RESEREREERESR
14,820,000 7T (=ZZ— )\ 4F :
1,199,000/ 7T) °
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For the year ended 31 December 2019
HE-_ZT-NF+_A=+—HILFE

42. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
AND FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS
(Continued)

42.3 Credit risk (Continued)

(ii)

Other financial assets at amortised cost

Other financial assets at amortised cost include
other receivables, bank balances and cash,
amount due from an associate and amount due
from a joint venture. In order to minimise the
credit risk of other receivables, the management
of the Group has designated a team responsible
for the determination of credit limits and credit
approvals. The management would make a
periodic collective and individual assessments
on the recoverability of other receivables
based on historical settlement records and
past experience as well as current external
information. Other monitoring procedures are in
place to ensure that follow-up action is taken to
recover overdue debts.

Besides, the management of the Company
is of opinion that credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition for
other receivables with a carrying amount of
approximately HK$6,404,000. ECL recognised
for these receivables is based on lifetime ECL.
As at 31 December 2019, the ECL rate applied
for these other receivables ranged from 4%
to 68% (2018: 1% to 5%). A loss allowance
of HK$1,689,000 (2018: HK$Nil) was made
against the gross amount of these other
receivables.

For the remaining other receivables, there is
no significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition as the risk of default is low after
considering the factors as set out in note 2.11
and, thus, ECL recognised for the remaining
other receivables is based on 12-month ECL.
No loss allowance was made against the gross
amount of the remaining other receivables.

FOREBASE INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED

42. SRiEREER AR EEF=E

(#)

42.3 =& ER (&)

(ii)
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REERAGENEMSRE
EREHEMEUERR - R1T4
#HRIRE - ER—REBE QA
HEREKN—HEEELER
H o BREEMERERNGE
ERE AEEEEEEZR
—EAEBEEECEERER
EEHMZ - EEREBRERES
REDS B EEBR A NI
INERE L - 3 E b R UK BR FRAY
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goh - RRREEERR R
[ 8 476,404,000 % 7T #) H th
FEU IR A E E R\ B 1) 40
RAKRBBRIES - A FE
WRHERHBREEEETIIA
REABMEEBEREE - R

—E-AF+-A=+-8
IS R YR 2 T

EEBRBRLENT4%E68%
R \F:1%E5%)° B
L% 5 H At FE U AR BB B b
1,689,000 T (= F—/\F :
TATL) MEEREE

BT E b U AR
IR HER B 1:.53111?1437&%3
N & EE WM E2.11 &
E’]I%f& BAORREIE A
© BLER T E A B AR SRR R
E’Ji‘EEﬁGTEﬂEBLAlZ{IHE
HEEBRRERE - WELR
THE s U AR B ER
1Bk

REBEBREZERERD A



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

42. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
AND FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS
(Continued)

42.3 Credit risk (Continued)
(iii) Bank balances and cash

The credit risks on bank balances and cash
are considered to be insignificant because the
counterparties are banks with high credit ratings
assigned by international credit-rating agencies.

42.4 Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to fair value interest rate risk
in relation to the amount due to a shareholder (note
24), amount due to a director (note 25), bonds
(note 32) and lease liabilities (note 33) bearing fixed
rates. The Group currently does not have an interest
rate hedging policy. However, the management of
the Group monitors interest rate exposure and will
consider other necessary action when significant
interest rate exposure is anticipated.

The Group is also exposed to cash flow interest rate
risk in relation to bank deposits and secured loans
(see note 30) bearing variable rates.

The Group’s cash flow interest rate is mainly
concentrated on the fluctuation of (i) prevailing
market rates arising from the Group'’s secured loans
and bank balances denominated in HK$, US$ and
CAD and (ii) RMB base deposit rate stipulated by the
People’'s Bank of China arising from the Group’s bank
balances denominated in RMB.
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423 =& AR (%)
(iii) RITHBRTEE
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42. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 42. SRiEREER AR EEF=E
AND FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (48)
(Continued)
42.4 Interest rate risk (Continued) 42.4 FEER (&)
The following table details the interest rate profile of TRFINAEENFEERBERR
the Group’s interest bearing financial liabilities at the HHEIREFRIER -
end of the reporting period.
2019 2018
—E-hF —E-N\F
Effective Effective
interest rate interest rate
BRA=Z HREF =
% HK$’000 % HK$’000
FExT T
Fixed rate EEMEBE
borrowings:
Amount due to Bt —RRE
a shareholder IR 2.7 2,769 | N/ATEH -
Amount due to E—%ES
a director IR N/A 738 - 1.5 3,315
Bonds [=C= 5.7 60,181 5.6 60,181
Lease liabilities HEaE 5.1 2,939 | N/ATEH =
65,889 63,496
Variable rate ZEEE
borrowings:
Secured loans EIRE R 6.0 34,275 5.6 36,013
Total borrowings EE®EER 100,164 99,509
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For the year ended 31 December 2019
HE-_ZT-NF+_A=1+—HLFE

O
42. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 42. TRIEAREERALEEE

AND FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (48)
(Continued)

42.4 Interest rate risk (Continued) 424 FIEER (48)

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analysis below has been determined
based on the exposure to interest rates for non-
derivative instruments as at the end of the reporting
period. The analysis is prepared assuming the
financial instruments outstanding at the end of the
reporting period were outstanding for the whole
year. A 50 basis points (2018: 50 basis points)
increase or decrease is used when reporting interest
rate risk internally to key management personnel
and represents management’s assessment of the
reasonably possible change in interest rates. The
amount due to a shareholder (note 24), amount
due to a director (note 25), bonds (note 32) and
lease liabilities (note 33) bearing fixed rates is not
exposed to material interest rate risk, therefore, no
sensitivity analysis is presented. If interest rates had
been 50 basis points (2018: 50 basis points) higher/
lower and all other variables were held constant,
the Group’s loss for the year ended 31 December
2019 would increase/decrease HK$171,000 (2018:
HK$180,000).
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For the year ended 31 December 2019
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42. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 42. SRiEREER AR EEF=E

AND FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (48)
(Continued)

42.5 Liquidity risk 42,5 RENE & E kR

220

The Group’s policy is to regularly monitor its liquidity
requirements to ensure that it maintains sufficient
reserve of cash and adequate committed lines of
funding from major financial institutions to meet its
liquidity requirements in the short and longer term.

After the banking facilities letter of the secured loans
have been renewed in September 2019, the secured
loans are subject to the relevant bank’s overriding
right to demand for repayment even though the
scheduled repayment dates are twelve months after
the end of the reporting period. As a result, these
loans with scheduled repayment dates beyond
one year amounted to HK$34,275,000 had to be
classified as current liabilities as at 31 December
2019.

The following table show the details of the remaining
contractual maturities as at 31 December 2019
and the Group’s non-derivative liabilities and
derivative liabilities which are based on contractual
undiscounted cash flows (including interest payments

AEBZHRRERERRDESS
2 AEREERTERREH BN
RE G REEIRGERNAEE SR
B ftmmeEERLRERDES

FE .
DEE-S

BHERZRITRHEIN T —NF
NAEE%  BERTERBRER
WEHZENT @A  EHEEFD
ZRABRERITHE EXRERNEL
Mo At ZEMEERBHBRA—
£ £%A34,2750008 T2 EX
R—ZE—NF+-_A=+—HEY A
mENEE -

TRAINR-_Z-NF+-A=1—
EIK%I?EMEE%&MEEEE’J%
TRADZNHRBER - HIRESKARREE
Rang& (BREREHF RS (fH
sz B) MEIRE R 2 BNERR =5+

computed using contractual rates or, if floating, based H2MBENK) RSB gLEER
on rates current as at the end of each reporting MxF HHRE -

period) and the earliest date the Group can be

required to pay.

For the purpose of the below analysis, the secured RUATHMME - EREREFTAR
loans are included within current liabilities and FaEE  WHMAR —FRIIRER

analysed as on demand or within one year.
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L
42. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 42. s EREER AN AEEFE

AND FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (48)
(Continued)
42.5 Liquidity risk (Continued) 425 RENEEERK (B
2019 —E—fE
More than More than
On demand one year two years Total
or within ~ but less than  but less than undiscounted
one year two years five years More than cash flows Carrying
REKRS BB—F EBME fiveyears REBREE amount
—-Fx EFRIWmFE EFHLEF fibokik:d mELR REE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET THET THET THET THET THT
Non-derivative financial FITESREE
liabilities
Trade and other payables B 5 REAMEMERR 25,353 - - - 25,353 25,202
Secured loans* HHER 4,093 4,093 12,279 26,952 47,417 34,275
Loan from shareholders BRER 11,187 - - - 11,187 11,187
Bonds E% 12,936 12,535 42,534 - 68,005 60,181
Lease liabilities HEaE 1,822 1,329 - - 3,151 2,939
55,391 17,951 54,813 26,952 155,113 133,784
2018 —T-N\F
More than More than
On demand one year two years Total
orwithin  butless than  but less than undiscounted
one year two years five years More than cash flows Carrying
BB, A —F B F fiveyears  AREFEREE amount
—#n  EMEMmE  ETEREF EFERES MERE REE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T T T FTHEL THT THT
Non-derivative financial FTESHERE
liabilities
Trade and other payables B 5 REMEMER 11,972 = = = 11,972 11,972
Amounts due to related pl ) NGE e
companies 7,157 - - - 7,157 7,157
Amount due to a director EN—%EZHE - 3,402 - - 3402 3315
Secured loans HRER 3917 3931 11,792 30,489 50,129 36,013
Bonds &% 3,405 12,936 44,805 10,264 71,410 60,181
26,451 20,269 56,597 40,753 144,070 118,638

*

secured loans.

42.6 Fair value estimation

Maturity analysis based on scheduled repayments of the

All financial instruments are carried at amounts
not materially different from their fair values as at
31 December 2019 and 2018.
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43. EXRE R EE

43.

F-NET-A=+-BLEE

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group’s primary objectives when managing capital
are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, so that it can continue to provide returns for
shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders, by pricing
products and services commensurately with the level of
risk and securing access to finance at a reasonable cost.

The Group actively and regularly reviews and manages its
capital structure to maintain a balance between the higher
shareholder returns that might possible with higher levels
of borrowings and the advantages and security afforded
by a sound capital position, and makes adjustments to the
capital structure in light of changes in economic conditions.

During the years ended 31 December 2019 and 2018,
The Group’s strategy in monitoring its capital structure,
which was unchanged from the prior year, was to maintain
a sufficient cash level to meet its liquidity requirements. In
order to maintain or adjust the cash level, the Group may
issue new shares, raise new debts financing or sell assets
to increase the cash level.

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries are subject
to externally imposed capital requirements.

FOREBASE INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

COURT CASE

As explained in note 20, in July 2019, the investment
properties which amounted to HK$84,920,000 of a joint
venture were seized by the Intermediate People’s Court of
Chongging (EE % —F A ARZEBT) in relation to a loan
dispute with a financial institution. The directors of the
Company inquired of the management of the joint venture
in relation to the seizure of investment properties and the
loan dispute, but they are still not able to obtain all relevant
information, including the court orders, the reason and
the latest development of the seizure of the investment
properties and the loan dispute. Therefore, the directors
are unable to assess the likely outcome and the financial
impact associated with the seizure of the investment
properties and the loan dispute, and to assess as to
whether any adjustments related to the understatement of
liabilities of the joint ventures and impairment loss on the
interests in joint ventures was needed as at 31 December
2019.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Following the outbreak of Coronavirus Disease 2019
(the “COVID-19 Outbreak”) in early 2020, a series of
precautionary and control measures have been and
continued to be implemented across the PRC, including
extension of the Chinese New Year holiday nationwide,
postponement of work resumption after the Chinese New
Year holiday in some regions, certain level of restrictions
and controls over the travelling of people and traffic
arrangements, quarantine of certain residents, heightening
of hygiene and epidemic prevention requirements in offices
and encouraged social distancing, etc.

In light of the negative impact brought upon by the
COVID-19 QOutbreak in the short term, it may lead to
increase of costs incurred by additional hygiene and
epidemic prevention requirements when rendering basic
property management services.
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For the year ended 31 December 2019
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46.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD
(Continued)

The COVID-19 Outbreak also started to significantly
negatively impact the Group’s hotel operation in Canada
since March 2020. The hotel has been closed as a result of
government travel restrictions, quarantines and lockdowns.
The hotel operation has seen a decline in revenue. The
Group is now focusing on all possible operational cost
containment options, as well as deferring its spendings
where possible.

The Group has not yet been able to quantify the aforesaid
influence due to the COVID-19 Outbreak. However, the
Group will pay close attention to the development of the
COVID-19 Outbreak and its impact and will continue to
perform relevant assessments and take proactive measures
as appropriate.

COMPARATIVE FIGURES

Certain comparative figures have been reclassified to
conform with the current period’s presentation. Also, the
Group has initially applied HKFRS 16 as at 1 January
2019. Under the transition methods chosen, comparative
information is not restated. Further details of the changes
in significant accounting policies are disclosed in note 3.
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Five-year Financial Summary
HFEHHHE

2015 2016 2017 2018 2019
-1 TR CZE+tF T\ | ZB-hE
(Restated) (Restated)
(&31) (&51)
Consolidated Statement SERBER
of profit or loss and other Hit2m
comprehensive income e
(HK$'000) (F&x)
Revenue from BRSNS
Continuing operations Wegs 413,259 84,943 87,588 94,582 92,228
Loss before tax from BB
continuing operations Bk
HAIER (23,302) (18,334) (17,834) (20,584) (30,816)
Loss after income tax and BRETERR
attributable to owner of the YNNG 2]
Company N (33,055) (26,074) (8,529) (21,820) (30,444)
Basic (loss)/earnings BRAK (B8) /
per share/(HK cents) W,/ (L)
— From continuing operations - REREER (8.93) (6.44) (4.98) (4.11) (4.28)
— From discontinued operations - BAR IHE & ¥ (1.15) 0.03 3.11 = -
Diluted (loss)/earnings BhEE (58B) /
per share/(HK cents) &7,/ (%4L)
— From continuing operations - BBREE (8.93) (6.44) (4.98) (4.11) (4.28)
— From discontinued operations - BAR M & %7 (1.15) 0.03 3.11 = -
Consolidated Statement of SEBEMRRE
financial position (F&r)
(HK$'000)
Non-current assets FRBEE 158,891 143,402 131,521 159371 | 182,379
Current assets REBE 374,851 177,312 47343 46,306 36,027
Current liabilities mEBE (379,100) (161,238) (30,700) (37,756) (100,057)
Net current assets MEEE
__U@W%L___ ____(%?%ﬁ - _ﬂ%@ __@g4__ iﬁ%L __8@@47(%§EL
_ Non-current Liabiities ~ JERBIAR  (189192)  (153,963) (141919)  (103802) |  (57,229) |
Net assets (liabilities) BE (BR) #E (34,550) 5513 6,245 64,119 61,120
Share Information (HK$) BHER ()
Highest share price RaiE $2.30 $2.00 $0.49 $0.58 $0.55
Lowest share price IEMRE $1.10 $0.48 $0.39 $0.26 $0.22
Year end closing share price FRWmRE $1.84 $0.48 $0.40 $0.34 $0.26

ANNUAL REPORT 2019

—E-NFRH

225



Corporate Information and Shareholders’ Calendar

NRIBEH MR HEER

CORPORATE INFORMATION

Board of Directors
Executive directors

Mr. Choi Yun Chor (Co-Chariman)
Ms. Yeung So Mui (Co-Chariman)
Mr. Ng Kwai Wah Sunny @

Mr. Chen Jian @

Mr. Tai Kwok Keung Kenny @

Mr. Lin Junwei @

Mr. Shen Yong ©

Mr. Gan Lin @

Mr. Pang Huan Kun ®

Ms. Wang Yi Ya ©®

Non-executive director

Mr. Huang Xiang Yang )

Independent non-executive directors

Dr. Loke Yu (alias Loke Hoi Lam)
Ms. Lai Cheuk Yu Cherrie @

Mr. Ting Wong Kacee @

Mr. Ernst Rudolf Zimmermann @
Mr. Yu Lei @

Audit Committee

Dr. Loke Yu (alias Loke Hoi Lam)
Ms. Lai Cheuk Yu Cherrie @

Mr. Ting Wong Kacee @

Mr. Ernst Rudolf Zimmermann @
Mr. Yu Lei @

Remuneration Committee

Mr. Ting Wong Kacee @

Dr. Loke Yu (alias Loke Hoi Lam)
Ms. Lai Cheuk Yu Cherrie @

Mr. Ernst Rudolf Zimmermann @)
Mr. Yu Lei @
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Nomination Committee

Ms. Lai Cheuk Yu Cherrie @

Dr. Loke Yu (alias Loke Hoi Lam)
Mr. Ting Wong Kacee @

Mr. Ernst Rudolf Zimmermann @
Mr. Yu Lei @

M appointed on 10 October 2019 as a Co-Chairman and Executive

Director

@ appointed on 10 October 2019

® removed on 19 December 2019

@ resigned on 11 June 2019

2] appointed on 11 June 2019 as a Chief Executive Officer and Executive
Director

® appointed on 11 June 2019

™ resigned on 20 November 2019
Company Secretary

Mr. Leung Tak Chee Frankie

Authorised Representatives

Mr. Lin Junwei
Mr. Leung Tak Chee Frankie

Registed Office and Principal Place of Business

Room 3805, 38/F, Lee Garden One
33 Hysan Avenue

Causeway Bay

Hong Kong

Auditor

Grant Thornton Hong Kong Limited
Certified Public Accountants
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Share Registrar and Transfer Office

Tricor Standard Limited
Level 54

Hopewell Centre

183 Queen’s Road East
Hong Kong

Stock Code
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited: 2310

Company Website

www.forebase.com.hk

Shareholders’ Calendar
Announcement of 2019 Final Results
14 May 2020

Closure of Registrar of Members
19-29 June 2020
(both days inclusive)

Annual General Meeting
29 June 2020
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